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Summary Financial Information
For Yews Linding [);\;:M"x\» Ty s oo v e 2001 2002
18.5

EBITDA ™
BITDA Growth Rate

Reven
=mmmilin

Total assets
Long-term debt
Stockholders’ equity

ing Income shown above is before deducting $5.2 million in
i Reducing the $13.7 million of operating

2 Diluted Earnings per Share shown above is based on adjusted 2( .
income. 2002 adjusted income excludes the $5.2 million non-cash stock compensation:
expense, a $2.6 million deferred income tax benefit, and assumes a 40% effective tax
rate for all of 2002. See page 42 of the 2003 Form 10-K for a reconciliation of 2002
adjusted and reported net income. Reported diluted EPS for 2002 was 50.67.

r return on investment was 33
30% for the entire time we hav
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Ray Soin, selected Dayton as home for his entrepreneurial endeavors. The ¢

estapiisned 1N 1984 as Moderp Jechpnolosies Corp.

ERCINCENNS Services compan

Rhen the Wioht brothers began to tinker, first with bicycles, next with ghders, and finally with |
ST machines. 10 one could have unagined what the aurplane would look like or what its |
Bentiibutions (o our pation s {reedom and commerce would be a century fater. Likewise. when |

Ra) Soin found the nearby site of Huffman Prairie, the Wrights” former flying fieldandnowthe |
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MiEAS ust twenty years later.

Srvices within the broad focus
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services, not on.ly% the United States Ail'mF().b;()C, the

eoacy-customer baseof the comiPany, but.also to a

BNEET Al vear chid was stron®, with 510 million in cas

T CgUivatents and no interest beaging debt; and this

lion for two
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Continue to be those Customegs in the Department QI
Defense and National Sccurity Agentids that we

organizational structure, cnhance
new business through acquisition’s, and réwarded our
key emplqyees for their dedication and commitment.
Tn short, we took great strides in preparing your
company for fhe journey beyond tomorrow.




Creating Value
Jor Our Customers

e at MTC re ize that our
customers the

Department of De

MTC is positioned to
security agencies g used on challenges. Our work
transformation gogle to meet the 1,500 talented profe
demands of the Century. For the strong customer relat
srmation i over 70 percent of the
along with our
locations across our n
understands the comp
problems fa:mg our’

maintain asysimetric advantage
through changes in operational
concepts, organizational siructure, and
technologies that Mc
improve warfighting
the demands of a¢}®y
environment. i

YUBA CITY

and culture that is imaginative and

of vision that gave birth to flight at
Kitty Hawk, enabling them to link
‘emerging technologies to future

variety of technical dlsc:lplln&e
systems engineering, information

‘_ . technology, national security and
intelligence, program manégement, -
and roles associated with major
weapon systems acquisition: planning,
research, development, procurement,

agility to respond to ever-changing
trends and to stay abreast of those

sustainment, and modification, - by helping them deliver war-winning
" capability and effective homeland
defense solutions rapidly and
efficiently.
Background photo: An F-15E “Strike Eagle” mplm
refueling on a combat mission over Irag. T

Agile, adaptive, and responsive, our
MTFC professionals bring a mindset

immovative. They bring the same kind
operations concepts. They possess the

developments. Above all, our people
_/strive to create value for all customers

Highlights of the

Journey Traveled

™ he following examples of leading-
“““ edge support 10 a varied customer
base provide insight to some aspects of
the broad cross section of growth
accomplished by MTC as we
journeyed through the past year.

For the U.S. Air Force
Intelligence Community - a
$100 million task order to provide
Command and Control,
Communications, Computers,
Intelligence, Surveillance, and
Reconnaissance (CYISR) services for
“Dragon Lady™ high altitude

aissance aircraft, the RQ-4A
“Global Hawk™ unmanned aerial
vehicle (UAV). and the E-4B National
Airborne Operations Center.

SHREWSBURY

Vhsmucmu Dc.

- HAMPTON ROADS

FT. WALTON BEACH

For the U.S. Air Force
Communications Agency —

$3.4 million contract in support of
Telecommunications Certification
Oftice Support Systems used by the
Army and Air Force worldwidc to
order communications components and
equipment.

For the Air National Guard -

$175 million task order to develop,
demonstrate. manufacture. and install
an Advanced Identification Friend or
Foe (AIFF) system that will replace the
current IFF system on F-16 fighter
aircraft.
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for Our Stockholders

We believe MTC is on a solid
path to achieve our strategic
ijecmes for continued growth in
2004 and beyond. We are a high=
growth company in a good growith -
industry, with about 95% of our -
business with Departiment of Defense
and National Security customers. We
have a diversified portfolio of core
defense programs in the faster
growing technical disciplines, and
have demonstrated the remarkable
ability to grow even faster than the
market. Our goal is to continue on that
path.

Another important consideration for
our investors is MTC’s drive to reduce
its business risk by offering a broad
range of capabilities to an extensive
base of customers. With over 400 task
orders in hand, only two of which
exceed six percent of our revenue,

we do not face a major contract re-
competition until late in 2005. We are
the prime contractor for over 80
percent of that revenue. We put
emphasis on contract vehicles where
our reputation for efficient operations
will generate savings for our custom-
ers and superior returns for our
stockholders.

Background photo: With vision obscured by
combat fire and sand dust, soldiers
advance on a hostile position.
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" new platform for growth with

:fimtegranng new techﬂgjpgy mto

Acquisitions

Wth the purchase of International
Consultants, Inc. (ICI) and Vitronics
Inc. in October, we took a significant
step in MTC’s ongoing strategy to
acquire complementary businesses to
reach new customers and increase our
technical footprint. In this case, we
gained access to new markets for our
Land Forces Group, which includes
Marine Corps as well as U.S. Army
customers. The combined capabilities
of ICI and Vitronics-will provide a

customers MTC has not historically
supponed e

current weapon systems and <
maxumzmg the mvestmems alread$

ok ""‘

deployment %an and Af
and upon-their return, to assist
resetting them for future mission
Across ourcore competencies
is conyesting new technology i
combat capability that helps mak
forces dominant in battle.

We also completed the integration of
AMCOMP Corpogation, a company
MTC acquired-in October 2002. This
strategic acquisttis ,e:nhanced our
position to provide i
solutions for the Air ] orce Space
Command, and led to the opening of
our new office in Colorado Springs,
Colorado.




Leadership

Responding to our rapidly expanding
and increasingly vital role in support
of national defense, we added a
number of exceptional individuals to
our leadership team during 2003. Thé
CFO position, vac t%ﬁéﬁn David .
Gutridge took over' i CEQ; was filled
by Michael Gearhardt, a senior «~-*
executive with 20 years of experience
in a variety of industries.

John Longhouser, a fong
General and Commande?
Army’s Aberdeen Provmg Gr i
brought on to serve as Senior Vice
President for Land Forces and
Strategic Planning, was recently
elevated to serve as MTC'’s President.

Also elevated, were two long term
MTC Corporate officers, Don Weisert
and Jim Clark. Both were promoted to
Executive Vice President. And, with
the announced retirement of COO
Ben Crane, his assistant, Don Weisert,
was selected to fill the COO position.

Rounding out the senior management
team for operations, is retired Air
Force Major General, Scott Bergren,
the recent Commander of the Ogden
Air Logistics Center, and now Vice
President and Director of MTC’s
Systems Support Division. Adding
depth to our corporate staff, Kari
Garell was appointed Vice President
to lead the company’s future business
development challenges.

We were also pleased to welcome a
new addition to our Board of
Directors. General Lester Lyles, who
recently retired as former Commander
of the Air Force Materiel Command,
brings a wealth of experience and
insight to current Departrment of
Defense initiatives.
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Recognition

Also of interest is the recognition
afforded to MTC by those in the
business world. In May, our Chamnan
and Founder, Rajesh K. Soin, W
named a recipient of the ‘ﬁfﬁs Island
Medal of Honor” for outstanding
contributions to our Countryin the,
figld of business. Later in May, M.
agam recognized for
it for Business

~ te, aligned under
tg»ﬁmvers@ s Raj Soin
Collcge of Business, seeks to promote
pnnc;pled busmess education and

sponsibility in corporations.
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"q(.)inlmex A i‘

Chairman Raj Soin congratulates Chief

Operating Officer and Executive Vice President,

Don Weisert, for MTC winning the

prestigious Business of the Year Award for 2003.

In December, The Dayton Business
Journal named MTC “Service
Business of the Year,” after which, in
competition with 24 high profile,
Dayton-area companies, MTC
Technologies earned the highest honor
of the program, “Business of the
Year” for 2003. MTC is committed in
its quest to become one of the best
companies in the world, and we will
strive to continue making our mark on
the journey beyond tomorrow.

@
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Creating Value
1 for Our People

t is heartening to see the synergistic
market effect resulting from what

freeing talented mdmduals to use their
imagination every day, while working
to support their customers’ programs
and our company'’s strategic objectives.
MTC gives our people that freedom.

Our philosophy has been to create a
culture of creativity and intelligent risk
taking. We challenge our managers and
technicians to try new methods that
focus on operational excellence and
cost reduction. We empower individual
managers with the authority and the
responsibility to take on the broader
concepts and issues that affect their
projects.




¢ have created an
gt:ihat fosters teamwork and
management — one that
mutual respect, and
fibutions in support of our
to our customers angd

workmg on progr
! of the “War on Te;

R women
and Kuwait, providing frontline
logistical and technical support to our
forces.

Our peoples’ true value resides not only
in their exceptional background
experience, their understanding of our
Nation’s defense needs, and their
dynamic agility to respond to
extraordinary and unforeseen events,
but in their ability to envision the
challenges we must conquer — along
the journey beyond tomorrow.

Background photo: MTC’s Fort Lewis,
Washington “STRYKER” Team poses by the
Army’s new infantry carrier. (1 to r) Dawn
Andino, Ingrid Luker, Stephen Cegeri, Al
Knight, Chonita Redmon, and Doris Mitcham.

Outlook — for the Journey

’ % “ he preceding has documented the remarkable journey that MTC
_#_Technologies traveled in 2003. Our achievement of industry leading
performance metrics, in a highly competitive environment during un-
certain times, is due to the quality of our pcople. We proudly accept the
accolades that accompany such success — but that was “yesterday!”

Through a strong conviction to realize our company’s vision. disciplined
planning. and application of viable processes that sustain good business
practices, we have evolved into a public company (Nasdag: MTCT)
with over 1,500 sterling professionals. With the new year. we celcbrate
MTC’s 20th Anniversary as a unique engineering services company
having a vital role in the defense of our Nation — but that is “roday!”

With a wealth of diversified experience among our professionals. a
skilled management team. and executive leadership committed to
integrity. accountability. and exceeding the expectations of our
customers. our people. and our investors. MTC is postwed for
outstanding growth over the near future — but thagis: “temorron!”

But. where are we going in the far future? What'is our outlook for the
journey bevond tomorrow? Without question, engineering scrvices will
play a central role in future programs designed to serve our national
interest. Our strategy is to strengthen our ability to apply emerging
technologies to serve our customers’ mission-critical requirements.

Another element of our strategy is to maintain our proven ability 10
continually attract enterprising professionals with creative minds. who
possess a unique blend of domain expertise and the gift of imagination
and innovation. By aétFacting such talent to provide entrepreneurial
leadership. executive strategic guidance, and workforce creativity. we
will build on our successes of vesierday. our organizational viability of
today. and our strategic growth positioning for tomorrow. In this way.
MTC Technologies plans to continue blazing a trail of success on

the journey beyond tomorrow. We invite you to join us on this
adventure into the 21" Century.

Rajesh Ks
Chairman of the Board David S. Gutridge
Chief Executive Officer




he B-1B “Lancer” is an
example of how the Air
Force ts adapting to the

oast Guard, U.S. Marine
services fall within Acquisi-

bomber on the drawing boards, those
savings were rolled back into the
remaining aircraft to reconfigure its




Our objective in this journ
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total force team, capable of bringing

11006410010

and space power to bear!

MTC has provided a range of special-
ized support to the B-1 program for
modification and sustainment for over
10 years. Likewise, we have supported
the B-52 long-range bomber with the
delivery of replenishment, spare B-52
engine cowlings for the aging aircraft
under the Air Force’s Flexible Acquisi-
tion and Sustainment Tool (FAST)
contract. MTC is a prime contractor for
the vehicle used to acquire Services,
Spares/Repairs, and Modifications to
sustain all Air Force weapon systems
managed by the Air Logistics Centers to
improve fleet readiness.

A C-136) launches flare
countermeasures privr (o
landing in Baghduad, Irayq.
MTC provides critical support
to the C-130 Avionics
Modernization Program,

Our engineers support several unique
operational capabilities to meet the
requirements of the future battlefield:

Forward Looking Infrared

(FLIR) — We provide oversight for MH-53] “Pave Low”

installation of the infrared and TV video
imaging system on HC-130 N/P aircraft.
FLIR will provide Combat Search and
Rescue (CSAR) crews with an airborne
surveillance capability to recover

Helicopter - MTC is leading the
elTort to modernize the MH-53 for

the Special Operations Forces (SOF) - -

by modilying the “J”" model with ad-
vanced avionics to an “M” config- .

downed airmen. MTC engineers are
also moditying the Coast Guard
HH-65A to install a FLIR sensor.

uralion. These installations will
amprove SOF mission succéss in

penetrating hostile territory to
infiltrate, exfiltrate, and resupply
clandestine forces #We designed
and will install an advanced radio
and new cockpit lighting compat-
ible with Night Vision Goggles to
cnhance aircrew effectiveness

Members of the MTC installation team, ick Kelly, Norm
Decher, and Fred Sievers work on a major modification to
equip HC-130 aircraft with the FLIR imaging-system (o provide
airborne surveillalf®® for combat search and rescue misstons.

—

MH-53 Altitltde Hold and

Hover Stabilization (AHHS)
System - Another essential program

fichiions =
oRsTCam 18 the ISTANatonoF: . -

AHHS on the MH-53. The system

will provide the helicopter pilot with
improved flight control stability

operations.
The primary mission of the
HH-60G “Pave Hawk” is to recover . B ) .

downed pilots. MTC supports the k e . ’
SOF program office for ongoing : Background photg: The MH-53J “Pave Low™ performs
maodifications to the rescue helicopter. low-level, penetration into denied areas, day or night, in
adverse weather in support of special aperations forces.
MTC is modifying the helicopter with new avionics and

an Altitude Hold and Hover Stabilization system.
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area

esignatiogi®Fa portable, modular,
relay termtmial that will reside on the
tanker. ROBE will provide increased
battle space awareness by integr ann0

beyond line-of-sig
to warfighters for d
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ogy platform to perform
network-centric communica-
tions in support of new
operational capability.
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information from each aircraft onto a
single screen display. the system will
enhance aircrew post-flight dvubnelmtT

replacement system (o prevent Tratricide
by distinguishing between friendly and
enemy aircraft. MTC leuads the effort to
integrate the AIFF on Air National
Guard combat coded F-16 aircraft.
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' ¢ are a nation at war. Security of our homeland, the Global War on Terrorism, and the sustained engage-
A ments around the world define the complex and uncertain environment faced by our Army and Marine

ombat and Logistics, Army Watercraft,
&sd (/pan Combat initiatives.
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There’s almost no end to the list of developing ideas and tech :'

to make soldiers more lethal, survivable, and informati

Our MTC Systems Integration Division
supports the program execution for
Soldier Systems with life cycle
acquisition, engineering, training, and
logistics both for today’s warfighter
and for the Land Warrior (LW) future
system. Currently, MTC professionals
serve as co-lead for the FFW
Interoperability Team.

CONRMocis

or the Army, the Current Force is
decisively engaged today. Com-
prised of heavy divisions, light divi-
sions, and special operations forces, it
has proven its combat effectiveness and
guarantees the Army’s near term
warfighting readiness.

The majority of the funding for the
Armmy is for technologies that will define
the Future Force. This force will be
equipped with significantly advanced
capabilities woven together into-a sys-
tern of systems called Future Comba ;

’ mformanon arc%
achieve pronoun
power, sustamablh?y aglhty, &%

involvement mcludes

© Developing real tige requirements
o Analyzing technology maturity
© Systems integration
© Fielding and training

¢ o :Logisti;sg support

’?i

y

: Ke)’iacﬁvmes include support to the
Axms?' s Stryker brigade combat teams,
countermine, mobile electric power,
small arms, navigation (GPS, INS,
Doppler), and C*ISR capabilities.

) Amly s combat divisions, helpmg o

o New eqmpment training, fielding,

MTC orchestrates issues related to
integrating LW/FFW with external
components such as:

© Modular weapon systems
o Lasers and video cameras
o Close combat optics
o Helmet mounted d
o Functional prof
o Computer/radio/GPS equipmetit

We work with
the Army’s
offices to ensure
our forces are
well equipped
and adequately
provided with
petroleum and
water products. .,
Our Operatlons
Division is en-
gagecrwnh the

Stephen Cegeri, MTC I;Iifl)g:'atrz Manager,
in the driver’s seat of the Army “STRYKER.”

for combat deployment

iy them.hp?m,thsm return

i} mteroperabmty :
Qm‘@iS tryken ‘vehicles,

d 'support brganua—
G mlllues ‘include:

,& and teﬂlm’éﬁl a551stance

Our ck}mml,iﬁlent to excel]ence in serv-
ice has taken rriembel s of our MTC
team into harm’s way” some are ge-

" Background photo top: The-“STRYRER™ Mobile
Gun System sindergoes live fire testing. MTC
provides final inspection monitoring and coordina-
tion of production, acceptance, and fielding.

Background photo bottom: Dismounted soldiers
conduct an urban ground patrol near Baghdad

International Airport using Land Warrior
technology.
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he Army Watercraft mission is to
prepare for land combat and

provide watercraft support in a theater
of operations. With 300 watercraft of
various classes in its fleet, the Tank-
Automotive and Armaments
Command (TACOM) manages Army
watercraft as part of its mission to
provide and sustain both strategic and
combat mobility.

v vessels i

axhore fnoa

‘Watercraft are used for harbor,
coastal, inter-island and Joint
Logistics-over-the-Shore (JLOTS)
operations. The vessels provide the
vital link between offshore arrival of
combat power, loaded aboard sealift
ships, and placing that power ashore
in a ready-to-fight configuration.

Watercraft fall into two categories:
lighterage and floating utility. Light-
erage craft transport equipment, cargo,
and personnel between ships, from
ship-to-shore, or intra-theater. Floating
Utility craft are harbor and ocean
going tugs, floating cranes, barges,
and floating causeway systems.

MTC’s marine design office has a
reputation for providing quality work
and responsiveness to the Army

0440 <

* ARMY WATERCR

upggrt

Watercraft community. Our services
encompass engineering consulting for
maritime defense, from minor studies

to design and procurement definition

of a complete vessel. Oufexpertise-—-
covers the disciplines of naval . _
architecture, marine engineering,
combat system engineering, risk,
safety) dnd support services.

and design/tender specifica-
tion preparation, we cur-

| -rently provide engineering
work for Large Tugs (LT),
Logistics Support Vessels
{ALSV), anc\i\t—hg new Theater
Support Vessels ‘(T§\V).

MTC specialists perform:
preposition fleet assess-
ments and develop special
preservation and breakout
techniques to achieve
splashdown operations.
Logistics support services
span a program’s entire life
cycle to include development of:

o Operational concepts/requirements
o Support planning

o Training and execution

© Maintenance and documentation

o Total package fielding support

o Performance-based logistics

Within TACOM’s Integrated Logistics
Support Center, we provide a full
range of program management sup-
port to the Army Watercraft National
Maintenance Point. MTC provides
subject matter expertise in depot level
maintenance management; special
logistical plans and implementation
procedures for worldwide support;
and plans and budgets for all depot

14

Specializing in'Site surveys

level repair actions. We provide a team
of Marine Engineers who assess - .
watercraft vessel conditions, write con-
tracting specifications for depot level
maintenance, perform quality surveil-
lance during dry dock maintenance, and
conduct acceptance sea trials.

Marisey drivy tirere $Fiok Vioiiloe L
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MTC also supports the Integrated
Materiel Management Center to sustain
the watercraft fleet by maintaining a fleet
management database; assisting with
depot maintenance funding and
scheduling; implementing a divestment
plan for obsolete vessels; and managing
the Army watercraft sales program.

Background photo: An Army High Speed Vessel
navigates off the coast of Southern Iraq.

MTC provides u full range of program
management support for Watercraft logistics.
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MTC is at the forefront of
matching technology to the

AR EDENS . Army’s primary soldier
- I ATy Ghr M modernization concept of

TSN SEDIETRE Rl Soldier as a System (SaaS).
smrmmEnmce e 1t will provide all soldiers
iSRRIV PRI N — - With superior.capabilities to
AU GRERuNErnIean s fight any opponent by im-
IENCGRI ARG ~~proving-lethality survivas—
bility, command and con-
A CIT trol, and sustained operations
TEAEnEe TN EReI o while decreasing weight by 50

= percent, power requirements by one
third, situational confus\\, and
soldier burdens.
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ics. Instead of relying on the soldier’s
ability to hold the gun steady while
simultaneously pulling the trigger, an
electronic processor fuifills this role.
In operation, a freeze frame of the
target region is made and cross hairs

E7ban combut soldiers prepare to enter a building
urmmmmmmgzm_lm_
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d Diving Small Arms

are positioned to select the exact
target location. To initiate the firing,
image data is collected with a high-

speed digital v

rideo camera and

analyzed on aiframe-by-frame basis.

Software thenipredicts the motion of
the barrel and signals the Jaunch of the

prOJectlle whefi.the

mlc1pated

" helicopter
; conbat,

MTC is excited about the value our
contributions will bring to Land

Forces programs as we move along

the journey beyond tomorrow.

Background photo: A “stack” of soldiers, outfitted
with Land Warrior integrated uniforn and weapon
systems, engage in urban combai,



efending our Nation against its enemies is the first and fundamental commitment of
the Federal Government” — thus, our U.S. President’s pledge to commit our




US intelligence capabilities

and integral to implementing our nati

supported by MT!
the U-2° Dmunrf‘llady spy plane.
TERag al L\Ilnudes above 80,000 feet
a photographic recon aircraft, the
011g|na| U-2 was later fitted with
sophisticated electronic and infrared
sensors 1o record enemy activities.
MTC provides requirements and
mission area planning, engineering,
and program management support for
the U-2. MTC also supports the Air
Force’s BIG SAFARI program with
management assistance o upgrade
RC-135 and MC-130 lleels 1o
perform intelligence gathering
Missions.

Looking Ahead

A s threats against our Nation grow

Unmanned Systems

in complexity, agency directors within
Wc provide engincering, progre the IC recognize the necd Tor seamle

nramagement, and logistics sapport for ?
Unmanned Acrial Vehicles (AVs). Jent of stratcgic impératives
The “Predator” UAV is a Joint Forc or the near term andfthe far
Air Commander-owned theater as S Wliliture — (0 provide intellige
TOr reconnaissance, surveittance, i .
target acquisition. Because itis guard our country’s intelligen
unmanned, itis an idcal system to - e vantage, and overcome encmy
deploy into unsecured air space. open entions agross the globe. To
ocean, and biological or chemical
contaminated environments, MTC  # Q > that all (he new
developed integration studiés to placeta: ‘
sensors and “Hellfire™ missiles on the
Predator w destroy efiemy targets committed, a
during Ogsmﬁgﬁ Enduring Freedom. The intelligence &S 18 a people
MTC developed reguirements and business. MTE#RProud 1o have our
sensor rade studices for another UAV people scrving alongside those in our
aﬂd program mana,g.erqent B (he RQ-4A “Global Hawk.” This intelligence community, paving the
age upgrades to avionics, platform is capable of providing high- .+ way for the journey beyond
‘ Atitude, long-cndurance, reconnais- lomorrgw.
®ince of enemy territory. day or night,
ardless of weather. MTC techni-
11N pmVidC ”Pcrmi““s support for Buckground photo: MTE’s vam Waguner gives life-
2@ lobal Hawk at Beale Air Foree saving egress training to U-2 pilots at Beale AFB,
Fin California. The “Dragon Lady” mulfi-intelligence, reconnais-
sance missions support Operation Iragi Freedom.
A pilot who crashed recently sent thanks to Kevin
Sor his “spot:on training,” which he credited Jor
saving hiy life.
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Eo some, war in space is seen as
something for the far future —
beyond tomorrow. To others, Space
As A Bartlefield is already here.
Looking back at World War I, it took
roughly 5,000 bombs to take out a
single target. By the time of Vietnam
the ratio had dropped to 500. Today,
space-based technology can guide a
single “smart bomb” through a
window with such accuracy that the
sash is not damaged. Clearly, space .
provides U.S. combat forces with an .
asymmetric advantage. Space has
become an American center of gravity.
Thus, our Nation must protect our
space assets and plan to take full
advantage of the military potential of
space, lest adversaries disrupt or
defeat systems essential to our
national security. e

Planning & Technwal Support

fhe U.S. military and intelligence
communities are heavily reliant on
satellites and space-based sensors for
communications, intelligence,
reconnaissance, and command and
control of forces around the world.
MTC is fully engaged in sweeping
changes to transform U.S. Space
Command (AFSPC) and U.S. Strate- -
gic Command (USSTRATCOM).

Dawn shot of 70m antenna ot Goldstone,
California, one of three DSN complexes MTC
maintains to provide communications
for NASA’s interplanetary spacecraft.

pemﬁiwns

At USSTRATCOM, we provide
operational planning for America’s
nuclear forces and space-based oper-

\auons Such projects-involve: - -

o Strateglc War Planmng Systcm

¢ Command and Control
Modemization~_

° Global Missile Deferise’

o Mission Area Planning.

At AFSPC, our réle provides engi-
neering, technical, and management
services for avmty of space-related
programs — afi essenaal to'maintain a_
space dominant force: |

© Defense Meteorological Satelhte
Program
o Military Satellite Communjcations

o NAVSTAR GPS, Space—baSed Radar

o-Satellite and Launch ComroI\ e
Systems
o Space Tracking Space Surveﬂlance

Propulsion Systems

t NASA Glenn Research Center,
MTC world-class engineers support
leading-edge technological advance-
ments in aerospace turbine engines.
Focus areas include many significant
NASA research and development
projects in high-speed research, ultra-
efficient engines, advanced subsonic
technology, and air breathing systems.
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i 26&) 70meters in diameter,

o “and Madrid, Spain. The
" Deep Space Network (DSN)

Deep Space NetWork

g In support of bfASA’s scientific
missions, MTC provides engineering
and teclnmﬁai smzmes o mod1fy and

- “operate at Goldstone, Cali-
" fornia; Canberra, Australia;

supports multiple deep space
projects like the Mars Ex-
ploration Rover mission.
MTC people calculate the
exacting engineering
requiréments, as well as the
intensive installation and
maintenance efforts, neces-
sary to keep the DSN
operational.

Background phote: Providing hands-or engincering
support for NASA’s internationel antenna retwork,
MTC’s Staniey Hignett installs a platform to repair
sensitive electronics in the Beam Wave Guide tube.



, there is another new

ormation Grid - a vital
un for Homeland Security

Security Systems

Wthin the information battlefield,
MTC provides high-tech monitoring
systems to combat terrorists and
adversaries at overseas U.S. military
installations. We designed, installed,
and maintain closed circuit television
ters. thgoughout the world for Air Force flight line security at

v Yokota Air Base, Japan. We com-
pleted secure telecommunications
upgrades at Marine Corps Air Station
Iwakuni and Camp Fuji, Japan. We -
designed, engineered, and installed a
Video Teleconferencing Center for the
Army at Torii Station, Okinawa to
integrate data resources. And, we
installed and maintain new telephone
systems at installations throughout the
Pacific area to enable U.S. forces to
be proactive in the face of threats.

man dg(, ment
ncetwork, and
telecommunication

deloymcnl and sustainment of
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
PART L
Item 1. Business
Overview

MTC Technologies, Inc. was incorporated in Delaware in April 2002 and holds all of the capital stock of
MTC Technologies, Inc., an Ohio corporation incorporated in 1985 that was formerly known as Modern
Technologies Corp. We provide sophisticated systems engineering, information technology, intelligence and
program management services, primarily to U.S. defense, intelligence and civilian federal government agencies.
Our services encompass the full system life cycle from requirements definition, design, development and
integration to upgrade, sustainment and support for mission critical information and weapons systems. For the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, about 95% and 87%, respectively, of our revenue was derived from
our customers in the Department of Defense and the intelligence community, including the U.S. Air Force, U.S.
Army and joint military commands. Having served the Department of Defense since our founding in 1984, we
believe we are well positioned to assist the federal government as it increases its focus on modernizing defense
capabilities and maintaining national security.

Our people develop and implement innovative, practical solutions to complex engineering, technical and
management problems. We have approximately 1,500 employees, of whom more than 65% hold government
security clearances, including approximately 15% with Top Secret clearances or higher. A substantial majority of
our employees has prior military or government industry experience and over 70% of our employees work on-
site at our customers’ facilities. The credentials, experience and locations of our employees allow us to combine
a comprehensive knowledge of our customers’ business processes with the practical application of advanced
engineering and information technology tools, techniques and methods to create value-added solutions. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, we generated approximately 83% of our revenue as a prime contractor, where we
delivered many mission critical services and solutions. Serving as a prime contractor in close proximity to our
customers has allowed us to maintain long-standing relationships that have been important to our growth. We
have provided services to the U.S. Air Force since our founding, the U.S. Army for 15 years and NASA for 10
years.

We believe we are well positioned to continue our internal revenue growth by leveraging our existing
customer relationships and diverse array of contract vehicles, including General Service Administration (GSA)
schedules and Blanket Purchase Agreements (BPAs). Our contract base is diversified with over 290 active
contracts, including task orders under GSA schedules and major government-wide acquisition contracts
(GWACs), as of December 31, 2003. In July 2001, we were one of six awardees of the U.S. Air Force’s Flexible
Acquisition and Sustainment Tool (FAST) contract with a ceiling of $7.4 billion. From the inception of the FAST
contract through December 31, 2003, we have been awarded over two-thirds of the dollar value of the $1.4
billion in task orders that have been competitively bid, based on the aggregate potential value of these task orders
and assuming the exercise of all option periods. As of December 31, 2003, we have been awarded 52 task orders
under the FAST contract with a remaining potential award value of approximately $940 million if all options are
exercised. We have the potential to compete for hundreds of millions of dollars in task orders each year over the
remaining contract life of approximately four and a half years, as the U.S. Air Force maintains and modernizes
aircraft and weapons systems.

Market Opportunity

The Federal Government Market. The federal government is the largest purchaser of services and
solutions in the U.S. with a total annual budget for 2004 of $2.2 trillion. The discretionary budget for defense and
non-defense items accounts for $782 billion, representing more than one-third of the total budget. The national
defense budget is expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate of 4.7%, from $399.7 billion in federal
fiscal year 2004 to $480.8 billion by federal fiscal year 2008. Budgets for civilian agencies that we support, such
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as NASA, are included in the non-defense portion. Information technology continues to be a focus area across all
organizations in the federal government. The independent government market research firm, INPUT, predicts
that contracted information technology spending will grow from approximately $45 billion in 2003 to
approximately $68 billion in 2008, a compound annual growth rate of 8.5%. There are several key factors which
we believe will continue to drive the growth of the federal government market:

+ increased spending on national defense, intelligence and homeland security;

* ongoing modemization of information technology and communication infrastructures;
* increased reliance of government customers on outsourced technology services;

* increased emphasis on defense system sustainment and modernization; and

+ continued evolution of federal government procurement practices.
g P

Government Contracts and Contracting. The federal procurement process for information technology
solutions has evolved dramatically over the last decade. Traditionally, each government agency purchased goods
and services through single contracts awarded after a lengthy competitive bidding process in which prospective
suppliers would submit separate proposals for particular programs. Though this process produced competitive
outcomes, it prevented agencies from moving swiftly to fulfill their technology needs. Through legislative and
regulatory initiatives to enable government agencies to adopt more commercial purchasing practices, the federal
government developed a variety of additional contracting methods. While single-award contracts are still widely
used, government agencies are increasingly relying on indefinite delivery, indefinite quantity (IDIQ) contracts,
GWAC s and GSA contracts.

IDIQ contracts establish preferred provider relationships with the federal government. These contracts
qualify contractors to provide specified goods and services to the issuing agency but generally do not obligate the
agency to purchase any particular amount of goods or services. To procure goods or services under the contract,
the agency issues a task order to the contractor that meets the agency’s needs. Although agencies often
administer IDIQ contracts for their own procurement needs, they sometimes issue contracts in which they
administer procurement for their own needs as well as the needs of other federal agencies. These contracts are
known as GWACs and are often awarded to multiple prime contractors, all of whom are thereby qualified to
supply the same goods and services to any agency of the federal government. Qualified contractors often
compete with each other to obtain task orders under GWACs. The lower cost, reduced procurement time and
increased flexibility of GWACs have made them popular among many agencies for large-scale procurements of
technology services. GSA contracts are procurement contracts administered by the GSA on behalf of the entire
federal government. Like GWACs, any agency of the government can procure goods and services from any
contractor awarded a GSA contract at the prices and terms stated in the contract.

We believe these changes in procurement regulations have benefited the federal government through lower
acquisition costs, faster acquisition cycles, more flexible contract terms, and more stable contractor/customer
relationships. We believe that contractors have also benefited from these same reforms through lower marketing
costs, stronger customer relationships, and more flexible contract terms. We also believe that the more
commercial-like practice of having to re-win contracts much more frequently than under the traditional single
contract awards has resulted in better performing contractors gaining market share at the expense of poorly
performing contractors.

Key Growth Factors. There are several key factors that we believe will continue to drive the growth of

the federal government market and our business:
» Increased spending on national defense, intelligence and homeland security. The wars in Iraq and
Afghanistan, the continued threat from terrorists and the instability in other foreign areas of interest to
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the U.S. have stimulated additional funding for federal programs in the defense industry. Defense
spending accounts for 17.8% of the federal government’s 2004 budget. The Under Secretary of Defense
Comptroller divides the defense budget into 27 areas, four of which account for 92% of this budget. We
support the top four areas, which include (1) military personnel; (2) operation and maintenance; (3)
procurement; and (4) research, development, test and evaluation. The 2004 national defense budget of
$399.7 billion represents a $17.0 billion increase over 2003 levels. For the most part, this increase is
allocated to fighting terrorism, enhancing intelligence gathering and sustaining current military
readiness. Budgets for intelligence agencies are now classified, but figures released for 1997 and 1998
indicated intelligence budgets of $26.6 billion and $26.7 billion, respectively. In addition, the federal
fiscal year 2004 budget authority for the Department of Homeland Security totals $37.6 billion, which
does not include additional spending by the Department of Defense and other agencies on homeland
security initiatives.

Ongoing modernization of information technology and communication infrastructures. The federal
government has invested heavily in large, proprietary information systems and special purpose
communications networks, which were often developed using standards unique to the government.
These legacy systems often are expensive to maintain, lack scalability and are incompatible with current
technologies. In addition, many of these systems serve mission-critical functions where even a minor
failure can lead to substantial losses, including potential loss of life. The need to improve the
government’s outdated technology infrastructure systems is increasing demand for information
technology services.

Increased reliance of government customers on outsourced technology services. The independent
government market research firm, INPUT, estimates that the federal government information
technology outsourcing budget will grow from approximately $8.5 billion in 2003 to approximately
$15.5 billion in 2008, a compound annual growth rate of approximately 12.8%, due to the government’s
need for cost-effective technologies and efficient services. Moreover, the federal government’s need to
outsource is expected to grow over time as its technically skilled employees retire. The National
Academy of Public Administration estimates that approximately 50% of the federal government
workforce will be eligible to retire by September 2006, which we believe will create a shortage of
technically skilled federal employees. Given the difficulty the federal government has experienced in
hiring and retaining skilled technology personnel in recent years, we believe the federal government will
need to rely more heavily on technology service providers that have experience with government legacy
systems, can sustain mission-critical operations and have the required government security clearances to
deploy qualified personnel in classified environments. For example, the government increasingly relies
on contractors to acquire, integrate, manage and sustain major components of the defense system. In
addition, we believe the continued deployment of U.S. military personnel due to military operations
around the world will increase the government’s reliance on outsourced services.

Increased emphasis on defense system sustainment and modernization. To balance the costs of new
initiatives like homeland defense with the costs of ongoing military operations, the Department of
Defense is emphasizing upgrading existing platforms to next generation technologies rather than
procuring completely new systems. For example, rather than replace an entire generation of aircraft, the
U.S. Air Force has decided to invest in upgrades, using the latest information technology and weapons
systems. To accomplish this in an environment of military personnel reductions, the armed services are
increasingly dependent on highly skilled contractors that can provide the full spectrum of services
needed to support these activities.
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Our Competitive Advantages

We believe we are positioned to meet the rapidly evolving needs of the U.S. defense, intelligence and
civilian federal government agencies for sophisticated systems engineering, information technology, intelligence
and program management services because we possess important business strengths, including the following:

Strategically Aligned with Department of Defense’s Key Initiatives. Our services and solutions are
well aligned with several of the Department of Defense’s top priorities including: pursuing the war on global
terrorism; strengthening the joint warfighting capabilities; transforming the armed services; and optimizing
intelligence capabilities. We support the Department of Defense’s primary initiatives across our four principal
service areas.

Systems Engineering and Technical Services. We are helping to fight the war on terrorism through a
number of contracts supporting the U.S. Air Force and U.S. Army’s programs to sustain and modernize
military aircraft and ground platforms currently involved in military operations. For example, we have
supported technology upgrades to the F-15 and F-16 platforms for over 15 years. In addition, we
recently won a task order to support U.S. Air Force Special Operations Forces (SOF) to modify and
upgrade systems on MH-53 Pavelow helicopters designed for highly specialized missions critical to the
fight against terrorism.

Information Technology. Our information technology capabilities are supporting the military’s
objectives to conduct joint battlefield operations. For example, we manage the Air Mobility Command
(AMC) Command Post and Field Exercise Program where we provide time-critical evaluations for
command and control systems used during AMC command post, field and contingency planning
exercises. Deficiencies are identified in After-Action Reports, which are used to identify the need for
additional telecommunications connectivity throughout the world to support the movement of people
and cargo.

Intelligence. Optimizing intelligence capabilities is a primary initiative for the Department of Defense.
Our focus in this area includes our program support for the Predator and other Unmanned Aerial
Vehicles (UAV). Our ongoing efforts have contributed to increased clarity of the battlefield, quicker
assimilation of intelligence data sources, and improved dissemination of time-critical data to decision
makers:.and combat commanders.

Program Management. We support the Department of Defense’s initiatives to strengthen the joint
warfighting capabilities across a number of contracts. For example, we are providing program
management and systems engineering services to the U.S. Air Force on its Roll-On Beyond-Line-of-
Sight Enhancement (ROBE) program. This program is adding the capability for air refueling tankers to
relay critical command and control information in a joint and network-centric battlefield environment.

Ability to Leverage the Breadth and Depth of Our Capabilities through Our Diverse Contract
Vehicles. Our broad array of technical and program management capabilities and diverse contract vehicles
afford us opportunities to expand our business with existing customers and to develop relationships with new
customers.

Breadih and Depth of Our Capabilities. 'We have the domain expertise in our customers’ systems and
infrastrictures that allows us to provide total systems solutions, either as discrete or bundled services,
each designed to meet the customer’s specific requirements. Our services encompass the full system life
cycle from requirements definition, design, development and integration to upgrade, sustainment and
support for mission critical information and weapons systems. The breadth and depth of our capabilities
have allowed us to expand our services and win large contracts and task orders in support of our
customers’ increasing requirements.
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Diverse Contract Vehicles. Our diverse contract vehicles allow our customers to access our services
efficiently. These types of contracts are intended to pre-qualify the bidders to expedite the contracting
process. Qur vehicles include a number of GWACs, BPAs, GSA schedules and IDIQ contracts.

Highly Qualified Staff with Security Clearances. We emphasize hiring and retaining an experienced
and skilled staff that is augmented with former high-ranking military personnel.

Military and Industry Experience. We have developed a culture that attracts and helps to retain
seasoned employees, resulting in a staff in which a substantial majority of our employees has military or
government industry experience. A majority of our technical staff has a wide range of engineering and
information technology expertise combined with an in-depth knowledge of the domain operations of our
customers.

Highly Skilled. Our professional staff is highly skilled, with many possessing advanced degrees and/or
having specialized training in certain key areas. For example, we have employees specialized in Special
Operations Forces and other U.S. Air Force programs; Signals Intelligence (SIGINT), Measurement and
Signatures Intelligence (MASINT), Imagery Intelligence (IMINT) and other intelligence activities; and
propulsion and other NASA engineering areas. This results in a work force with a comprehensive
understanding of our customers’ systems and missions.

Security Clearances. We are able to satisfy the strict security clearance requirements for personnel
who work on classified programs for the Department of Defense and the intelligence community. More
than 65% of our approximately 1,500 employees have government security clearances. Approximately
15% of our employees hold Top Secret security clearances or higher. We also maintain facility
clearances, as required, to support classified programs.

Experienced and Disciplined Management Team. Most of our senior managers have extensive
experience supporting the Department of Defense and the intelligence community. With their deep knowledge
base, valued relationships and strong reputations, our management plays a key role in building and sustaining our
customer base.

Tenure and Experience. Substantially all of the members of our senior management team possess in
excess of 20 years of combined military and government industry experience, with nearly two-thirds of
them having served as senior military or intelligence officers, providing the experience and leadership
capabilities needed to continue our impressive growth. Moreover, our key operational managers average
more than nine years of tenure with us.

Training. All of our senior managers benefit from an internal training program that provides them with
the financial skills to complete projects on time while minimizing costs, resulting in maximized
margins. Our training methodology and processes have formed the foundation for our ISO program and
were instrumental in our achievement of ISO certification in 2002.

Strong Customer Relationships. We have a successful track record of fulfilling our customers’ needs, as
demonstrated by our long-term relationships with many of our largest customers and our routinely high customer
performance ratings. Our historical performance has resulted in a re-compete win rate in excess of 95% over the
last five years on contracts and task orders. We have supported technical services programs for the U.S. Air
Force for 19 years and similar programs for the U.S. Army for 15 years. In addition, we have supported the
intelligence community for 16 years and provided business and highly technical modeling and simulation support
to NASA for 10 years.

Responsive Bidding Practices. Our flexible management structure, culture and bid tracking system allow
us to respond quickly to new business opportunities. While our infrastructure allows us to be sophisticated and
organized in our bidding practices, our flat organizational structure promotes timely and rapid decisions. We
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empower our employees with the authority to identify, assess, pursue and respond to new business opportunities.
Our tracking system incorporates a web-based system that is accessible to potential subcontractors and
coordinates the dissemination of information and the collection of proposals on a real-time basis. In light of
recent federal procurement reform, we believe that our ability to respond quickly to bids provides us a
competitive advantage.

Our Growth Strategy

Our objective is to grow our business profitably while strengthening our primary competencies in systems
engineering, information technology, intelligence and program management services. Our growth will primarily
be targeted with U.S. Air Force, Land Forces (U.S. Army and U.S. Marine Corps) and National Security
customers, where we address their needs in requirements generation, materiel acquisition, modernization and
force sustainmert.

Our primary strategies to accomplish this goal include:

Grow Business with Our Existing Customers. Many of our customers have increasing requirements and
responsibilities due to the government’s emphasis on defense and national security. As a result, our customers
continue to outsource more of their existing activities, while introducing new program areas that we believe we
can support. Our diverse capabilities allow us to provide a wide variety of services to our existing customers as
they expand their activities. We believe our high level of customer satisfaction and deep knowledge of our
customers’ business processes enhances our position to provide these additional services.

Expand Our Customer Base. We intend to leverage our long-term customer relationships,
comprehensive skill base, diverse contract vehicles and industry reputation to expand our customer base. We
intend to focus on those areas that we believe provide long-term opportunities for growth and where we can
provide high value-added services. Our large contract portfolio allows us to rapidly respond and provide support
to new customers. We believe our past performance ratings and industry reputation combined with our contract
portfolio enable us to compete effectively for new customers.

Continue Our Disciplined Pursuit of Strategic Acquisitions. We will continue to enhance our internal
growth by selectively pursuing strategic acquisitions of businesses that can broaden our domain expertise and
primary service offerings. We will continue to be highly selective in our acquisition program and will focus on
acquiring businesses, such as our recent acquisitions of International Consultants, Inc. (ICI) and Vitronics Inc.
(Vitronics), that primarily provide value-added services and solutions for U.S. Air Force, Land Forces and
National Security customers.

Acquisitions

We employ a highly disciplined process to evaluate the strategic, financial, operational and legal aspects of
acquisitions. Since our initial public offering, we have completed three strategic acquisitions. Each of the
acquired businesses has been accretive to earnings and has expanded our customer reach and technical
capabilities.
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The following table summarizes our acquisitions since our initial public offering:

Acquisition Revenue(l)
Name Date Description of Services Primary Customer  (in millions)

AMCOMP .. October 2002 Engineering, information technology and other U.S. Air Force $10.5
technical services, primarily in the areas of space  Space Command
systems and global positioning systems

ICT ........ October 2003 Program management, information technology and U.S. Army $194
logistics services
Vitronics ... October 2003 Systems engineering, information technology, U.S. Army $13.8

software development, research and development
and systems integration services

(1) Consolidated revenue of each acquired business for its most recently completed fiscal year ended prior to
the acquisition date.

AMCOMP. In October 2002, we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of AMCOMP Corporation
(AMCOMP). AMCOMP provides engineering, information technology and other technical services, primarily in
the areas of space systems and global positioning systems, to the Department of Defense and other government
agencies. The initial purchase price was $7.3 million. In April 2003, we paid additional consideration of $1.1
million to the former shareholders of AMCOMP as a result of the achievement of certain performance goals
under an earn-out provision in the stock purchase agreement. We accrued an additional $1.1 million of
consideration in December 2003 for the achievement of certain performance goals under the 2003 earn-out
provision in the stock purchase agreement. We expect to make this payment in the second quarter of 2004. We
could be required to pay the former shareholders of AMCOMP up to an additional $1.1 million in cash if certain
other performance goals are achieved.

ICI.  In October 2003, we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of International Consultants, Inc. ICI
specializes in program management, information technology and logistics services. ICI provides support to
customers such as the U.S. Army Forces Command (FORSCOM) and the Tank-Automotive and Armaments
Command (TACOM). The initial purchase price was $10.2 million, which consisted of shares of our common
stock with a value of $2.4 million, the repayment of $7.5 million of ICI’s indebtedness at the closing and $0.3
million for related acquisition costs. In January 2004, we paid additional consideration of $3.5 million, which
consisted of shares of our common stock with a value of $2.7 million and $0.8 million in cash, to the former
shareholders of ICI as a result of the achievement of certain performance goals under an earn-out provision in the
stock purchase agreement. We also accrued an additional $1.0 million of purchase consideration in December
2003 for the achievement of certain performance goals under the 2003 earn-out provision. This payment is
expected to be made in the first quarter of 2004, and the consideration will consist of shares of our common stock
with a value of $0.8 million and $0.2 million in cash. We could be required to pay ICI's former shareholders up
to an additional $4.5 million under the earn-out provisions, payable in a combination of our common stock and
cash, if certain other performance goals are achieved.

Vitronics. In October 2003, we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Vitronics Inc. Vitronics
specializes in systems engineering, information technology, software development, research and development,
and systems integration services. Vitronics” key customers include the U.S. Army’s Communications Electronics
Command (CECOM) and the Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA). The initial purchase
price, including related acquisition costs, was $9.0 million. Under an earn-out provision in the stock purchase
agreement, we expect to pay an additional $0.7 million in cash to the former shareholders of Vitronics if certain
performance goals are achieved.

We frequently evaluate acquisition opportunities, and, at any given time, may be in various stages of due
diligence or preliminary negotiations with respect to a number of potential transactions. We currently have
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identified acquisition candidates with annual revenue in excess of $400 million in the aggregate that, based on
our preliminary review, may fit our acquisition criteria. All of these candidates provide services that are
complementary to our existing service capability and focus on U.S. Air Force, Land Forces and National Security
customers.

Our Services and Solutions

We operate through four principal service areas, which are offered separately or in combination across our
customer base:

Systems Engineering and Technical Services. We offer a broad range of systems engineering and
technical services to enhance the functionality and performance of defense systems, weapons platforms,
battlefield personnel and delivery systems. Our systems engineering and technical services include determination
of systems requirements and goals, rapid prototyping, design, development and integration of new systems, and
subsequent sustainment and support. We evaluate system designs to determine if performance enhancements or
cost savings can be derived through the integration of new technologies. Our engineering services also include
reverse engineering older systems, modeling and simulation of proposed systems, and performance testing of
prototypes and final systems.

Information Technology. We design, develop, upgrade and integrate complex, mission-critical
information technology systems. Our services also include security engineering, network design, software
development, enterprise application integration, database development, test and evaluation, configuration
management, training and implementation support. We also provide simulation and modeling services that
enable us to evaluate the efficiency and value of technology systems before they are implemented. Some of our
engagements include the web-enablement and integration of legacy business systems, allowing our customers to
benefit from their prior investments. We also design, install and maintain local area and wide area networks.

Intelligence. We provide command, control, communications, computers, intelligence, surveillance and
reconnaissance (C4ISR) services to intelligence agencies. In connection with these services, we design, develop
and manage reconnaissance platforms, real-time signal processing systems, sensors, ground stations and data
links, as well as evaluate and support ongoing operational intelligence collection activities. We offer specialized
capabilities such as airborne and space intelligence, surveillance and reconnaissance (ISR), signals and imagery
intelligence, and strategic warfare planning. We also support a variety of data collection and analysis activities.
We maintain a fully accredited Sensitive Compartmented Information Facility (SCIF) including communications
and processing capabilities for technical support of specialized systems and sensitive technologies. Much of this
work is tightly controlled within compartmented and special access security channels.

Program Management. We provide program management support that extends the useful life of existing
defense systems and reduces life-cycle costs. Program management activities include developing and
implementing acquisition strategies, cost modeling, identification of suppliers and vendors, provision planning,
contract performance monitoring, program planning and scheduling, financial management, operational
effectiveness analysis, risk analysis and security planning. Specifically, we provide engineering and sustainment
support, and modifications of and upgrades to defense systems featuring new sensor devices, radios, engines and
other electronic components. We are involved in support programs to extend the service of aging aircraft and
other defense systems and components, which includes the sourcing and repair of diminishing parts for our
customers. In addition, it is not uncommon for our other service offerings to lead to program management
services, such as in the case of the ROBE, Forward Looking Infrared (FLIR) and MH-53 modification programs.
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QOur Core Capabilities

We apply the following core capabilities across our four service areas described above:

Systems Support. We provide complete life-cycle support of military, defense, intelligence and
information technology systems. The activities start with requirements analysis and system design, and then
move to acquisition and integration of these systems. We continue our support into the operation and support
phases and provide continuing improvements and sustainment.

Acquisition Management. We assist our customers with strategy and planning, cost analysis, scheduling
and delivery assessment for the acquisition of systems and services. Many of our managers previously served as
acquisition managers for the government and have extensive knowledge of the process and program needs.

Systems Integration. We provide systems integration of hardware and software components for our
customers’ legacy systems. We analyze customer systems, applications and platforms and develop solutions to
sustain or improve system performance and increase system availability.

Network Design and Maintenance. We provide network support services for complex communications
systems. Our communications engineers and technicians provide site surveys, engineering and installation
support for local area networks, wide area networks, telephone switches and cable plants, including the
installation of fiber-optic cable systems at government facilities throughout the world.

Information Assurance. We provide comprehensive information assurance programs that assess and
implement integrated physical, technical, operations, personnel, computer and communication security
requirements, including disaster recovery assessment. We design, test and certify security systems as well as
perform audits and inspections. These services are provided for both classified and unclassified systems.

Logistics Activities. We design and develop integrated logistics support plans designed to optimize the
deployment, readiness, performance and subsequent extraction of military personnel and equipment. We also
design sophisticated platforms that coordinate and integrate information management systems.

Testing and Evaluation. We test and evaluate complex, mission-critical hardware and software systems.
Our services improve the performance, reliability, maintainability, supportability and effectiveness of many
defense and weapon systems. We develop and operate customized testing and evaluation facilities that are both
fixed and mobile.

Business Process Outsourcing. We assist customers in the management of certain supply processes to

improve performance and reduce costs. We develop training programs, define meaningful performance metrics,
support process definition and reengineering, perform cost modeling and source and procure parts.
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The following chart shows how our core capabilities cross over our four service areas:

Capabilities by Service Area

Engineering
and
Technical  Information Intelligence Program
Services Technology (C4ISR) Management

SYSEMS SUPPOTT .« « vt ve e ettt e e U OJ O O
Acquisition Management . ... ........urneriiniiinnan ] ] ] ]
Systems Integration .. ............c.ccoieiiiiinennannn. | O U )
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Information ASSUTANCE . . .\ v v v e et e O ] ] 0
Logistics ACTVIHES . ..\ v vttt e e viiiiee e eiiineeen. o) 0 ] N
Testing and Evaluation . ............c..oviiiennannn.. il 0 ] ]
Business Process:Outsourcing . .............. ... ..., 6] J

Major Area of Emphasis: [_]
Supporting Area of Emphasis: O

Representative Customer Engagements

Systems Engineering and Technical Services

Objective

» Design, develop and reengineer warfighter systems for the U.S. Air Force, U.S. Army, U.S. Marine
Corps and U.S. Coast Guard to reduce cost, improve functionality and enhance the transformation of the
warfighting capabilities of the armed services.

Services

*  We have led programs for the design, development, integration, testing and deployment of aircraft
modifications that will significantly increase the warfighting capabilities of the armed forces. These
programs include the ROBE “Smart Tanker” modification for the KC-135, which permits KC-135
tankers to multi-task as communication nodes with satellite links to enhance the sighting capabilities of
the U.S. military to support a network-centric battlefield. We have also led the FLIR modification for
Special Operations Forces C-130s and U.S. Coast Guard helicopters which extends the serviceability
and useful lives of these aircraft by enhancing their onboard vision technologies. We are also
developing the latest Joint Threat Emitter to train our nation’s fighter pilots to better recognize, evade
and thwart enemy threats.

* We provide engineering and systems analysis for sophisticated battlefield protection devices, sensors,
and communication components for soldiers with a major emphasis on weight reduction and increased
carrying capacity. We are actively evaluating various aspects of mobile power solutions for the U.S.
Army, including general system requirements, fuel sources, deployability, weight reduction and cost
containment. We also provide a range of simulation and modeling services for military gear and support
equipment, such as Electro-Optical Infrared (EO/IR) and electronic warfare equipment, including
mechanical design for integrated hardware and software systems to improve functionality.
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We provide services to the Special Operations Forces, which requires engineering support to modify,
upgrade and support their extensive and varied SOF aircraft and weapon systems. One of our most
recent examples is the modification of the MH-53 Pavelow helicopter fleet to the most recent model and
then further enhancing the fleet to include Automatic Hold and Hover Stabilization devices. These
modifications will extend the useful life of the MH-53 as well as enhance its ability to operate more
effectively at night and in poor weather.

Information Technology

Objective

Services

.

Design, develop, maintain and upgrade information systems for command and control and other mission
critical programs.

We design, develop and maintain a number of antenna array components for the Jet Propulsion
Laboratory’s Deep Space Network (DSN). The network consists of antennas that support interplanetary
spacecraft missions (such as the recent Mars probes) and radio and radar astronomy observations for the
exploration of the solar system and the universe. The network also supports selected earth-orbiting
missions. Our professional staff provides specialized engineering, operations and maintenance to the
various antenna array installations. Our support includes the DSN installations in Goldstone, California;
Canberra, Australia; and Madrid, Spain, as well as maintenance and operations of various NASA space
support sites. We focus on software engineering, microwave systems, signal processing, mechanical,
hydraulic and electrical systems and real-time controls in support of the DSN antenna arrays from
development and installation through testing and maintenance. Engineering support includes initial
subsystem installations, modifications and upgrades.

For the Defense Information Systems Network (DISN), we provide network management and network
engineering. As network managers, we schedule maintenance, monitor and troubleshoot the network
system, analyze performance and conduct operational tests to maintain reliable service. As network
engineers, we model networks and perform engineering analyses.

We manage the AMC Command Post and Field Exercise Program. We provide time-critical evaluations
for command and control systems used during AMC command post, field and contingency planning
exercises. Deficiencies are identified in After-Action Reports, which are used to identify the need for
additional telecommunications connectivity throughout the world to support the movement of people
and cargo.

We provide software quality assurance support to the U.S. Transportation Command (USTRANSCOM)
for the Global Transportation Network (GTN). The GTN is a command and control system used to
monitor and manage airlift and sealift resources under the operational control of USTRANSCOM. We
perform all software testing of formal releases made by the development contractor, to include software
and regression testing for development and maintenance releases. Our services also include a technical .
analysis of all deliverables produced by the development contractor.

Intelligence

Objective

Provide engineering, analysis, management and operational support to the intelligence community to
ensure continuity and analysis of ongoing collection activities while supporting the development and
integration of future architectures and capabilities.
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We support the U.S. Air Force Reconnaissance System Program Office, other Department of Defense
agencies and the intelligence community in evaluating emerging SIGINT architectures and their
application for both airborne and non-airborne use.

We develop and analyze requirements and specifications for platforms, sensors, data links, ground
segments, and other technologies supporting all phases of the intelligence cycle.

We support the U-2 and Global Hawk reconnaissance systems with ongoing requirements analysis at the
Air Combat Command level as well as operational support at the U.S. Air Force Wing level. To improve
efficiency and allow operation with fewer staff than previously required, we have developed and
implemented a number of automated tools to facilitate functions previously requiring extensive human
support.

We provide engineering and management support to emerging space-based collection systems such as
the Space Tracking and Surveillance System—formerly known as the Space-Based Infrared System-low
(SBIRS-low). This intelligence collection system allows our military and intelligence organizations to
track significant ground movements of enemy forces.

Program Management

Objective

Services

Develop and implement management, acquisition and logistics processes to ensure customer programs
meet cost, schedule, and performance requirements. Assist our government customers across the full
spectrum of program management activities from the definition of requirements through the design,
development, and testing of systems, subsystems and components.

For acquisition programs managed by the Aeronautical Systems Center at Wright Patterson AFB, we
provide support to all functional aspects of weapons system acquisition, to include cost control and
reporting, specification compliance, analysis of test results, and activities related to system and
modification deployment. For the F-15, F-16, B-1 and C-130, we also support sustainment and
modification programs at the Air Logistics Centers, many times in conjunction with our systems
engineering engagements.

We manage multiple programs for the U.S. Army involving Mobile Electric Power (MEP) and PM
Soldier. We provide a broad spectrum of services in support of MEP, a program designed to provide
mobile power capabilities to the armed forces. We also manage PM Soldier, a program designed to
improve the functionality and effectiveness of U.S. soldiers.

We manage a program called Diminishing Manufacturing Sources and Material Shortages (DMSMS),
which involves the development of a system to track and predict the availability of, and ensure sources
for, the components of various defense systems. Through statistical analysis, reverse engineering and
cost analysis, we identify and resolve reliability and maintainability issues stemming from diminishing
manufacturing sources and material shortages of equipment and parts for several mission critical
national defense programs.

Our Customers

Our customers are primarily U.S. federal government intelligence, military and civilian agencies. Our
revenue derived from federal government customers, consisting primarily of the Department of Defense and the
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intelligence community, accounted for about 95% and 87% of our total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we derived approximately
83% of our revenue as a prime contractor and approximately 17% of our revenue as a subcontractor to other
defense companies.

The following departments and agencies are representative of our government customer base. Due to the
sensitive nature of our intelligence business base and in accordance with our customers’ preferences and
requirements, we are prohibited from disclosing detailed information regarding specific intelligence customers
that we support or the specific systems involved.
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U.S. Air Force

Secretary of U.S. Air Force (Pentagon)

Air Combat Command

*  Headquarters Offices

Director for Plans and Programs

Director for Requirements

Director for Logistics

Director of Intelligence

Director of Operations

9th Reconnaissance Wing (U-2 Aircraft)

Air Mobility Command

»  Headquarters

*  Director for Operations

*  Director for Plans

*  Mobility Analysis Support Systems Office

Electronic Systems Center

*  Integrated Digital Equipment Office

e Material Systems Group Technical Data
Program Office

Warner Robins Air Logistics Center

»  Special Operations Program Office

e (C-130Program Office

»  Electronic Warfare Product Group

*  Depot Maintenance Accounting and
Production System Program Office

* 60K Tunner Loader System Program Office

OklahomaCity Air Logistics Center

+  B-1B System Program Office

*  B-52 System Program Office

¢ Air Launch Cruise Missile System Program
Office

Ogden Air Logistics Center

*  Communications Directorate

*  Space and C3I Directorate

*  Atmospheric Early Warning and Detection

Programs Office
»  F-16 Systems Support Management
. Aircraft, Mature and Proven Aircraft Office
U.S. Air Force Research Laboratory
»  Sensors Directorate
*  Materials Lab
U.S. Air Force Communications Agency
U.S. Air Force Command and Control,
Intelligence, Surveillance and Reconnaissance
Center
Special Operations Command
¢ Det 1, 46th Operations Group
*  Special Operations Forces System Program
Office
*  Special Operations Forces Support Center
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Pacific Air Forces Command

*  Hardened Theater Air Command Center

*  Information Technology (IT) offices in
Alaska, Guam, Hawaii, Japan and Korea

Aeronautical Systems Center

*  F-16 System Program Office

Air Combat System Program Office

F-15 System Program Office

Reconnaissance Systems Program Office

Joint Strike Fighter Systems Program

Office

Flight Training System Program Office

B-1B System Program Office

Training Systems Product Group

Special Operations

C-130J Systems Program Office

B-2 Systems Program Office

JSECST System Program Office

Propulsion System Program Office

Aerospace Enterprise System Program

Office

¢  Department of Defense Deskbook

¢ KC-135 System Program Office

*  Joint Helmet Mounted Cueing System

Program Office

»  Tri-Service Standoff Attack Missile System
Program Office

*  Alternative Dispute Resolutions and
Litigation

U.S. Air Force Museum

Tri-Care Region 5

U.S. Army Trial Team

Defense Contract Management Agency

Headquarters U.S. Air Force Materiel

Command

*  Transformation Office

*  Requirements Directorate

*  Engineering and Technical Management
Directorate

»  Logistics Directorate

»  U.S. Air Force Departmental
Standardization Office

U.S. Air Force Space and Missile Systems

Center

*  Defense Meteorological Satellite Program
Systems Program Office

*  Military Satellite Communications Joint
Programs Office

*  NAVSTAR Global Positioning Satellite
Joint Program Office

*  Space-Based Radar System Program Office

*  Space Tracking Space Surveillance

Program Office
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U.S. Army

U.S. Army CECOM Acquisition Center, Ft. .
Monmouth, NJ
*  Software Engineering Directorate
*  Program Executive Officer for Intelligence
and Electronic Warfare, and Sensors (PEO .
TEW&S)
*  Night Vision and Electronic Sensors
Directorate (NVESD)
¢ Command and Control Directorate (C2D)
*  Intelligence and Information Warfare .
Directorate (I2ZWD)
¢ Survivability/Lethality Analysis Directorate
of the U.S. Army Research Laboratory .
*  Systems Acquisition Division
¢ Special Operations Forces .
*  Command and Control Integration/
Interoperability (CIPO) Group .
¢+ Command and Control Directorate,
Research, Development and Engineering .
Center (RDEC)
*  Project Manager, Force XXI Battle .
Command Brigade and Below (FBCB2) .
*  Program Manager, Signals Warfare (PM
SW) .
¢ Office of Product Manager (PM) Firefinder
¢« PM Common Ground Station/Joint Tactical .
Terminal (CGS/ATT)
PM Joint STARS/JTT/CTT
PM Navigation Systems
Space and Terrestrial Directorate
Information Security Branch
Logistics Readiness Command
PM Defense Messaging System .
PM Tactical Radio Communications System
Project Manager Soldier (PM-Soldier) .
Project Manager-Mobile Electric Programs
(PM-MEP) at Ft. Belvoir, VA
U.S. Army Tank-Automotive and Armaments
Command (TACOM), Picatinny Arsenal
+ US. Army TACOM ARDEC
U.S. Army TACOM
+  Watercraft Commodity Business Unit (CBU)
*  Watercraft Systems Management Office
(WSMO)
Watercraft Inspection Branch (WIB)
Brigade Combat Team (PM-BCT)
TARDEC, PM Watercraft
TARDEC, HCCC SAMP .
TARDEC, PM-LAV
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U.S. Army, Command, Control,
Communications, Computers and
Intelligence (C4I) Systems Branch, Ft.
Monmouth, NJ

U.S. Army, Office of the Project
Manager—PM Army Tactical Command
and Control System (PM, ATCCS), Ft.
Monmouth, NJ, Ft. Hood, TX and Ft.
Lewis, WA

U.S. Army TRADOC, Requirements
Integration Directorate, Ft. Eustis and Ft.
Monroe, VA

U.S. Army, PM—TC-AIMS, Ft. Belvoir,
VA

Battle Command Battle Lab—Ft.
Leavenworth, KS

Unit of Action Maneuver Battle Lab—Ft.
Knox, KY

U.S. Army Research Laboratory Human
Research Engineering Directorate

11th ACR—Ft. Irwin, CA

Commander in Chief Interoperability
Program Office

U.S. Army Material Systems Analysis
Activity—Aberdeen Proving Grounds
Program Manager Aviation Mission
Equipment—Huntsville, AL

Program Manager Close Combat Support
Program Manager Aerial Common Sensor
Program Manager Fixed Wing

Program Manager Close Combat Support
—Picatinny Arsenal, NJ

Program Manager Air Traffic Control—
Huntsville, AL

Program Manager Utility Helicopter—
Huntsville, AL

U.S. Army Forces Command (FORSCOM)
Third U.S. Army (ARCENT)

U.S. Army Europe

Project Manager, Light Armored Vehicle
Product Manager, Individual Weapons
Project Manager, Soldier Weapons

U.S. Army Infantry Center

Project Manager, Force Projection
Manager, Homeland Security Projects
System Manager (TSM) for Tactical
Wheeled Vehicle Modernization

Project Manager, Brigade Combat Team
Vehicle

Product Manager, Tactical Vehicles
System Manager (TSM) for Stryker/
Bradley Vehicles

Armor School
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U.S. Coast Guard U.S. Marine Corps

*  HH-65A Helicopter FLIR Integration Office »  Small Arms Weapons Program Office
*  USMC Base Telecommunications
Infrastructure Upgrade Program Office

U.S. Joint Commands Civilian and Other
*  U.S. Strategic Command (STRATCOM) *  National Aeronautics and Space
*  Joint Personnel Recovery Agency Administration (NASA)
¢ National Security Agency *  Defense Finance and Accounting Service
+  National Reconnaissance Office *  GE Aircraft Engines Sourcing
¢ U.S. Transportation Command ¢  Department of Justice
(USTRANSCOM)

*  Defense Information Systems Agency (DISA)

¢ Defense Finance and Accounting Service
Ballistic Missile Defense Organization

* U.S. Forces Japan

Qur Diverse Contract Vehicles

We compete for task orders through a variety of arrangements or contract vehicles. Our vehicles include
GWACs, BPAs, GSA schedules and IDIQ contracts. We have contract vehicles in each of our service areas,
allowing us to compete for business from a variety of customers. In addition, we have several blanket
arrangements under which we can work with customers in multiple service areas. The contract vehicles are
structured with various terms and include time-and-materials, fixed-price and cost-plus contracts. Approximately
13% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 was under one contract vehicle, the Aeronautical
Systems Center Blanket Purchase Agreement (ASC/BPA), which expires in September 2005. Some of that work,
however, was previously performed on GSA schedules and, if necessary, could possibly be converted once again
to GSA vehicles, or other contracts we have. Our tasks under the ASC/BPA support or have supported over 30
different customer organizations using 66 individual task orders. We also had approximately 33% of our revenue
for the year ended December 31, 2003 under the FAST contract. Our tasks under the FAST contract support or
have supported 22 different customer organizations using over 50 individual task orders. In prior years, we
previously performed a portion of the work we are now performing on the FAST contract on other contract
vehicles. While the FAST contract represents an increasingly large percentage of our total revenue, we believe
that the broad array of engineering, technical and management services we provide to the federal government
through various contract vehicles allows for diversified business growth.

Our contract base is diversified with over 290 active contracts, including task orders on GSA contracts and
major GWACs, as of December 31, 2003. The typical initial terms for our government contracts range from three
years to five years, with most having an initial term of three years. The customer may extend the contracts for
additional years.
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The following table identifies some of our GSA, GWAC and IDIQ contract vehicles that have undefined
scopes and significant ceilings:

Period of Performance

Option Current
Start End End Date Customer Ceiling
FAST ... 09/26/01 09/25/06 09/25/08 U.S. Air Force $ 7.4 billion
GSA corporatecontract . ............. ..., 07/01/01 02/28/05 02/28/20 GSA No Ceiling
SOF Support Services Contract II (SSSCII) .. 09/03/02 09/02/07 09/02/17 U.S. Air Force $440 million
ASC/BPA ... . 08/08/00 09/30/05 None  U.S. AirForce  No Ceiling
GSA Professional Engineering Services
PES) ..o 11/15/99 11/14/04 11/16/14 GSA No Ceiling
Technical Acquisition Support Services .. .. .. 03/31/00 03/30/06  None  U.S. Air Force  No Ceiling
Backlog

Backlog, which consists of funded and unfunded portions, is our estimate of the remaining future revenue
from existing signed contracts, assuming the exercise of all options relating to those contracts. This estimate
includes revenue for solutions that we believe will be provided in the future under the terms of executed,
multiple-award contracts in which we are not the sole provider, meaning that the customers could turn to our
competitors to fulfill the contract. It also includes an estimate of revenue on existing task orders that are under
IDIQ contracts.

We define funded backlog as the portion of backlog for which funding currently is appropriated and
obligated to us under the contract by the purchasing agency or otherwise authorized for payment to us by the
customers upon completion of a specified portion of work, less revenue previously recognized. Our funded
backlog does not include the full potential value of our contracts because Congress often appropriates funds for a
particular program or contract on a yearly or quarterly basis, even though the contract may call for performance
over a number of years.

We define unfunded backlog as the net of the total estimated potential value of our contracts, less revenue
recognized to date. Our assessment of a contract’s potential value is based upon factors such as historical trends,
competition and budget availability. However, there can be no assurance that the unfunded contract value will be
realized as contract revenue or earnings. We review unfunded backlog on a quarterly basis to determine whether
any adjustments are necessary.

The primary source of our backlog is contracts with the federal government. Our estimated backlog at the
end of the two most recently completed fiscal years was as follows:
December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002

Estimated Total Backlog ....................... $ 1.3 billion $ 1.1 billion
FundedBacklog ............ .. ... ... ... ..... $166 million $141 million

Of our funded backlog as of December 31, 2003, approximately 8%, or $13 million, will remain at the end
of the 2004 fiscal year. We have increased our funded backlog by $25 million from December 31, 2002,
primarily due to the acquisition of ICI and Vitronics, which contributed approximately $29 million to funded
backlog, as well as well as funding increases in the ASC/BPA contracts, GSA and other contracts, partially offset
by a decrease in the funded backlog for the FAST contract and for our Technical Acquisition Support Services
contract decrease due to 2003 revenue recognition. Although our funded backlog at December 31, 2003, was
approximately 88% of our revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003, we feel that a more typically
sustainable funded backlog is in the range of 40% to 60% of trailing twelve-month revenue.
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Sales and Marketing

We have a highly disciplined sales and marketing process utilizing the relationships of our senior
management and business development staff. We also seek to leverage existing customer relationships and
respond to competitive solicitations. We identify, assess and respond to new business opportunities quickly. We
draw on the experience and knowledge of senior personnel across the company, including those working on-site
with our customers. We have also established a formal process for evaluating new business opportunities and use
our tracking systems to track the status of each bid opportunity. We have effectively used GSA contracts to
respond quickly to emerging customer requirements.

To supplement and complement our core competencies, we have relationships with industry partners that
enable us to work together on contracts. While we are the prime contractor on most of our contracts, we serve as
subcontractor when teaming in that manner furthers our goals of expanding our customer base or pursuing high
growth markets. :

Foreign Operations

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 100% of our revenue was derived from services
provided under contracts with U.S.-based customers. We treat sales to United States government customers as
sales within the United States, regardless of where the services are performed.

Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately 1,500 employees, including more than 65% with
government security clearances of Secret or higher and approximately 15% with security clearances of Top
Secret or higher. Obtaining a security clearance typically requires a candidate to be sponsored by the government
with respect to a particular requirement, entails extensive background investigations that typically take from six
months to a year'or more and, for the more restricted access, requires successful completion of polygraph testing.
Non-technical employees serve primarily in support roles. None of our employees is a party to any collective
bargaining agreements. We consider our relations with employees to be good.

We believe that we are successful in retaining our employees by offering competitive salary structures,
attractive incentive compensation and benefits programs, career growth opportunities, flexibility in work
assignments and the opportunity to perform mission-critical services, often in classified environments. Before we
pursue external recruiting, we typically offer our current employees the opportunity to respond to new internal
job opportunities.

Competition

We believe that the major competitive factors in our market are strong customer relationships, a reputation
for quality, a record of successful past contract performance, a seasoned management team with domain
expertise, a staff with distinctive technical competencies, security clearances and competitive prices. Our key
competitors currently include divisions of large defense contractors, such as Boeing, Lockheed Martin, Northrop
Grumman, Raytheon, 1.-3 Communications and TRW; engineering and technical services firms such as SAIC,
Jacobs Engineering Group and Anteon; as well as information technology service companies, such as CACI
International, Computer Sciences Corporation and DynCorp. Our strategy to compete with these companies
includes growingour business with existing customers by targeting new outsourcing opportunities and expanding
our customer base by targeting potential U.S. Air Force, U.S. Army and intelligence community customers. As
part of our competitive strategy, we plan to expand our geographic coverage and customer base by selectively
pursuing strategic acquisitions of other service providers. We envision pursuing acquisitions of companies valued
between $10 million and $100 million. We expect that competition in this field will intensify in the future. Some
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of our competitors have longer operating histories, significantly greater research and development, financial,
technological, marketing and human resources capabilities, as well as greater name recognition and a larger
customer base than we have.

Intellectual Property

Our solutions are not generally dependent upon patent protection. To protect our trade secrets, we routinely
enter into confidentiality and non-disciosure agreements with our employees, consultants, subcontractors and
prospective consultants and subcontractors.

Our rights in intellectual property that we develop depend in part on the degree to which the intellectual
property is developed with our private funds, rather than with funds of the federal government. Our federal
government contracts routinely provide that we may retain ownership rights in works of authorship and
inventions developed during the performance of those contracts. However, the rights granted to the federal
government are, from time to time, the subject of negotiation and typically include the right of the federal
government to use and share our intellectual property with other government contractors, making it impossible
for us to prevent their non-exclusive use of our intellectual property. Our ability to protect our rights in
intellectual property developed or delivered under government contracts also is dependent upon our compliance
with applicable federal procurement statutes and regulations. There can be no assurance that the steps we take to
protect our intellectual property will be adequate to deter misappropriation or to prevent use by others of our
intellectual property.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
We are dependent an contracts with the U.S. federal government for substantially all of our revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we derived over 95% of our revenue from federal government
contracts, either as a prime contractor or a subcontractor. We expect that federal government contracts will
continue to be the primary source of our revenue for the foreseeable future. If we were suspended or debarred
from contracting with the federal government generally, or any significant agency in the intelligence community
or Department of Defense, or if our reputation or relationship with government agencies were impaired or the
government otherwise ceased doing business with us or significantly decreased the amount of business it does
with us, our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results would be materially harmed.

We could be debarred or suspended for, among other things, actions or omissions that are deemed by the
government to be so serious or compelling that they affect our contractual responsibilities. For example, we
could be debarred for committing a fraud or criminal offense in connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain
or performing a contract, or for embezzlement, fraud, forgery, falsification or other causes identified in Subpart
9.4 of the Federal Acquisition Regulations. In addition, changes in federal government contracting policies could
directly affect our financial performance. Among the factors that could materially adversely affect our federal
government contracting business are:

* budgetary constraints affecting federal government spending generally, or defense and intelligence
spending in particular, and annual changes in fiscal policies or available funding;

* changes in federal government programs, priorities, procurement policies or requirements;

* new legislation, regulations or government union pressures, on the nature and amount of services the
government may obtain from private contractors;

+ federal governmental shutdowns (such as occurred during the government’s 1996 fiscal year) and other
potential delays in the government appropriations process; and

* delays in the payment of our invoices by government payment offices due to problems with, or upgrades
to, government information systems, or for other reasons.
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These or other factors could cause federal governmental agencies, or prime contractors where we are acting
as a subcontractor, to reduce their purchases under contracts, to exercise their right to terminate contracts or to
not exercise options to renew contracts, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition and operating results.

Our FAST contract is likely to affect our operating results.

FAST is aimultiple award, IDIQ contract with a $7.4 billion ceiling supporting the U.S. Air Force over its
approximate four and a half year remaining life. The FAST contract accounted for approximately 33% of our
2003 revenue. If the FAST contract is terminated, or if we fail to be awarded tasks as anticipated, our revenue
growth could suffer. Although we believe the FAST contract presents an opportunity for significant additional
growth and expansion of our services, we expect that many of the task orders we may be awarded under the
FAST contract will be for program management services, which historically have been less profitable than our
other activities. In addition, the FAST contract involves a significantly greater use of subcontractors than we
have used historically. Margins on subcontractor-based revenue are typically lower than the margins on our
direct work. Since the FAST contract is expected to be a significant part of our business for the next several
years, we anticipate our operating income, as a percentage of total revenue, will diminish.

We face competition, including under the FAST contract, from other firms, some of which have
substantially greater resources, industry presence and name recognition,

We operate in highly competitive markets and generally encounter intense competition to win contracts and
task orders. We compete with many other firms, ranging from small specialized firms to large diversified firms,
some of which have substantially greater financial, management and marketing resources than we do. For
example, under the FAST contract, we regularly compete for task orders with companies that have annual
operating revenue exceeding $20 billion. Our competitors may be able to provide customers with different or
greater capabilities or benefits than we can provide in areas such as geographic presence, price and the
availability of key professional personnel. Our failure to compete effectively with respect to any of these or other
factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results.

Qur revenue will be adversely affected if we are unable to retain our Aeronautical Systems Center Blanket
Purchase Agreement (ASC/BPA) when it expires in September 2005.

Historically, a significant amount of our revenue has been earned under the ASC/BPA. For example,
revenue under the ASC/BPA was approximately 13% and 20% of our total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and the largest task order under the ASC/BPA amounted to
approximately 2% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. The ASC/BPA expires
on September 30, 2005. The ASC/BPA was originally awarded as a small business set aside contract and,
therefore, we may not be able to retain the contract when it expires. Our revenue will be adversely affected if we
are unable to retain the ASC/BPA or if we are unable to convert work previously performed under the ASC/BPA
to other contract vehicles on terms and conditions that are as favorable to us or at all.

If our subcontractors fail to perform their contractual obligations, our prime contract performance and our
ability to obtain future business could be materially and adversely impacted.

Our performance of government contracts may involve the issuance of subcontracts to other companies
upon which we rely to perform all or a portion of the work we are obligated to deliver to our customers. There is
a risk that we may have disputes with subcontractors concerning a number of issues, including the quality and
timeliness of work performed by the subcontractor, customer concerns about the subcontractor, or our decision
not to extend existing task orders or issue new task orders under a subcontract. A failure by one or more of our
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subcontractors to satisfactorily deliver on a timely basis the agreed-upon supplies and/or perform the agreed-
upon services may materially and adversely impact our ability to perform our obligations as a prime contractor.
As we continue to expand into the program management area under the FAST contract, our exposure to this risk
will increase as a result of our reliance on subcontractors that provide specialized products. In extreme cases,
subcontractor performance deficiencies could result in the government terminating our contract for default. A
default termination could expose us to liability for excess costs of reprocurement by the government and have a
material adverse effect on our ability to compete for future contracts and task orders.

Each of our contract types, to differing degrees, involves the risk that we could underestimate our costs,
and, accordingly, a change in our contract mix could increase our risk of incurring losses.

We enter into three types of federal government contracts for our services: time-and-materials, fixed-price
and cost-plus. For the year ended December 31, 2003, we derived 50%, 35% and 15% of our revenue from time-
and-materials, fixed-price and cost-plus contracts, respectively. For 2002, these percentages of revenue were
61%, 24% and 15%, respectively.

Each of these types of contracts, to differing degrees, involves the risk that we could underestimate our cost
of performance, which may result in a reduced profit or a loss on the contract for us. Under time-and-materials
contracts, we are reimbursed for labor at negotiated hourly billing rates and for certain expenses. We assume
minimal financial risk on time-and-materials contracts because we only assume the risk of performing those
contracts at negotiated hourly rates. Under fixed-price contracts, we perform specific tasks for a fixed price,
which means we assume higher risk. Compared to time-and-materials and cost-plus contracts, fixed-price
contracts generally offer higher margin opportunities, but involve greater financial risk because we bear the
impact of cost overruns and receive the benefit of cost savings. Under cost-plus contracts, we are reimbursed for
allowable costs and paid a fee, which may be fixed or performance-based. To the extent that the actual costs
incurred in performing a cost-plus contract are within the contract ceiling and allowable under the terms of the
contract and applicable regulations, we are entitled to reimbursement of our costs, plus a profit. However, if our
costs exceed the ceiling or are not allowable under the terms of the contract or applicable regulations, we may not
be able to recover those costs. Because we assume the most risk for cost overruns and contingent losses on fixed-
price contracts, an increase in the percentage of fixed-price contracts in our contract mix would increase our risk
of suffering losses.

Our profits could be adversely affected if our costs under any of these contracts exceed the assumptions we
used in bidding for the contract. Although we believe that we have recorded adequate provisions in our
consolidated financial statements for losses on our contracts, our contract loss provisions may not be adequate to
cover all actual losses that we may incur in the future.

Our quarterly operating results may vary widely.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results may fluctuate significantly in the future. A number of factors
cause our revenue, cash flow and operating results to vary from quarter to quarter, including:

« fluctuations in revenue earned on fixed-price contracts and contracts with a performance-based fee
structure;

» commencement, completion or termination of contracts during any particular quarter;
« timing of spending activities by the federal government;
* variable purchasing patterns under government GSA schedules, BPAs and IDIQ contracts;

+ changes in Presidential administrations, Congressional majorities and other senior federal government
officials that affect the funding of programs;
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» changes in policy or budgetary measures that adversely affect government contracts in general;

* the timing, nature and cost of hardware requirements for our program management services, particularly
in light of our expected expansion of these services under the FAST contract; and

» scheduling of holidays and vacations, which reduce revenue without a significant reduction in costs.

Changes in the volume of services provided under existing contracts and the number of contracts
commenced, completed or terminated during any quarter may cause significant variations in our cash flow from
operations because a relatively large amount of our expenses are fixed. We incur significant operating expenses
during the start-up and early stages of large contracts and typically do not receive corresponding payments in that
same quarter. We may also incur significant or unanticipated expenses when contracts expire, are terminated or
are not renewed. In addition, payments due to us from government agencies may be delayed due to billing cycles
or as a result of failures of governmental budgets to gain Congressional and Executive approval in a timely
manner.

Our senior management is important to our customer relationships.

‘We believe that our success depends in large part on the continued contributions of our senior management
team. We rely on our executive officers and senior managers to generate business and execute programs
successfully. In addition, the relationships and reputations that members of our management team have
established and continue to maintain with government and military personnel contribute to our ability to maintain
good customer relations and to identify new business opportunities. The loss of any member of our senior
management team could impair our ability to identify and secure new contracts.

Failure to maintain strong relationships with other contractors or subcontractors could result in a decline
in our revenue.

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we derived approximately 17% and 23%, respectively, of
our revenue from; contracts in which we acted as a subcontractor to other contractors or from teaming activities in
which we and other contractors have formed to bid on and execute particular contracts or programs. We expect to
continue to depend on relationships with other contractors for a portion of our revenue in the foreseeable future.
Our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results could be adversely affected if other contractors
eliminate or reduce their subcontracts or teaming relationships with us, either because they choose to establish
relationships with our competitors or because they choose to directly offer services that compete with our
business, or if the government terminates or reduces these other contractors’ programs or does not award them
new contracts. Consolidation in the industry may result in increased cost and lack of availability of
subcontractors, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition or operating results.

We must recruit and retain skilled employees to succeed in our labor-intensive business.

We believe that an integral part of our success is our ability to provide our customers with skilled employees
who have advanced information technology and engineering technical services skills and who work well with our
customers. These employees are in great demand and are likely to remain a limited resource in the foreseeable
future. If we are unable to recruit and retain a sufficient number of these employees, our ability to maintain and
grow our business could be negatively impacted. We obtain some of our contracts on the strength of certain
personnel our customers consider key to our successful performance under these contracts. If we are unable to
hire and retain these key personnel, these customers may not continue to fund the contracts or award task orders
to us.
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If we fail to manage our growth, including the expansion of our program management activities under the
FAST contract, our revenue and earnings could be adversely impacted.

Our business strategy is to continue to expand our operations, including the expansion of our program
management activities under the FAST contract. This strategy may strain our management, operational and
financial resources. If we make mistakes in deploying our financial or operational resources or fail to hire the
additional qualified personnel necessary to support higher levels of business, our revenue and earnings could be
adversely affected.

Covenants in our credit facility may restrict our financial and operating flexibility.

Although we have not had any outstanding borrowings under any credit facility since shortly after our initial
public offering, we have established a credit facility with a group of lenders. This credit facility, as recently
amended, provides for an initial line of credit of $55 million. At our request, the total line of credit may increase
to $80 million, subject to the lenders’ approval and our satisfaction of certain conditions.

We are subject to certain covenants that limit or restrict our ability, among other things, to borrow money
outside of the amounts committed under our credit facility; to make acquisitions; to dispose of our assets outside
the ordinary course of business; to use borrowings for particular purposes; to create or hold subsidiaries; to
transfer equity interests in subsidiaries; to extend credit or become a guarantor; to encumber our property or
assets; to invest more than a limited amount in fixed assets or improvements; to change our accounting policies
or the nature of our business; to purchase real estate; to merge or consolidate; and to pay dividends. The
agreement also requires us to maintain specified financial standards relating to our tangible net worth, our net
worth, our fixed charge coverage, our interest coverage and the ratio of our funded indebtedness to our adjusted
earnings. We are also subject to other financial covenants that are typical to an agreement of this type. In
addition, the ratio of our funded indebtedness to our adjusted earnings can affect the interest rates we pay, even if
we satisfy the minimum required standard. Our ability to satisfy these standards can be affected by events beyond
our control, and we cannot assure you that we will satisfy them. We have pledged substantially all our personal
property to secure our repayment of any borrowings that we make under our credit facility. Any default by us
under our credit agreement could have a material adverse effect on our business if our creditors do not waive the
default. In addition, any refusal by our lenders to consent to certain transactions could prohibit us from
undertaking actions that are necessary to maintain or expand our business.

We may have difficulty identifying and completing acquisitions on favorable terms and, therefore, may
grow at slower than anticipated rates.

While we have limited acquisition experience, one of our key growth strategies is to selectively pursue
acquisitions of companies that provide services to specific governmental agencies. Since our initial public
offering, we have completed acquisitions of three complementary businesses. Through acquisitions, we hope to
expand our base of federal government clients, increase the range of solutions that we offer our clients and
deepen our penetration of existing clients. We may encounter difficulty identifying suitable acquisition
candidates at prices that we consider appropriate. Even if we identify an appropriate acquisition candidate, we
may not be able to negotiate satisfactory terms for the acquisition or finance the acquisition. If we fail to
complete acquisitions, we may not grow as rapidly as the market expects, which could adversely affect the
market price of our common stock.

We may have difficulty integrating the operations of any companies that we acquire, which may adversely
affect our results of operations.

The success of our acquisition strategy will depend upon our ability to successfully integrate any businesses
that we may acquire into our existing business. The integration of acquired business operations could disrupt our
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business by resulting in unforeseen operating difficulties, diverting management’s attention from day-to-day
operations and requiring significant financial resources that would otherwise be used for the ongoing
development of our business. The difficulties of integration may be increased by the necessity of coordinating
geographically dispersed organizations, integrating personnel with disparate business backgrounds and
combining different corporate cultures. We also may not realize cost efficiencies or synergies that we anticipated
when selecting our acquisition candidates. Further, our decision to acquire a company may not be driven by cost
efficiencies, synergies or increasing revenue. For example, we may seek to acquire one or more of our
subcontractors because we do not want to risk losing our relationship with the subcontractor if it is acquired by
one of our competitors. In addition, we may need to record write-downs from future impairments of intangible
assets, which could reduce our future reported earnings. At times, acquisition candidates may have liabilities or
adverse operating issues that we fail to discover through due diligence prior to the acquisition. Any of these
outcomes could adversely affect our results of operations.

RISKS RELATED TO GOVERNMENT CONTRACTING
Federal government spending priorities may change in a manner adverse to our business.

Our business depends upon continued federal government expenditures on intelligence, defense and other
programs that we support. The overall U.S. defense budget declined from time to time in the late 1980s and the
early 1990s. While spending authorizations for intelligence and defense-related programs by the government
have increased in recent years, and in particular after the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, future levels of
expenditures and authorizations for those programs may decrease, remain constant or shift to programs in areas
where we do not currently provide services. A significant decline in government expenditures, or a shift of
expenditures away from programs that we support, could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condition or operating results.

Our federal government contracts may be terminated by the government at any time, and if we do not
replace them, our operating results may be adversely affected.

We derive most of our revenue from federal government contracts that typically span one or more base
years and one or more option years. The option periods may cover more than half of the contract’s potential
duration. Federal government agencies generally have the right not to exercise these option periods. In addition,
our contracts typically also contain provisions permitting a government customer to terminate the contract for its
convenience, as well as for our default. A decision by a government agency not to exercise option periods or to
terminate contracts could result in significant revenue shortfalls.

If the government terminates a contract for convenience, we may recover only our incurred or committed
costs, settlement .expenses and profit on work completed prior to the termination. We cannot recover anticipated
profit on terminated work. If the government terminates a contract for default, we may not recover even those
amounts, and instead may be liable for excess costs incurred by the government in procuring undelivered items
and services from another source.

Federal government contracts contain other provisions that may be unfavorable to contractors.

Federal government contracts contain provisions and are subject to laws and regulations that give the
government rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts. As described above, these allow the
government {o terminate a contract for convenience or decline to exercise an option to renew. They also permit
the government to do the following:

» reduce or modify contracts or subcontracts;
« cancel multi-year contracts and related orders if funds for contract performance for any subsequent year

become unavailable;
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+ claim rights in products and systems produced by us; and

» suspend or debar us from doing business with the federal government.

We must comply with complex procurement laws and regulations.

We must comply with and are affected by laws and regulations relating to the formation, administration and
performance of federal government contracts, which affect how we do business with our customers and may
impose added costs on our business. Among the most significant regulations are:

+ the Federal Acquisition Regulations, and agency regulations supplemental to the Federal Acquisition
Regulations, which comprehensively regulate the formation, administration and performance of
government contracts;

» the Truth in Negotiations Act, which requires certification and disclosure of all cost and pricing data in
connection with contract negotiations;

« the Cost Accounting Standards and Cost Principles, which impose accounting requirements that govern
our right to reimbursement under certain cost-based government contracts; and

* laws, regulations and executive orders restricting the use and dissemination of information classified for
national security purposes and the exportation of certain products and technical data.

Moreover, we are subject to industrial security regulations of the Department of Defense and other federal
agencies that are designed to safeguard against foreigners’ access to classified information. If we were to come
under foreign ownership, control or influence, our federal government customers could terminate or decide not to
renew our contracts, and it could impair our ability to obtain new contracts.

Our contracts are subject to audits and cost adjustments by the federal government.

The federal government audits and reviews our performance on contracts, pricing practices, cost structure
and compliance with applicable laws, regulations and standards. Like most large government contractors, our
direct and indirect contract costs are audited and reviewed on a continual basis. Although audits have been
completed on our incurred contract costs through 2000, audits for costs incurred or work performed after 2000
remain ongoing and, for much of our work in recent years, have not yet commenced. In addition, non-audit
reviews by the government may still be conducted on all our government contracts. An audit of our work,
including an audit of work performed by companies we have acquired or may acquire, could result in a
substantial adjustment to our revenue because any costs found to be improperly allocated to a specific contract
will not be reimbursed, and revenue we have already recognized may need to be refunded. If a government
review or investigation uncovers improper or illegal activities, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties
and administrative sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeiture of claims and profits, suspension of
payments, treble damages, statutory penalties, fines and suspension or debarment from doing business with
federal government agencies, which could materially adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition
or operating results. In addition, we could suffer serious harm to our reputation if allegations of impropriety were
made against us.

Restrictions on or other changes to the federal government’s use of service contracts may harm our
operating results.

We derive a significant amount of revenue from service contracts with the federal government. The
government may face restrictions from new legislation, regulations or government union pressures on the nature
and amount of services the government may obtain from private contractors. For example, the Truthfulness,
Responsibility and Accountability in Contracting Act, proposed in 2001, would have limited and severely
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delayed the government’s ability to use private service contractors. Although this proposal was not enacted, it or
similar legislation could be proposed at any time. Any reduction in the government’s use of private contractors to
provide services 'would adversely impact our business.

Our participation in the competitive bidding process, from which we derive significant revenue, presents a
number of risks.

We derive significant revenue from federal government contracts that were awarded through a competitive
bidding process. Most of the business that we expect to seek in the foreseeable future likely will be awarded
through competitive bidding. Competitive bidding presents a number of risks, including the:

» need to'bid on programs in advance of the completion of their design, which may result in unforeseen
technological difficulties and cost overruns;

« substantial cost and managerial time and effort that we spend to prepare bids and proposals for contracts
that may not be awarded to us;

* need to accurately estimate the resources and cost structure that will be required to service any contract
we are awarded; and

» expense and delay that may arise if our competitors protest or challenge contract awards made to us
pursuant to competitive bidding, and the risk that any such protest or challenge could result in the
resubmission of bids on modified specifications, or in termination, reduction or modification of the
awarded contract.

In addition, pricing pressures may arise from increased competition and therefore reduce our operating
margins.

If we are unable to win particular contracts that are awarded through the competitive bidding process, we
may not be able 'to operate in the market for services that are provided under those contracts for a number of
years. If we are unable to consistently win new contract awards over any extended period, our business and
prospects will be ‘adversely affected.

We may not receive the full amount authorized under contracts that we have entered into and may not
accurately estimate our backlog and GSA schedule contract value.

The maximum contract value specified under a government contract that we enter into is not necessarily
indicative of revenue that we will realize under that contract. For example, we derive some of our revenue from
government contracts in which we are not the sole provider, meaning that the government could turn to other
companies to fulfill the contract, and from IDIQ contracts, which specify a maximum but only a token minimum
amount of goods or services that may be provided under the contract. In addition, Congress often appropriates
funds for a particular program on a yearly basis, even though the contract may call for performance that is
expected to take a number of years. As a result, contracts typically are only partially-funded at any point during
their term, and all or some of the work to be performed under the contracts may remain unfunded unless and until
Congress makes ‘subsequent appropriations and the procuring agency allocates funding to the contract. As
described above, most of our existing contracts are subject to modification and termination at the federal
government’s discretion. Moreover, we cannot assure you that any contract included in our estimated contract
value that generates revenue will be profitable. Nevertheless, we look at these contract values, including values
based on the assumed exercise of options relating to these contracts, in estimating the amount of our backlog.
Because we may not receive the full amount we expect under a contract, our backlog may not accurately estimate
our revenue. Also, in recent years we have been deriving an increasing percentage of our revenue under GSA
schedules. GSA schedules are procurement vehicles under which government agencies may, but are not required
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to, purchase professional services or products. We have developed a method of calculating GSA schedule value
that we use to evaluate estimates for the revenue we may receive under our GSA schedules. We believe our
method of determining GSA schedule value is based on reasonable estimates and assumptions. However, there
can be no assurance that our methodology accurately estimates GSA schedule value. Estimates of future revenue
included in backlog and GSA schedule value are not necessarily precise and the receipt and timing of any of this
revenue is subject to various contingencies, many of which are beyond our control. For a discussion of these
contingencies, see “Business—Backlog”. We may never realize the revenue on programs included in backlog
and GSA schedule value.

Security breaches in classified government systems could adversely affect our business.

Many of the programs we support and systems we develop, install and maintain involve managing and
protecting information involved in intelligence, national security and other classified government functions. A
security breach in one of these systems could cause serious harm to our business, damage our reputation and
prevent us from being eligible for further work on critical classified systems for federal government customers.
Losses that we could incur from such a security breach could exceed the policy limits that we have for errors and
omissions insurance, which generally do not exceed $1 million per task order awarded.

Our business is dependent upon obtaining and maintaining required security clearances.

Many of our federal government contracts require our employees to maintain various levels of security
clearances, and we are required to maintain certain facility security clearances complying with federal
government requirements. Obtaining and maintaining security clearances for employees involves a lengthy
process, and it is difficult to identify, recruit and retain employees who already hold security clearances. If our
employees are unable to obtain or retain security clearances or if our employees who hold security clearances
terminate employment with us, the customer whose work requires cleared employees could terminate the
contract or decide not to renew it upon its expiration. In addition, we expect that many of the contracts on which
we will bid will require us to demonstrate our ability to obtain facility security clearances and perform work with
employees who hold specified types of security clearances. To the extent we are not able to obtain facility
security clearances or engage employees with the required security clearances for a particular contract, we may
not be able to bid on or win new contracts, or effectively re-compete on expiring contracts or follow-on task
orders.

Qur employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities.

We are exposed to the risk that employee fraud or other misconduct could occur. Misconduct by employees
could include intentional failures to comply with federal government procurement regulations and failing to
disclose unauthorized activities to us. Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of our
customers’ sensitive or classified information, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our
reputation. It is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to
detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses.

RISKS RELATED TO OUR COMMON STOCK

Our stock price may be extremely volatile, and you may not be able to resell your shares at or above your
acquisition price.

Prior to June 28, 2002, there was no public market for our common stock. An active trading market for our
common stock may not be sustained, which could affect your ability to sell your shares.
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Additionally, the price of our common stock may fluctuate widely, depending upon many factors, including:
* our perceived prospects;
» the prospects of the information technology and government contracting industries in general;

» differences between our actual financial and operating resuits and those expected by investors and
analysts;

» changes in analysts’ recommendations or projections;
» changes in general valuations for information technology and technical services companies; and

» changes in general economic or market conditions and broad market fluctuations.

Sustained threats of terrorist attacks and global unrest contributed to an economic slowdown and to
instability in the U.S. and other global financial equity markets. The armed hostilities that were initiated as a
result of these attacks and future responses by the federal government may lead to further acts of terrorism in the
United States or elsewhere, and such developments could cause instability in global financial markets. All of
these factors may increase the volatility of, or decrease, our stock price and could have a material adverse etfect
on your investment in our common stock. As a result, our common stock may trade at prices significantly below
your acquisition price, and you could lose all or part of your investment in the event you choose to sell your
shares.

Mr. Soin, who is our founder and Chairman of our board of directors, will continue to have a significant
ownership interest in our company.

After giving effect to the latest public offering completed in February 2004, Mr. Soin owns or controls
approximately 35.7% of the voting power and outstanding shares of our common stock. Accordingly, Mr. Soin
will have significant influence on all matters submitted to a vote of the holders of our common stock. Mr. Soin’s
voting power may have the effect of discouraging transactions involving an actual or a potential change of
control of our company, regardless of whether a premium is offered over then-current market prices.

We currently conduct, and in the past we have conducted, business with entities that are controlled by or
otherwise related to Mr. Soin.

The interests of Mr. Soin may conflict with the interests of other holders of our common stock.

We have contracts with entities that are owned or controlled by, or otherwise affiliated with, Mr. Soin.

We currently lease one of our properties from BC Real Properties, LLC, which is controlled by Mr. Soin.
We have also made arrangements to use aircraft owned by Mr. Soin’s family limited partnership or jointly owned
by Mr. Soin’s family limited partnership and us. From time to time, we enter into subcontracting relationships
with other government contractors that are affiliated with Mr. Soin. While we believe that the terms and
conditions of these agreements with entities owned or controlled by, or otherwise affiliated with, Mr. Soin reflect
or will reflect prevailing market conditions, we cannot assure you that they are or will be as favorable to us as the
terms and conditions that might be negotiated by independent parties on an arm’s-length basis.

A substantial number of shares of our common stock are eligible for sale by Mr. Soin, which could affect
the market price of our common stock.

After giving effect to our recent public offering completed in February 2004, based on the number of shares
of our common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2003, approximately 15,460,946 shares of our common
stock will be outstanding. Of these shares, Mr. Soin will beneficially own 5,525,752 shares, or approximately
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35.7% of our outstanding common stock, all of which will be eligible for sale by Mr. Soin under Rule 144 of the
Securities Act, subject to the volume restriction and manner of sale requirements imposed on affiliates. However,
as a result of the contractual lock-up restriction described below, Mr. Soin will be restricted from selling any
shares for a limited time period after the date of the prospectus related to our recent public offering.

We cannot predict the effect that any future sales of shares of our common stock by Mr. Soin, or the
availability of such shares for sale, will have on the market price of our common stock. We believe that sales of
substantial numbers of shares of our common stock by Mr. Soin, or the perception that such sales could occur,
could depress or otherwise adversely affect the market price of our common stock, which could make it difficult
or impossible for us to sell additional shares of common stock when we need to raise capital.

In conjunction with our recent public offering completed in February 2004, Mr. Soin has entered into a lock-
up agreement with the underwriters and us pursuant to which he agreed not to sell, pledge or otherwise dispose of
his shares, without the prior written consent of Legg Mason Wood Walker, Incorporated and Raymond James &
Associates, Inc., for a period of 180 days after the date of the prospectus related to our recent public offering.
After this lock-up agreement expires, Mr. Soin’s shares can be sold in the public market. Legg Mason Wood
Walker, Incorporated and Raymond James & Associates, Inc., on behalf of the underwriters, may release Mr.
Soin from his lock-up agreement at any time and without notice, which would allow for earlier sale of shares in
the public market.

Under a registration rights agreement, Mr. Soin has “demand” registration rights as well as “piggyback”
registration rights in connection with future offerings of our common stock. “Demand” registration rights will
allow Mr. Soin to cause us to file a registration statement registering all or some of his shares. “Piggyback™
registration rights will require us to provide notice to Mr. Soin if we propose to register any of our securities
under the Securities Act and grant him the right to include his shares in our registration statement. If Mr. Soin
exercises these registration rights, he will be able to sell his shares included on a registration statement without
the volume restriction and manner of sale requirements imposed on affiliates under Rule 144,

Provisions in our charter documents could make a merger, tender offer or proxy contest difficult.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our
company that stockholders may consider favorable. In addition, provisions in our certificate of incorporation and
bylaws and in the Delaware corporate law may make it difficult for stockholders to change the composition of
the board of directors in any one year and thus may make it difficult to change the composition of management.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws:

« authorize the issuance of blank check preferred stock that could be issued by our board of directors to
thwart a takeover attempt;

» prohibit camulative voting in the election of directors, which would otherwise allow holders of less than
a majority of the stock to elect some directors;

+ stagger our board of directors, making it more difficult to elect a majority of the directors on our board
and preventing our directors from being removed without cause;

+ limit who may call special meetings of stockholders;

+ prohibit stockholder action by written consent, requiring all actions to be taken at a meeting of the
stockholders;

+ establish advance notice requirements for nominating candidates for election to our board of directors or
for proposing matters that can be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetings; and

» require that vacancies on our board of directors, including newly-created directorships, be fiiled only by
a majority vote of directors then in office.
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In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a
change in control by prohibiting the Company from engaging in a business combination with an interested
stockholder for a period of three years after the person becomes an interested stockholder.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following table identifies our executive officers and indicates their ages and positions as of December
31, 2003:

Name E Position

RajeshK.Soin ................. 56 Chairman of the Board and Director

David S. Gutridge ............... 57  Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Director

John E. Longhouser ............. 60 President

Michael I. Gearhardt . ............ 49  Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer
BenjaminD.Crane .............. 68 Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President
Donald H. Weisert .............. 60 Senior Vice President and Assistant Chief Operating Officer
HughK.Bolton.................. 45  Senior Vice President

James C.Clark ................. 62  Senior Vice President

Rebecca S. Morgann ............. 56  Vice President, Director of Contracts

Robert S. Zangri ................ 56  Vice President, Controller

Set forth below is biographical information for our executive officers:

Rajesh K. Soin has served as our Chairman of the Board since May 1984 and Chief Executive Officer from
1984 until May 2002. Mr. Soin has also served as Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer of Soin International, LLC, a holding company previously known as MTC International, LLC and an
affiliate of ours, since 1998.

David S. Gutridge has served as Chief Executive Officer of MTC Technologies, Inc. since October 2003
and as Secretary since April 2002. He also served as Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Executive Vice
President from April 2002 until his appointment as Chief Executive Officer in October 2003. Mr. Gutridge joined
us in 1993 and served as a Group President and Chief Operating Officer for us or one of our affiliates until
becoming our Chief Financial Officer in April 2002. Prior to joining us, Mr. Gutridge had an extensive business
career including approximately 12 years with the Fortune 500 company, Dayco Corp., where he was a director
and held various offices such as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, and President and Chief
Operating Officer. Mr. Gutridge has been a director of ours since 2002.

John E. Longhouser, Retired Major General, U.S. Army, was appointed President in November 2003. From
July 2003 to November 2003, he served as our Senior Vice President for Land Forces and Strategic Planning.
Before joining us, he served as Senior Vice President, U.S. Army Programs for Burdeshaw Associates Ltd., a
defense industry. consulting firm, from 1997 to 2003. Prior to joining Burdeshaw Associates, Mr. Longhouser
served in the U!S. Army for 33 years, culminating with his appointment as Commanding General, U.S. Army
Test and Evaluation Command, at Aberdeen Proving Ground, Maryland.

Michael I. Gearhardr has served as Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice President and Treasurer since
October 2003. From 2001 until he joined us, Mr. Gearhardt served as President for the worldwide operations of
Carlisle Power Transmission Products, Inc., an industrial power transmission products manufacturer. From 1991
to 2001, Mr. Gearhardt served in various financial roles within Mark IV Industries, at the time a publicly traded
automotive and industrial manufacturing company, including three years as Executive Vice President and Chief
'Financial Officer of the Industrial Division.
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Benjamin D. Crane, Retired Colonel, U.S. Air Force, joined us in 1987 and has served as our Chief
Operating Officer since January 2000. Mr. Crane served as our Director of Aerospace Division from 1991 to
2000, Central Region Planner from 1991 to 1994, Director of Project Management from 1989 to 1991 and Senior
Manager for U.S. Air Force contracts from 1987 to 1989. Prior to joining us, Mr. Crane served in the U.S. Air
Force for 29 years, concluding as the Deputy Commander Strategic Systems Program.

Donald H. Weisert, Retired Colonel, U.S. Air Force, joined us in 1992 and serves as our Senior Vice
President and Assistant Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Weisert served as our Vice President and Director from
1999 to 2002, Department Manager from 1994 to 1999 and Program Manager from 1992 to 1994. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Weisert served in the U.S. Air Force for 26 years, concluding as the Chief of Engineering and
Manufacturing Development of the B-2 Advanced Technology Bomber Program Office.

Hugh K. Bolton joined us in 1992 and serves as our Senior Vice President with direct oversight of all
intelligence community business operations. Mr. Bolton served as our Vice President and Director from 1999 to
2002, and in various technical and management positions from 1992 to 1999. Prior to joining us, Mr. Bolton
served in the U.S. Air Force supporting highly sensitive programs within the U.S. Air Force and U.S. intelligence
community.

James C. Clark, Retired Colonel, U.S. Air Force, joined us in 1991 and serves as our Senior Vice President
with direct oversight of all our engineering business operations. Mr. Clark served as our Vice President and Director
from 1999 to 2002, and in various technical and management positions from 1991 to 1999. Prior to joining us,
Mr. Clark served in the U.S. Air Force for 26 years, concluding as the Chief, Logistics Research Division.

Rebecca §. Morgann, joined us in 1994 and serves as Vice President and Director of Contracts. Ms. Morgann
served as our Manager of Contracts and our Director of Contracts prior to her promotion to Vice President.
Ms. Morgann has more than 25 years experience in contract management and government and commercial
purchasing.

Robert S. Zangri, joined us in 2000 and serves as Vice President and Controller. Mr. Zangri has served as
our Controller since 2000 and was promoted to Vice President in 2002. Prior to joining us, Mr. Zangri had an
extensive business career including five years as a Director of Finance for the North American Powder Metal
Division of Federal-Mogul, an automotive parts manufacturer. Prior to working for Federal-Mogul, Mr. Zangri
served for fourteen years in various accounting positions with Leland Electrosystems, Inc., a manufacturer of
aircraft electrical power and power control systems primarily used in military applications. Mr. Zangri served his
last five years with Leland Electrosytems as Chief Financial Officer.

Each such officer shall hold such office until a successor is selected and qualified.

Available Information

The Company makes available free of charge on or through its Internet website its annual report on Form
10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 as soon as reasonably
practicable after it electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The Company’s Internet address is http://www.mtctechnologies.com. The information contained on
the Company’s website is not incorporated by reference in this annual report on Form 10-K and should not be
considered a part of this report.

Item 2. Properties

We have maintained our corporate headquarters in Dayton, Ohio since 1984. We presently lease an
approximately 53,000 square foot facility at 4032 Linden Avenue. The lease expires on November 16, 2018.
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We lease a total of 188,668 square feet in 26 locations throughout the United States, 188,354 square feet of
which is used by us and 314 square feet of which is subleased by us to other parties. Our aggregate monthly lease
payment is approximately $178,000. Our customers pay directly for approximately 4.8% of our total square footage,
accounting for $114,096 of our total monthly payment.

We maintain one Sensitive Compartmented Information Facility, comprising approximately 3,500 square
feet in Dayton, Ohio. This is a reinforced facility with multiple secure zomes, protected electronically and
restricted to special classified “need to know” program access. This facility 1s also cleared for Top-Secret
Sensitive Compartmented Information (SCI) and Special Access data handling and storage. Five of our other
locations in the United States are cleared for secret handling and storage.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are involved in legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. We do
not believe that any pending litigation will have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations. For more information, please see Note P to our audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2003.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the year ended December
31, 2003, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise. We intend to present the following matters to a vote of
security holders in connection with the Company’s 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders on April 21, 2004:

1. Elect two directors
. Ratify the selection of Ernst & Young LLP as independent accountants
3. Transact any other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting of Stockholders

PART IL.

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Market Information

Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market, and began trading under the symbol “MTCT”
on June 28, 2002. As of December 31, 2003, there were 13,210,946 shares of common stock outstanding that
were held by approximately 1,900 stockholders, five of which were stockholders of record.
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The following table lists the high and low per share sales prices for our common stock as quoted on the
Nasdaq Stock Market, where the stock trades under the symbol “MTCT” for the periods indicated. See Dividend
Policy below.

Sales Price
High Low

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Second quarter (from June 28, 2002 though June 30,2002) ............ $20.25 $18.80
Third quarter ........ ... 22.66 1565
Fourthquarter ....... ... ... ... i e 26.10  20.30
Year Ended December 31, 2003

First QUarter . ... ... ut e $25.50 $17.10
Second qUarter . ....... .. 27.14 1642
Thirdquarter . ... 2840 2145
Fourth quarter .......... ... . i 3341 2275

Dividend Policy

We currently intend to retain any future earnings to support the development and expansion of our business
and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Payment of future dividends will be at the
discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition,
operating results, cash needs, growth plans and the terms of any credit agreements that we may be a party to at
the time. Our current credit facility has limitations on our ability to pay dividends. In addition, the terms of any
future credit agreement may prevent us from paying any dividends or making any distributions or payments with
respect to our capital stock.

All of our assets consist of the stock of one of our subsidiaries. We will have to rely upon dividends and
other payments from our subsidiaries to generate the funds necessary to make dividend payments, if any, on our
common stock. Our subsidiaries, however, are legally distinct from us and have no obligation to pay amounts to
us. The ability of our subsidiaries to make dividend and other payments to us is subject to, among other things,
the availability of funds, the terms of our subsidiaries’ indebtedness and applicable state laws.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The tables shown below set forth selected consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31,
1999 through 2003. There were no cash dividends declared or paid in any of the periods presented. Prior to
June 28, 2002, we were an S corporation for income tax purposes, and as a consequence, we paid no federal
income tax and paid only certain state income taxes.

This selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and the related notes included

elsewhere in this document.

Income statement data:
Revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
excluding management fees to related
party and stock compensation
expense
Management fees to related party(1) . ...
Stock compensation expense(2)

Total general and administrative
CXPENSES. v vt
Intangible asset. amortization(3)

Operating income
Net interest expense (income)

Income from continuing operations
before income tax expense
Income tax expense

Income from continuing operations . ...
Loss from discontinued operations(4) . . .

Net income

Basic and diluted earnings per common
share from continuing operations . . ..

Weighted average basic shares
outstanding

Weighted average diluted shares
outstanding

Balance sheet data:
‘Working capital
Total assets
Long-term obligations
Stockholders’ equity (deficiency in net

assets)

Year Ending December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

188,707 $ 118,540 $ 92,590 $ 75961 § 70,319
158,058 96,356 75,248 61,866 59,069
30,649 22,184 17,342 14,095 11,250
9,525 7,792 5,074 4,965 5,435
— 556 2,395 2,549 1,015

— 5,215 — — —
9,525 13,563 7,469 7,514 6,450

742 119 1,086 471 —
20,382 8,502 8,787 6,110 4,800
(288) 160 570 618 425
20,670 8,342 8,217 5,492 4,375

8,181 656 —_ — —
12,489 7,686 8,217 5,492 4,375

— — (453) (1,182) 2,877)
12,489 $ 7,686 $ 7,764 3 4310 $ 1,498
095 $ 0.67 $ 083 % 0356 $ 0.27
13,083,578 11,405,351 9,887,482 9,887,482 16,479,961
13,185,424 11,538,802 9,887,482 9,887,482 16,479,961
Year Ending December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

32539 $ 36,895 $ 10,115 $§ 11,311 § 7,865
102,267 71,488 25,734 41,003 29,864
— — 13,075 18,418 15,262
65,235 49,778 (121) 10,913 4,461
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(1) The management fees to a related party were paid to a wholly owned affiliate of our then sole stockholder.
The nature of the services received from the affiliate included our then sole stockholder’s services as our
Chief Executive Officer, assistance with negotiating financing arrangements, assistance with evaluating
acquisition candidates and legal services. These fees ceased on March 31, 2002. Although the management
fees have been eliminated, most of these costs have been replaced on an annual recurring basis, and by
virtue of being a public company, we now incur certain general and administrative costs not previously
incurred.

(2) Non-cash stock compensation expense of $5.2 million was recognized in March 2002, in connection with
the issuance to three senior executives of non-qualified options to purchase 415,273 shares of common stock
pursuant to Rule 701 under the Securities Act of 1933. The charge represents the difference between the
option price of $4.19 and the estimated fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant of $16.75
per share. For more information, please see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” and Note N to our consolidated financial statements.

(3) We adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, effective January 1, 2002, and
discontinued the amortization of goodwill as of that date. In addition, we achieved full amortization of the
purchase price aliocated to the contracts of RJO Enterprises, Inc., in September 2001. The intangible asset
amortization in 2002 and 2003 relates to the purchase price allocated to the acquisitions that were made in
the fourth quarter of 2002 and 2003.

(4) In anticipation of our initial public offering, we disposed of or discontinued substantially all of our
operations that were not related to our core business. For more information, please see “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Discontinued Operations™ and
Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with “Selected Consolidated Financial
Data” and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.
Portions of this document that are not statements of historical or current fact are forward-looking statements.
The forward-looking statements in this document involve risk and uncertainties, such as statements of our plans,
objectives, expectations and intentions. The cautionary statements made in this document should be read as
applying to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear. Our actual results could differ
materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause our actual results
to differ materially from those anticipated include, but are not limited to, the following: risks related to the
growth of our FAST contract, including strains on resources and decreases in operating margins, federal
government audits and cost adjustments; differences between authorized amounts and amounts received by us
under government contracts; government customers’ failure to exercise options under contracts; changes in
federal government (or other applicable) procurement laws, regulations, policies and budgets; our ability to
attract and retain qualified personnel; our ability to retain contracts during re-bidding processes, pricing
pressures; undertaking acquisitions that might increase our costs or liabilities or be disruptive; integration of
acquisitions; and changes in general economic and business conditions.

Overview

We provide sophisticated systems engineering, information technology, intelligence and program
management services, primarily to U.S. defense, intelligence and civilian federal government agencies. Our
services encompass the full system life cycle from requirements definition, design, development and integration
to upgrade, sustainment and support for mission critical information and weapons systems. For the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002, about 95% and §7%, respectively, of our revenue was derived from our customers
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in the Department of Defense and the intelligence community, including the U.S. Air Force, U.S. Army and joint
military commands. Having served the Department of Defense since our founding in 1984, we believe we are
well positioned to assist the federal government as it increases its focus on modernizing defense capabilities and
maintaining national security.

We report operating results and financial data as a single segment and believe our contract base is well
diversified. However, a significant amount of our revenue has in recent years been earned under two contracts,
the ASC/BPA and the FAST contract. Revenue under the ASC/BPA was approximately 13% and 20% of our
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The largest task order under the
ASC/BPA amounted to approximately 2% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002. The
ASC/BPA, which was originally awarded as a small business set aside contract, expires on September 30, 2005
and our ability ito retain this contract is uncertain. It is possible that some of our current work under the ASC/
BPA could be converted to GSA schedules or other contract vehicles.

In July 2001, we were one of six awardees of the FAST contract with a ceiling of $7.4 billion and with a
period of performance, including option years, which extends to 2008. Revenue under the FAST contract was
approximately 33% and 17% of total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
FAST revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 was comprised of 48 separate task orders, the largest of
which amounted to approximately 6% of total revenue for that period. In prior years, we performed some of the
work we are now performing on the FAST contract on other contract vehicles. While the FAST contract
represents a significant percentage of our total revenue, we believe that the broad array of engineering, technical
and management services we provide to the federal government through various contract vehicles allows for
diversified business growth. No other task order, including individual contracts under our GSA vehicles,
accounted for more than 3% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Under the FAST contract, we have the potential to compete for hundreds of millions of dollars in task orders
each year over its approximately four and a half year remaining life as the U.S. Air Force maintains and
modernizes aircraft and defense systems. As of December 31, 2003, we have been awarded 52 task orders under
the FAST contract with a remaining potential award value of approximately $940 million if all options are
exercised. Although we believe the FAST contract presents an opportunity for significant additional growth and
expansion of our services, we expect that many of the task orders we may be awarded under the FAST contract
will be for program management services, which historically have been less profitable than our other activities.
In addition, the FAST contract involves a significantly greater use of subcontractors than we have used
historically. Margins on subcontractor-based revenue are typically lower than the margins on our direct work.
Since the FAST contract is expected to be a significant part of our business for the next several years, we
anticipate our operating income, as a percentage of total revenue, will diminish, although it will grow in absolute
dollars.

Our federal government contracts, which comprised over 95% of our revenue in 2003, are subject to
government audits of our direct and indirect costs. The incurred cost audits have been completed through
December 31, 2000 and the rates have been agreed to. We do not anticipate any material adjustment to our
financial statements in subsequent periods for audits not yet completed.

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, approximately 83% and 77%, respectively, of our
revenue came from work provided to our customers as a prime contractor and the balance came from work
provided as a subcontractor. Approximately 64% and 79%, respectively, of our revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted of the work of our employees, and the balance was provided by the work
of subcontractors. Our work as a prime contractor on the FAST contract has resulted, and is expected to continue
to result, in a significant use of subcontractors.
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We typically provide our services under contracts with a base term, often of three years, and option terms,
typically two to four additional terms of one year or more, which the customer can exercise on an annual basis.
We also have contracts with fixed terms, some extending as long as five or six years. Although we occasionally
obtain government contracts for which the contracting agency obligates funding for the full term of the contract,
most of our government contracts receive incremental funding, which subjects us to the risks associated with the
government’s annual appropriations process.

Contract Types. When contracting with our government customers, we enter into one of three basic types
of contracts: time-and-materials, fixed-price and cost-plus.

» Time-and-materials contracts. Under a time-and-materials contract, we receive a fixed hourly rate for
each direct labor hour worked, plus reimbursement for our allowable direct costs. To the extent that our
actual labor costs vary significantly from the negotiated rates under a time-and-materials contract, we
can either make more money than we originally anticipated or lose money on the contract.

*  Fixed-price contracts. Under fixed-price contracts, we agree to perform specified work for a firm,
fixed price. If our actual costs exceed our estimate of the costs to perform the contract, we may generate
less profit or incur a loss. A significant portion of our fixed-price contract work is under a fixed-price
level-of-effort contract, which represents a similar level of risk to our time-and-materials contracts,
under which we agree to perform certain units of work for a fixed price per unit. We generally do not
undertake high-risk work, such as software development, under fixed-price contracts.

*  Cost-plus contracts. Under cost-plus contracts, we are reimbursed for allowable costs and receive a
supplemental fee, which represents our profit. Cost-plus fixed fee contracts specify the contract fee in
dollars or as a percentage of anticipated costs. Cost-plus incentive fee and cost-plus award fee contracts
provide for increases or decreases in the contract fee, within specified limits, based upon actual results
as compared to contractual targets for factors such as cost, quality, schedule and performance.

The following table provides information about the percentage of revenue attributable to each of these types
of contracts for the periods indicated:

Years ended
December 31,

2003 2002 2001

—

Time-and-materials . ......... .. . . e 50% 61% 72%
Fixed-price .. ... ... 35 24 16
COStPIUS ot 15 15 12

Total .. @% @% 30_0%

Critical Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition. Qur critical accounting policies primarily concern revenue recognition and related
cost estimation. We recognize revenue on time-and-materials contracts to the extent of billable rates times hours
delivered plus the costs of any allowable expenses incurred. We recognize revenue on fixed-price contracts under
the percentage-of-completion method based on costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs, or upon delivery
of specific products or services, as appropriate. We recognize revenue on cost-plus contracts to the extent of
allowable costs incurred plus a proportionate amount of the fee earned. We consider performance-based fees,
including award fees, under any contract type to be earned only when we can demonstrate satisfaction of a
specific performance goal or we receive contractual notification from a customer that the fee has been earned. In
all cases, we recognize revenue only when pervasive evidence of an arrangement exists (including when waiting
for formal funding authorization under federal government contracts), services have been rendered, the contract
price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured.
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We began recording work-in-process inventory during the second quarter of 2003 because some of our task
orders under the FAST contract have reached the production delivery stage. On these task orders, we are now
required to meet customer delivery schedules as part of our program management services. The inventory relates
to costs accumulated under fixed-price-type contracts accounted for under the completed contract method and
certain output measures, such as units delivered, of the percentage-of-completion method. The work-in-process
inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market and is computed on an average cost basis.

Contract revenue recognition inherently involves estimation. From time to time, circumstances develop that
require us to revise our total estimated costs or revenue expectations. In most cases, these changes relate to
changes in the contractual scope of our work, and do not significantly impact the expected profit rate on a
contract. We record the cumulative effects of any revisions to our estimated total costs and revenue in the period
in which circumstances requiring revision become known.

Cost of Revenue. Cost of revenue primarily consists of the costs for providing our services to customers,
which primarily include the salaries and wages, plus associated fringe benefits, of our employees directly serving
customers, and the occupancy and other infrastructure costs necessary to support those employees. Cost of
revenue also includes the cost of subcontractors and outside consultants, third-party materials, such as hardware
and software, that we purchase and provide to the cusiomer as part of the contract, depreciation, and any other
costs, such as travel expenses, incurred to support contract efforts.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses include the salaries and
wages, plus associated fringe benefits, of our employees not performing work directly for customers. Among the
functions included in these expenses are contracts, administration, business development, accounting, human
resources, information systems support, and executive and senior management. General and administrative
expenses also include related depreciation, all amortization, and occupancy and travel expenses for employees
performing general and administrative functions. For the year ended December 31, 2002, it also includes $5.2
million in non-cash stock compensation expense.

Included in general and administrative expenses prior to March 31, 2002 were management fees paid to a
related party. The management fees were paid to a wholly owned affiliate of our then sole stockholder. The
nature of services received from the affiliate included our then sole stockholder’s services as our Chief Executive
Officer, assistance with negotiating financing arrangements, assistance with evaluating acquisition candidates
and legal services. These fees ceased on March 31, 2002. We continue to utilize aircraft that we jointly own with
and rent certain facilities from entities related to our Chairman of the Board. Although the management fees have
been eliminated, most of these costs have been replaced on a recurring basis and, by virtue of being a public
company, we now incur certain general and administrative costs not previously incurred.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. Prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (SFAS)
No. 142, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, on January 1, 2002, we amortized goodwill over fifteen years. Upon
adoption of SFAS No. 142, we discontinued amortization of goodwill. Purchase price allocated to intangible assets
is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated terms of the contracts. We have elected to conduct
our annual impairment reviews during the fourth quarter of each year. We base our assessment of possible
impairment on the discounted present value of the operating cash flows of our consolidated operating unit.

Income Taxes. On June 28, 2002, we changed our S corporation status to C corporation status under
Internal Revenue Service regulations. As a result of this change, we were required under SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to establish deferred tax balances. As a result, a non-cash deferred tax benefit of
$2.6 million, and current and non-current deferred tax assets were recorded in June 2002, primarily for timing
differences between book and tax reporting associated with accrued compensation items. During the third quarter
of 2002, we began recording a provision for federal and state income taxes. Accordingly, an income tax
provision is included in the income statements for all periods after June 28, 2002.
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Prior to June 28, 2002, under our S corporation election, all items of income and expense were “passed
through” and taxed at the stockholder level. Therefore, we were not required to record a provision for federal and
state income taxes. Accordingly, the income statements do not reflect an income tax provision.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for each period indicated, the percentage of items in the statement of income
in relation to revenue:

Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Revenue ... .. e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costofrevenue ......... ... ... 83.8 81.3 81.3
Grossprofit . ... 16.2 18.7 18.7
General and administrative expenses:

TRIEA PATLY © o v oo e e e e e e 4.8 6.1 5.1

Relatedparty ... 0.2 0.9 3.0

Stock compensation eXpense .. .......... ... — 4.4 —

Total general and administrative expenses .. ......... 5.0 11.4 8.1

Intangible asset amortization . ... ..............ciiieiinn. 0.4 0.1 1.1
Operating inCome . ..... ...ttt e 10.8 7.2 9.5
Net interest InCOME (EXPENSE) . .. oo vvvvien i, 0.2 0.1y (0.6)
Income from continuing operations before income tax expense .. 11.0 7.1 8.9
InCOme tax €XPeNse .. ..ottt 4.4 0.6 —
Income from continuing operations . ............. ... ... 6.6 6.5 8.9
Loss from discontinued operations ......................... — — 0.5)
Netincome (10SS) ..ottt e e e e 6.6% 6.5% 8.4%

Prior to June 28, 2002, we operated as an S corporation and were not subject to federal or certain state
income taxes for the first six months of 2002 and all of 2001. See income tax discussion below.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2003 and Year Ended December 31, 2002

The comparability of general and administrative expenses, operating income, income tax expense, and net
income for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 was affected by the following significant items:

« the $5.2 million non-cash stock compensation expense recorded in March 2002;

* non-cash deferred income tax benefit of $2.6 million recorded in June 2002, when the company changed
its S corporation status to C corporation status; and

« income tax expense being recorded for the year ended December 31, 2003 and not during the six months
ended June 30, 2002 (by virtue of the company being an S corporation until June 28, 2002).
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In order to depict general and administrative expenses, operating income, income tax expense, and net
income on a more directly comparable basis, the following table shows 2002 as reported and, along with the
following discussion of results of operations, considers the above items on a pro forma basis and assumes a 40%
effective tax rate:

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2002 Pro forma 2002

Asreported  Adjustments Pro forma
(in thousands)

General and administrative eXpenses . ............c.ovvuvieen.... $13,563 $(5,215) $ 8,348
Operating iNCOMIE .« . .« ottt ettt et e e 8,502 5,215 13,717
Income before INCOME tAXES . .\ i ittt ittt et e 8,342 5,215 13,557
INCOmME tAX EXPENSE ..ottt e 656 4,767 5,423
NetinCome ... ..t i e e $ 7,686 $ 448 $ 8,134

The items mentioned above also affect the comparability of general and administrative expenses, operating
income, income tax expense, and net income for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

Revenue: Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased 59.2%, or $70.2 million, to $188.7
million as compared to $118.5 million in the same period in 2002. Organic growth of 42.8% amounted to $50.8
million of the $70.2 million increase in revenue, and the remaining $19.4 million of revenue growth, or 16.4%,
came from acquisitions. $40.2 million of our organic growth was delivered through the use of subcontractors,
primarily in connection with several task orders under the FAST contract. The balance of our organic growth was
the result of a $13.7 million increase in work by our own people on new or increased contracts and task orders,
primarily from growth in FAST, ASC/BPA and GSA task orders. The increase in direct revenue was partially
offset by a $2.9 million decrease in revenue from our two largest non-defense customer groups and decreased
revenue on task orders that ended after December 31, 2002.

Gross profit: Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased 38.2%, or $8.5 million, to
$30.6 million as: compared to $22.2 million in the same period in 2002. This increase primarily reflects the
significant increase in revenue. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2003
was 16.2% as compared to 18.7% for 2002. This decrease in gross margin percentage is primarily attributable to
the previously forecasted increase in the use of subcontractors. Margins on subcontractor-based revenue are
typically lower than the margins on our direct work.

General and administrative expenses: Total general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2003, decreased 29.8%, or approximately $4.0 million, to $9.5 million as compared to $13.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This decrease is solely attributable to the $5.2 million non-cash
stock compensation expense that was recorded in March 2002, as discussed below. Without this charge, general
and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 would have increased 14.1%, or $1.2 million
as compared to the prior year, primarily as a result of increased salary and benefit expenses resulting from the
addition of personnel to support our growth as well as increased insurance and bid and proposal costs. However,
the percentage of general and administrative expenses before stock compensation declined as a percentage of
revenue from 7.0% for the year ended December 31, 2002 to 5.0% for 2003.

Non-cash stock compensation expense of $5.2 million was recorded in March 2002 in connection with the
issuance to three senior executives of non-qualified options to purchase 415,273 shares of common stock. The
charge represents the difference between the option price of $4.19 and the estimated fair market value of the
common stock on the date of grant of $16.75 per share. All other options issued since March 2002 have an option
price equal to the estimated fair market value of the shares at the date of the grant and as such require no charge
against earnings.
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Intangible asset amortization: Intangible asset amortization for the year ended December 31, 2003
increased approximately $0.6 million, to $0.7 million as compared to $0.1 million for the year ended December
31, 2002. This increase is a result of a full year of amortization of the purchase price allocated to the contracts of
AMCOMP of $0.4 million as well as the $0.3 million of intangible asset amortization recorded in the fourth
quarter of 2003 for the acquisition of ICI and Vitronics.

Operating income: Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2003 increased 139.7%, or $11.9
million, to $20.4 million as compared to $8.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, A major cause of
this increase in operating income was primarily the result of the $5.2 million non-cash stock compensation
expense that was recorded in March 2002, as discussed above. Without this charge, operating income for the year
ended December 31, 2003 would have increased 48.6%, or $6.7 million as compared to 2002, primarily resulting
from the increased gross profit, partially offset by higher general and administrative expenses (excluding the non-
cash stock compensation expense) and intangible asset amortization. Excluding the stock compensation expense,
operating income as a percentage of revenue decreased from 11.6% of revenue for the year ended December 31,
2002 to 10.8% for 2003.

Net interest income (expense): Net interest income for the year ended December 31, 2003, increased by
$0.5 million, to $0.3 million as compared to net interest expense of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2002. We repaid all outstanding debt in July 2002 with proceeds from our initial public offering and invested the
balance of the proceeds, which has resulted in net interest income.

Income tax expense: We did not record a provision for income taxes for the periods prior to June 28, 2002
because we were an S corporation for income tax purposes and, as a result, were not subject to federal or certain
state income taxes. On June 28, 2002, we changed from an S corporation to a C corporation under Internal
Revenue Service regulations. As a resuit of this change, we were required under SFAS No. 109 to establish
deferred tax balances. As a result, a non-cash deferred tax benefit of $2.6 million, and current and non-current
deferred tax assets were recorded in June 2002, primarily for timing differences between book and tax reporting
associated with accrued compensation items. During the third quarter of 2002, we began recording a provision
for federal and state income taxes. Accordingly, an income tax provision is included in the income statements for
all periods after June 28, 2002. Since we have started paying income taxes, our effective rate has remained
relatively unchanged at approximately 40%.

Net income: Net income increased 62.5%, or approximately $4.8 million, to $12.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003, compared to $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. This increase in net
income was primarily the result of increased operating income. Excluding the $5.2 million non-cash stock
compensation expense and the $2.6 million non-cash deferred tax benefit recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2002 and assuming that a 40% income tax rate had been effective for the entire twelve months
ended December 31, 2002, net income for the year ended December 31, 2003 would have increased 53.5%, or
$4.4 million, as compared to 2002.

Comparison of Year Ended December 31, 2002 and Year Ended December 31, 2001

Revenue: Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased 28.0%, or approximately $26.0
million, to $118.5 million as compared to $92.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase
primarily resulted from the following:

* Approximately $14.1 million increase in subcontract revenue recognized under the FAST contract;

+  Approximately $8.7 million of net additional revenue resulting from new contracts and task orders,
including U.S. Marine Corps Infrastructure, U.S. Army Technical, Engineering, Fabrication, and
Operations Support Service, FAST, ASC/BPA and Cruise Missile Product Group Advisory and
Analysis Support projects, partially offset by other programs which ended in 2002; and

* Approximately $3.2 million of revenue growth resulting from the acquisition of AMCOMP in October
2002.

43




MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Gross profit:  Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased 27.9%, or approximately $4.8
million, to $22.2 million, as compared to $17.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This increase
primarily reflects the significant increase in revenue. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue was 18.7% for the
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

General and administrative expenses: Total general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2002, increased 81.6%, or approximately $6.1 million, to $13.6 million as compared to $7.5
million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase was primarily a result of the $5.2 million non-cash
stock compensation expense that was recorded in March 2002, as discussed below. Without this charge, general
and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002, would have increased 11.8% or $0.9 million
as compared to the prior year. The major factors contributing to the net increase were:

» Third party general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2002 increased
55.2%, or approximately $2.6 million, to $7.3 million as compared to $4.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001 for the following items:

— a $1.3 million increase in salary expense resulting from a $0.8 million expense recognized for the
retention bonus for the former Chief Executive Officer and $0.5 million in additional salaries,
primarily resulting from the increase in base compensation of our former Chief Executive Officer,
the addition of a chief financial officer’s salary, and other salaried positions; and

— a $0.7 million increase in professional fees, a $0.4 million increase in insurance expense related to
premiums paid for directors and officers insurance, and a $0.2 million increase in depreciation
expense;

* Related party general and administrative expenses decreased 61.7%, or $1.7 million, to $1.1 million as
compared to $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This decrease was primarily a resuit of
ceasing to pay related party management fees as of March 31, 2002;

* Non-cash stock compensation expense of $5.2 million was recognized in March 2002, in connection
with the issuance to three senior executives of non-qualified options to purchase 415,273 shares of
common istock. The charge represents the difference between the option price of $4.19 and the estimated
fair market value of the common stock on the date of grant of $16.75 per share. All other options issued
since March 2002 have an option price equal to the estimated fair market value of the shares at the date
of the grant and as such require no charge against earnings.

Intangible asset amortization: Intangible asset amortization for the year ended December 31, 2002
decreased 89.1%, or $1.0 million, to $0.1 million as compared to $1.1 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. This decrease was a result of achieving full amortization of the purchase price allocated to the contracts of
RJIO Enterprises, Inc. in September 2001, and the discontinuance of the amortization of goodwill acquired in
connection with the acquisition of certain assets of RJO Enterprises, Inc. on January 1, 2002, when we adopted
SFAS No. 142, which terminated the policy of goodwill amortization. In October 2002, after acquiring
AMCOMP, we began amortizing the $3.0 million of purchase price allocated to the contracts of AMCOMP over
their estimated useful life of 6.5 years, as determined by an independent appraiser, resulting in a charge to
earnings of $0.1 million.

Operating income: Operating income for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased 3.2%, or $0.3
million, to $8.5 million as compared to $8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. This decrease was
caused by the accrual of the non-cash stock compensation expense of $5.2 miilion. Without this expense,
operating income would have increased 56.1%, or $4.9 million, to $13.7 million, primarily as a result of the
increased gross profit.
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Net interest expense: Net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased 71.9%, or $0.4
million, to $0.2 million as compared to $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. We repaid all
outstanding debt in July 2002 with the proceeds from our initial public offering and invested the balance of the
proceeds, which resulted in decreased net interest expense.

Income tax expense: On June 28, 2002, we changed our S corporation status to C corporation status under
Internal Revenue Service regulations. This change required us to establish deferred tax balances, in accordance
with SFAS No. 109. As a result, a deferred tax benefit of approximately $2.6 million, and current and non-
current deferred tax assets were recognized in June 2002, primarily for timing differences between book and tax
reporting associated with accrued compensation items. The income tax expense of $0.7 million for the year
ended December 31, 2002, includes a net deferred tax benefit of $1.5 million and current income tax expense of
$2.1 million recognized on net income generated since we changed to a C corporation on June 28, 2002.
Excluding the $2.6 million deferred tax benefit recognized in June 2002, our effective tax rate for the period we
were a C corporation was approximately 40%.

Income from continuing operations: Income from continuing operations decreased 6.5%, or approximately
$0.5 million, to $7.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, compared to $8.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2001. The decrease resulted primarily from the $5.2 million non-cash stock compensation
expense, partially offset by the $2.6 million income tax benefit recognized during the second quarter of 2002.
Without these two items, income from continuing operations would have been approximately $10.3 million for
an increase of 24.8% over 2001. However, income from continuing operations for 2001 does not reflect any
income tax expense, due to our S corporation status, as discussed above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Historically, our positive cash flow from operations and our available credit facility have provided us
adequate liquidity and working capital to fund our operational needs and support our acquisition activities.

Our cash and cash equivalents balance was $15.1 million and $22.0 million on December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively. Our working capital was $32.5 million and $36.9 million at December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively. Our working capital decreased $4.4 million in 2003 primarily as a result of the following
fluctuations:

* 2 $6.9 million decrease in cash and cash equivalents primarily reflecting the $16.8 million in payments
for businesses acquired in 2003, partially offset by cash provided by operating activities;

* a $13.5 million increase in other current liabilities primarily resulting from a $7.2 million increase in
accounts payable reflecting increased non-labor costs, such as subcontract costs and direct materials,
that resulted from the increased revenue volume in 2003, and from $4.6 million in additional amounts
due under earn out agreements; and

» a $15.4 million increase in accounts receivable and costs and estimated earnings in excess of amounts
billed resulting from the significant increase in revenue in 2003 as well as the acquisitions made in the
fourth quarter of 2003.

Our operating activities provided cash of $11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2003. The cash
provided by operating activities was primarily composed of net income adjusted for: (a) the approximately $1.3
million in deferred income tax expense; (b) $1.2 million of depreciation and amortization expense; and (c) the
$3.6 million of cash used for working capital purposes.

Our operating activities provided cash of $7.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 and $10.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2001. The $3.2 million decrease in cash provided by operating activities
was primarily a result of a net increase in working capital requirements.
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Our investing activities used cash of $18.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, as a result of
$18.0 million in payments made in connection with acquisitions. The $18.0 million includes the additional
consideration of $1.1 million which was paid to the former shareholders of AMCOMP in April 2003 as well as
the purchase price and acquisition related payments totaling $16.8 million which were paid in the fourth quarter
of 2003 for the acquisition of ICI and Vitronics. We currently anticipate that capital expenditures for 2004 will
be approximately $1.8 million and will be for general corporate purposes.

Our investing activities used cash of $8.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared with $0.8
million in the same period of 2001. The increase in cash used in investing activities was due primarily to the cash
paid for the acquisition of AMCOMP of $7.3 million, including acquisition expenses. This increase was partially
offset by a $0.9 million decrease in advances to affiliates. No further advances to affiliates have been or will be
made subsequent to March 31, 2002, and all balances at that date have been paid in full.

Our financing activities provided net cash of $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, primarily
through common stock issuances and surrenders related to stock option transactions.

During the vear ended December 31, 2002, cash provided from financing activities was $22.7 million. The
cash was primarily provided by the net proceeds of our initial public offering of $43.8 million. We used a portion
of these proceeds to repay our total bank debt outstanding on July 3, 2002, reducing the amount outstanding
under those instruments from $14.1 million as of December 31, 2001 to zero. Prior to our initial public offering,
we also made $9.2 million of distributions to our then sole stockholder, offset by a $2.0 million capital
contribution from our then sole stockholder. During the year ended December 31, 2001, we used $9.3 million in
cash for financing activities which included repayment $4.8 million of debt and a $4.5 million distribution to our
then sole stockholder.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, we used $16.8 million in cash and shares of our common stock
with a value of $2.4 million to finance the initial purchase price for ICI and Vitronics, including acquisition
costs. Contingent payment obligations related to those acquisitions, as well as contingent payment obligations
related to the AMCOMP acquisition made during the year ended December 31, 2002, could require us to make
additional cash payments and issue additional shares of our common stock. See “Business—Acquisitions™ above.

In January 2003, we replaced our $15 million revolving line of credit with a $35 million revolving line of
credit. In January 2004, we amended the agreement governing our revolving line of credit, increasing the line of
credit to $55 million. We can increase this line to $80 million subject to meeting certain reguirements and
obtaining our lenders’ approval. The agreement expires in December 31, 2005 and can be extended for additional
one-year terms by mutual agreement with our lenders.

The interest rate we will pay if we have any borrowings will range from the prime rate less 25 basis points
to prime rate plus,25 basis points, or the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 150 to 225 basis points,
depending on the ratio of our funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA).

Borrowings under our line of credit are secured by a general lien on our consolidated assets. In addition, we
are subject to certain restrictions, and are required to meet certain financial covenants.

In February 2004, we completed a public offering of 2,250,000 shares of common stock. The Company’s
net proceeds from,the sale of the shares, after the underwriting discount and other expenses, was $59.2 million.
We intend to use the net proceeds from the offering (together with cash on hand and additional borrowings) for
working capital and general corporate purposes, including all or a portion of the costs of any complementary
businesses we selectively decide to acquire in the future.
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Part of our growth strategy is to pursue strategic acquisitions of businesses. We have made acquisitions in
the past, and intend to make acquisitions in the future. Historically, we have financed our acquisitions with the
proceeds of our initial public offering, cash on hand and shares of our common stock. We expect to finance any
future acquisitions with proceeds from our recent common stock offering, cash generated by operations,
additional sales or issuances of shares of our common stock, borrowings under our credit facility or a
combination of the foregoing.

Management believes that the proceeds from the recent sale of shares by us and our cash and cash
equivalents balance, together with cash generated by operations and amounts available under our credit facility,
will be sufficient to fund our working capital requirements, debt service obligations, purchase price commitments
for completed acquisitions and capital expenditures for the foreseeable future.

Our ability to generate cash from operations depends to a significant extent on winning new and re-
competed contracts and/or task orders from our customers in competitive bidding processes. If a significant
portion of our government contracts were terminated or if our win rate on new or re-competed contracts and task
orders were to decline significantly, our operating cash flow would decrease, which would adversely affect our
liquidity and capital resources.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as special purpose entities (SPEs) or variable interest entities (VIEs), which would have been
established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other limited purposes. As of
December 31, 2003, we were not involved in any unconsolidated SPEs or VIEs.

Contractual Obligations

Following is information regarding our long-term contractual obligations outstanding at December 31,
2003:

Payments due by period
Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
(in thousands)

Long-Term Debt Obligations .......... $ — $§— $§— 5 — $ —
Capital Lease Obligations . .. .......... - — — — —
Operating Lease Obligations .......... 10,305 2,103 2,673 1,837 3,692
Purchase Obligations ................ — — — — —
Total ....... . $10,305 $2,103 $2,673 $1,837 $3,692
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Accounting Changes

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 141, Business
Combinations (SFAS No. 141), and No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets (SFAS No. 142). We adopted
SFAS No. 142 on January 1, 2002. We have performed the first step of the goodwill impairment test and have
concluded that goodwill is not impaired. The table below shows the effect on net income had SFAS No. 142 been
adopted in 2001t

December 31,

2001
(in thousands
except per
share data)
Nl IO o vttt e et e $7,764
Goodwill amMOTtiZAtION . ... vttt i 114
Adjusted NELINCOME . .. .ottt e $7,878
Basic and diluted earnings per common share:
NetinCOME ... ottt e e $ 0.79
Goodwill amOrtiZation . ... ... ittt e e $ 0.01
Adjusted NELINCOME .. ..o ot ettt $ 0.30

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements for Guarantees, Including Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (FIN 45). FIN 45 elaborates on
the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its financial statements about its obligations under certain
agreements and ‘warranties it has issued. It also requires the guarantor to recognize, at the inception of the
guarantee, a liability for the fair value of an obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee. The recognition
requirements are effective for guarantees initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of the fair value
provisions of FIN 45 did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements as there were no guarantees
or modifications of guarantees for the year ended December 31, 2003.

In December 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued EITF 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliveries (EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 addresses how to determine whether an arrangement involving
multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting. It also addresses how arrangement consideration
should be measured and allocated to the separate units of accounting in an arrangement. EITF 00-21 does not
apply to deliverables in arrangements to the extent the accounting for such deliverables is within the scope of
other existing higher-level authoritative accounting literature. EITF 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements
entered into beginning after July 1, 2003. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have an impact on our
consolidated financial statements and we do not anticipate the adoption of EITF 00-21 will have any near term
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, (FIN
46). FIN 46 provides guidance for identifying a controlling interest in a VIE established by means other than
voting interests. FIN 46 also requires consolidation of a VIE by an enterprise that holds such controlling interest.
We are required to adopt the provisions of FIN 46 for any VIE created prior to February 1, 2003, by the end of
the current fiscal year. Based on the our review of FIN 46, we do not believe we have any interests qualifying as
VIEs and we do not anticipate that the provisions of FIN 46 will have any near term impact on our consolidated
financial statemenits.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (SFAS No. 150). SFAS No. 150 established standards for how an

48



MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity.
SFAS No. 150 1s effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is
effective beginning in the third quarter of 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an impact on our
consolidated financial statements and we do not anticipate the adoption of SFAS No. 150 will have any near term
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Our results of operations, particularly our revenue, gross profit and cash flow, may vary significantly from
quarter to quarter depending on a number of factors, including the progress of contract performance, revenue
earned on contracts, the number of billable days in a quarter, the timing of customer orders or deliveries, changes
in the scope of contracts and billing of other direct and subcontract costs, timing of funding of task orders, the
commencement and completion of contracts we have been awarded and general economic conditions. Because a
significant portion of our expenses, such as personnel and facilities costs, are fixed in the short term, successful
contract performance and variation in the volume of activity, as well as in the number of contracts or task orders
commenced or completed during any quarter, may cause significant variations in operating results from quarter
to quarter.

The federal government’s fiscal year ends September 30. If a federal budget for the next fiscal year has not
been approved by that date in each year, our customers may have to suspend engagements that we are working
on until a budget has been approved. Any suspensions may cause us to realize lower revenue in the fourth quarter
of the year, and possibly ensuing quarters of the following year. On November 24, 2003, President Bush signed
the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2004. In addition, a change in Presidential
administrations, Congressional majorities or in other senior federal government officials may negatively affect
the rate at which the federal government purchases technology and engineering services. The federal
government’s fiscal year end can also trigger increased purchase requests from customers for equipment and
materials. Any increased purchase requests we receive as a result of the federal government’s fiscal year end
would serve to increase our fourth quarter revenues, but will generally decrease profit margins for that quarter, as
these activities typically are not as profitable as our normal service offerings. Further, some of our subcontractors
have calendar year ends and sometimes submit large billings at the end of the calendar year that can cause a spike
in our revenue and expenses related to subcontracts. This will also generally decrease our profit margins as
revenues generated by billings from subcontractors generally have much lower margins than our revenues
generated by direct work. As a result of the above factors, period-to-period comparisons of our revenue and
operating results may not be meaningful. Potential investors should not rely on these comparisons as indicators
of future performance as no assurances can be given that quarterly results will not fluctuate, causing a material
adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Our exposure to market risk relates to changes in interest rates for borrowings under our revolving credit
agreement. As a result of our initial public offering that was completed July 3, 2002, all of the borrowings under
our revolving credit facility were repaid. We have no outstanding borrowings under our new credit agreement.
We have invested a significant portion of our cash and cash equivalents in short-term, investment grade, interest-
bearing securities including guaranteed obligations of the United States and its agencies. A hypothetical 10%
change in interest rates on these securities would not have, and during the year ended December 31, 2003 and the
preceding fiscal year would not have had, a significant impact on future earnings or the fair market value of the
securities.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors
MTC Technologies, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of MTC Technologies, Inc. as of December 31, 2003, and
the related statements of income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our andit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the 2003 consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of MTC Technologies, Inc. at December 31, 2003, and the consolidated results of
its operations and its cash flows for year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States.

/s/ Ermst & Young LLP

Dayton, Ohio
February 25, 2004
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors
MTC Technologies, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of MTC Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries
(the “Company™) as of December 31, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockholder’s
equity and cash, flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2002. These consolidated
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for
our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of MTC Technologies, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2002, and the consolidated results
of their operations and their cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2002, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Dayton, Ohio
February 19, 2003
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash and cash equivalents (NOte€ A) .. ... ... .t
Restricted cash (NOte A) .. ... oo e
Accounts receivable—net (Note B) ......... ..

Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings '
on uncompleted contracts (Note B) ... ......... ... .
WOTK-In-process INVENIOTIES . .. ot .o vt ettt et e e e e e e e e e
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . ............. i
Total CUTTENE ASSELS & v o vt vt ettt ettt et et et et
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT-—Net (Note C) ... vttt
GOODWILL (Note Kand L) ........... . i e
INTANGIBLE ASSETS,NET (Note Kand L) .............. ... ciiiiiiiinin..
OTHER ASSETS (Note D) . ..ot e e e e e
TOT AL ASSE TS o e e

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable . ... e
Restricted funds payable to the government (Note A) .......... ... .. ... .. ...,
Compensation and related It8MS .. ... ...ttt e
Amount due under earn-out agreement Note K) ........ ... ... .. .. ...
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings
on uncompleted contracts (Note B) ... ... .. ... o i
Other current liabilities .. ... .

Total current liabilities .. ... .. . . e
LONG-TERM DEBT (Note E) . ... e e
DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES NOTEO) ......... .t
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (NotesE,FandP) ............

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, 13,210,946 and
12,890,237 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003, and 2002,
TESPECHIVELY, . . oot e

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized, none of which is
OULStANAINE . ..ottt

Paid-incapital .. ... ...

Retained €arnings ............ ittt

Treasury StOCK . .. ... i e

Total stockholders” equity ... ...t e
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY ...,

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2003 2002

(dollar amounts in
thousands,
except share and per
share amounts)

$ 15,050 $21,950
— 2,503
46,004 30,638

2,249 2,171
2,488 —
1,957 1,343

67,748 58,605
2,382 1,652
23,817 7,029
8,164 2,906
156 1,296

$102,267 $71,488

$ 18,572 $11,345
— 2,503
9,774 6,500
5,668 1,100

481 262
714 —

35,209 21,710

13 13

53,751 49,834
12,832 343
(1,361) (412)

65,235 49,778
$102,267 $71,488




MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

(dollar amounts in thousands, except share
and per share amounts)

Revenue (NOE T) . oo v it e e e e $ 188,707 $ 118,540 $ 92,590
Costofrevenue (Note J) ... ... . 158,058 96,356 75,248
Gross Profit ... .ov et e 30,649 22,184 17,342
General and administrative expenses:

Third-party ... 9,015 7,285 4,695

Related party (Note J) ... ... . . i 510 1,063 2,774

Stock compensation expense (Note N) ..................... — 5,215 —

Total general and administrative expenses .............. 9,525 13,563 7,469

Intangible asset amortization (Note L) ......................... 742 119 1,086
Operating INCOME . ..ottt et e ettt e eie e 20,382 8,502 8,787
Interest income (expense):

Interest income (Note J) ... .. .. 288 236 411

Interestexpense . ...... ... — (396) (981)

Net interest income (BXPense) ... .......ovurvnennunn. 288 (160) (570)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes ........... 20,670 8,342 8,217
Income tax expense (Note O) . ....... ... ... i .. 8,181 656 —
Income from continuing operations ............ ... i, 12,489 7,686 8,217
Loss from discontinued operations Note I) ..................... — — (453)
NELINCOME .ottt ettt et et e e e $ 12489 $ 7686 $ 7,764
Basic and diluted earnings per common share:

Income from continuing operations ....................... $ 095 % 067 $ 0.83

Loss from discontinued operations ........................ -— — (0.04)

Netineome ... ...t e $ 095 $ 067 $ 0.79

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic . ... 13,083,578 11,405,351 9,887,482
Diluted .. ... 13,185,424 11,538,802 9,887,482

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Common Stock Paid-In g;:'zrlllll:negg Flz'gxen Treasury
Shares Amount  Capital (Deficit)  Stockholder Stock Total
(dollar amounts in thousands)
BALANCE—December 31,

2000 ... 9,887,482 $10 $ 4399 $ 5784 § — $ — $10,193
Netincome .............. 7,764 7,764
Stockholder contribution . .. 2,000 (2,000) —
Stockholder distributions . .. (18,078) (18,078)

BALANCE—December 31,

2001 ... .. 9,887,482 10 6,399 (4,530)  (2,000) (121
Netincome .............. 7,686 7,686
Stockholder contribution . .. 2,000 2,000
Stockholder distributions ... (6,405) (2,813) (9,218)
Net proceeds from initial

public offering offering .. 2,875,000 3 43,832 43,835
Stock compensation expense

related to issuance of stock

options ............... 5,215 5,215
Exercise of stock options . . . 145,273 608 608
Surrender of common stock

from stock option

transactions ............ (17,518) (412) 412)
Other ................... 185 185

BALANCE—December 31,

2002 ... 12,890,237 13 49,834 343 — (412) 49,778
Netincome .............. 12,489 12,489
Common stock issued in

connection with

acquisition activities . . ... 98,079 2,400 2,400
Exercise of stock options . .. 275,740 1,517 1,517
Surrender of common stock

from stock option

transactions ............ (53,110) . (949) (949)

BALANCE—December 31,
2003 ... 13,210,946  $13  $53,751 $12,832 §$§ — $(1,361) $65,235

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(dollar amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

NELINCOME . o oot oo ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $12489 $ 7,686 $ 7,764
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Compensation expense from stock options ............. .. ... ... o i — 5,215 —
Deferred INCOME tAXES . . .t v it ettt et e e e 1,344 (1,268) —
Depreciation and amortization ... ......... ...ttt 1,172 513 1,366
Discontinued OPerations . ... ..o\ttt — — 453
Ot . . e — 10 3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of acquisitions):
ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE . . oL . e e (7,259) (7,710) (324)
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts .......... 79y  (1,653) 1,081
WOrk in process INVENIOTIES . . . .. ot vttt it it e et et ettt e (2,488) — —
Prepaid expenses and other assets .. ......... .o (54) (710) 39)
Accounts payable . ... ... 4,359 5,770 (1,734)
Compensation and related items . ......... . . 1,480 365 1,695
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts .......... 220 (795) 330
Other currentliabilities . ... ... .. .. 208 (178) (147)
Net cash provided by operating activities .............. .. ... ... .. L. 11,392 7,245 10,448
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of marketable equity securities ........... ... . .. ... — 167 33
Payments for acquired businesses ........... i e (17,997) (7,343) —
Purchase of marketable equity securities ......... ... .. — (10) —
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment ........ ... ... .. i i, — — 722
Additions to property and equipment . .. ... ... (863) (908) (659)
Increase in advances to affiliates ... ... .. . . — —_ (923)
Net cashjused in investing activities .. ... ......oeninniniinrieneenannn (18,860)  (8,094) (827)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from initial publicoffering ........ ... ... — 43,835 —
Issuance of common StOCK . . ... i e 1,517 609 —
Net (repayments) borrowings on the revolving credit agreement ...................... — (9,075)  (5.907)
Payments on long-termdebt . ....... . ... . e — (5,000) (864)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings . .. ... ... oo — — 2,000
Capital CONtrIbULION . ...t e e e —_ 2,000 —
Repurchase of common stock . ... .. o e (949) (412) —
Cash distributions to stockholder . . ... ... . . i e — (9,218) (4,508)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ................... .. ...... 368 22,739 (9,279)
Net cash used in discontinued operations ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. —_ — (342)
NET (DECREASE)YINCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ............... (6,900) 21,890 —
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of petiod ... ... ... 21,950 60 60
Endof period ... o $ 15050 $21950 $ 60
NON-CASH DISTRIBUTION TO STOCKHOLDER:
Net assets of discontinued Operations . ............uuititn e $ 3,464
Advances to affiliates .. .. ... e 9,055
Land and related development COSES ... ..ottt ettt e e 1,105
OtNeT ASS8LS . . o ottt e e 274
Other labilities . . . .. .ot e (328)
$13,570

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

A. SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Operations—We provide sophisticated systems engineering, information technology, intelligence and
program management services, primarily to U.S. defense, intelligence and civilian federal government agencies.

Sales to the federal government represent substantially all of our revenue. Consequently, accounts
receivable balances consist primarily of amounts due from the federal government. In 2003, there were two
contract vehicles containing over 110 task orders, which accounted for approximately 46% of our total revenue.
In 2002 and 2001, these contracts accounted for approximately 37% and 18% of our total revenue, respectively.
While the contract vehicles represent a significant portion of our total revenues, we believe that the broad array
of engineering, technical and management services we provide to the federal government through various
contract vehicles allows for diversified business growth.

We operate as one segment, delivering a broad array of services primarily to the federal government in four
areas, which are offered separately or in combination across our customer base. These services are Systems
Engineering and Technical Services, Information Technology, Intelligence and Program Management. Although
we offer the services referred to above, revenue is internally reviewed by our management primarily on a
contract basis. Therefore, it would be impracticable to determine revenue by services offered. In addition, there
were no sales to any foreign customers.

Use of Estimates—The consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) and include amounts based on
management’s best estimates and judgments. The use of estimates and judgments may affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidation—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of MTC
Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—We consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or
less when purchased to be cash equivalents. For these investments, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate
of fair value.

Restricted Cash and Restricted Funds Payable to the Government—Restricted cash and restricted funds
payable to the government of $2,503 at December 31, 2002, included proceeds from sales of government
property that we conducted on behalf of a government customer. We collect the funds from these sales and
periodically pay them to the government over the course of the contract. At December 31, 2003, there was not
any restricted cash or restricted funds payable to the government.

Accounts Receivable—Accounts receivable consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers,
and include unbilled costs and accrued profits primarily related to revenues on long-term contracts that have been
recognized for accounting purposes but not yet billed to customers. As such revenues are recognized, appropriate
amounts of customer advances, performance-based payments and progress payments are reflected as an offset to
the related accounts receivable balance.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenue and Cost Recognition—We recognize revenue on time-and-materials contracts to the extent of
billable rates times hours delivered, plus expenses incurred. We recognize revenue on fixed-price contracts under
the percentage-of-completion method based on costs incurred in relation to total estimated costs, or upon delivery
of specific products or services, as appropriate. We recognize revenue on cost-plus contracts to the extent of
allowable costs incurred plus a proportionate amount of the fee earned. We record provisions for estimated losses
on uncompleted contracts in the period in which we identify those losses. We consider performance-based fees,
including award fees, under any contract type to be earned only when we can demonstrate satisfaction of a
specific performance goal or we receive contractual notification from a customer that the fee has been earned. In
all cases, we recognize revenue only when pervasive evidence of an arrangement exists (including when waiting
for formal funding authorization under federal government contracts), services have been rendered, the contract
price is fixed or determinable, and collection is reasonably assured.

Contract revenue recognition inherently involves estimation. From time to time, facts develop that require
us to revise the total estimated costs or revenues expected. In most cases, these changes relate to changes in the
contractual scope of the work, and do not significantly impact the expected profit rate on a contract. We record
the cumulative effects of any revisions to the estimated total costs and revenues in the period in which the facts
become known.

Our federal ;government contracts are subject to subsequent government audit of direct and indirect costs.
The majority of such incurred cost audits have been completed through 2000. Our management does not
anticipate any material adjustment to the consolidated financial statements in subsequent periods for audits not
yet completed.

Property and Equipment—We record our property and equipment at cost. Depreciation and amortization of
property and equipment are provided using straight-line and accelerated methods over estimated useful lives. We
use estimated useful lives of 3-7 years for equipment, 5 years for vehicles, 5-7 years for furniture and fixtures
and 5-39 years for leasehold improvements.

Work-in-prdcess inventory— We began recording work-in-process inventory during the second quarter of
2003 because some of our task orders under the Flexible Acquisition and Sustainment Tool (FAST) contract have
reached the production delivery stage. On these task orders we are now required to meet customer delivery
schedules as part:of our program management services. The inventory relates to costs accumulated under fixed-
price-type contracts accounted for under the completed contract method and certain output measures, such as
units delivered, of the percentage-of-completion method. The work-in-process inventory is stated at the lower of
cost or market and is computed on an average cost basis. The work-in-process inventory balance at December 31,
2003 has been reduced by $176 in progress payments.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Prior to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
(SFAS) No. 142, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, on January 1, 2002, we amortized goodwill over fifteen years.
Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, we discontinued amortization of goodwill. Purchase price allocated to
intangible assets is amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated terms of the contracts. We have
elected to conduct our annual impairment reviews as of the fourth quarter of each year. We base our assessment
of possible impairment on the discounted present value of the operating cash flows of our consolidated operating
unit. See Note L, Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

Long-lived Assets—Long-lived assets and certain intangibles are reviewed for impairment, based upon the
undiscounted expected future cash flows, whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
such assets may not be recoverable.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments—The carrying amount of our accounts receivable, accounts payable
and accrued expenses approximate their fair value. There is currently no bank debt outstanding; however, our
revolving credit agreement has a floating interest rate that varies with current indices and, as such, the recorded
value would approximate fair value.

Income Taxes—On June 28, 2002, we changed our S corporation status to C corporation status under
Internal Revenue Service regulations. As a result of this change, we were required under SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, to establish deferred tax balances. As a result, a deferred tax benefit of $2,644 and
current and non-current deferred tax assets were recognized in June 2002, primarily for timing differences
between book and tax reporting associated with accrued compensation items. We recorded a provision for federal
and state income taxes during the six months ended December 31, 2002 and for the twelve months ending
December 31, 2003.

Prior to June 28, 2002, under our S corporation election, all items of income and expense were “passed
through” and taxed at the stockholder level. Therefore, we were not required to record a provision for federal and
state income taxes.

Earnings Per Common Share—Basic earnings per common share has been computed by dividing net
income available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock
outstanding during each period. Shares issued during the period and shares reacquired during the period are
weighted for the portion of the period that they were outstanding. Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
equal basic weighted average shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2001 because there were no
common stock equivalents outstanding during this period. The weighted average shares for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2003 2002
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding . .......... 13,083,578 11,405,351
Effect of potential exercise of stock options .................. 84,070 133,451
Effect of contingently issued shares ........................ 17,776 —
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding ......... 13,185,424 11,538,802

Stock-Based Compensation—As permitted under SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, we account for stock-based awards using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. Accordingly, no
compensation expense has been recognized in the financial statements related to employee stock option awards
issued under the 2002 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan. Compensation expense of $5,215 was recognized
on options that were granted to three key members of our senior management in May 2002, to the extent that the
estimated fair value of the options exceeded the option price. The options granted fulfilled a stock compensation
award that was made in March 2002.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others (FIN 45). FIN 45 elaborates on the disclosures to be made by a guarantor in its financial statements about
its obligations under certain agreements and warranties it has issued. It also requires the guarantor to recognize,
at the inception of the guarantee, a liability for the fair value of an obligation undertaken in issuing the guarantee.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

' NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

The recognition requirements are effective for guarantees initiated after December 31, 2002. The adoption of the
fair value provisions of FIN 45 did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements, as there were no
guarantees or modifications of guarantees for the year ended December 31, 2003.

In December 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issued EITF 00-21, Revenue Arrangements with
Multiple Deliveries (EITF 00-21). EITF 00-21 addresses how to determine whether an arrangement involving
multiple deliverables contains more than one unit of accounting. It also addresses how arrangement consideration
should be measured and allocated to the separate units of accounting in an arrangement. EITF 00-21 does not
apply to deliverables in arrangements to the extent the accounting for such deliverables is within the scope of
other existing higher-level authoritative accounting literature. EITF 00-21 is effective for revenue arrangements
entered into beginning after July 1, 2003. The adoption of EITF 00-21 did not have an impact on our
consolidated financial statements and we do not anticipate the adoption of EITF 00-21 will have any near term
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, (FIN
46). FIN 46 provides guidance for identifying a controlling interest in a Variable Interest Entity (VIE) established
by means other than voting interests. FIN 46 also requires consolidation of a VIE by an enterprise that holds such
controlling interest. We are required to adopt the provisions of FIN 46 for any variable interest entity created
prior to February. 1, 2003, by the end of the current fiscal year. Based on our review of FIN 46, we do not believe
we have any interests qualifying as VIEs and we do not anticipate that the provisions of FIN 46 will have any
near term impaction our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabilities and Equity (SFAS No. 150). SFAS No. 150 established standards for how an
issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity.
SFAS No. 150 is effective for financial instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise is
effective beginning in the third quarter of 2003. The adoption of SFAS No. 150 did not have an impact on our
consolidated financial statements and we do not anticipate the adoption of SFAS No. 150 will have any near term
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)
B. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS

Unbilled recoverable costs and accrued profit represents costs incurred and estimated fees earned on cost-
plus fixed fee and time-and-materials service contracts for which billings have not been presented to customers.
Unbilled amounts of $796 and $536 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, represent retainers on
government contracts that are expected to be collected during the next fiscal year.

December 31,

2003 2002
Amounts billed:
Federal governmentcontracts .............. ... ... . ... ... $32,735 $13,495
Commercial contracts . ......... ..ot 598 416
Related parties . ......on ittt e 288 307
Other . e e 348 —

. 33,969 14,218
Unbilled recoverable costs and accrued profit:

Federal governmentcontracts ............ ... ..o vininn... 11,862 16,478
Commercial Contracts . ..........ccvui i, 151 42
Related parties . ...t 189 —
46,171 30,738
Less allowance for doubtful accounts . ....................... (167) (100)
Total accounts receivable . ........ ... $46,004 $30,638

The following relates to fixed-price contracts:

Costs and  Billings in
Estimated  Excess of
Earnings Costs and
in Excess  Estimated
of Billings  Earnings

December 31, 2003:
Costs and estimated €arnings . . . .....c.vvveerteveernnen.... $4816 §$4,449
Billings . .. ..o 2,567) (4,930)
$2249 $ (481)
December 31, 2002:
Costs and estimated earnings . .. ..........iii i $6762 $6,391
Billngs . . oot e 4,591) (6,653)

$2,171 § (262)
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Allowance ifor doubtful accounts:

Balance at Charged Balance

Beginning Chargedto  to Other at End

Year ended December 31, of Period Operations Accounts Write-offs of Period
2003 L. $126  $63  $—  $22  $167
2002 Lo $149 $71  $—  $I120  $100
2001 .o $125 $_8 $ 42 $ 26 $149

The 2003 “Balance at Beginning of Period” includes the balance at the date of acquisition for International
Consultants, Inc. (ICI) and Vitronics Inc.

C. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

December 31,

2003 2002
Equipment . . ... $4922 $ 3,031
Furniture and fixtures . ........... it e 1,056 522
Leasehold improvements .. ............. . ... 409 331
Vehicles .. e 713 450

7,100 4,334
Accumulated depreciation and amortization ....................... (4,718) (2,682)
Property and equipment, NEt . . ... .....outeenreeie i, $2,382 $ 1,652

Depreciation expense was $430, $395 and $279 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001,
respectively.

D. OTHER ASSETS

December 31,

2003 2002
Deposits and other ............. . it $156 $ 144
Deferred tax benefit (Note Q) ... .. it i e — 1,152
$156 $1,296

E. LONG-TERM DEBT

We did not have any debt outstanding at December 31, 2003 or 2002. In January 2003, we replaced our
$15,000 revolving line of credit with a $35,000 revolving line of credit. We had the ability to increase this line to
$50,000 subject to meeting certain requirements and obtaining our banks’ approval. The agreement is for an
initial term of three years and has an “evergreen” feature whereby it can be extended an additional year, each
year, by mutual agreement with our banks. In January 2004, we amended our revolving credit agreement with the
same four banks, increasing the borrowing availability to $55,000. The line can be increased to $80,000 subject
to meeting certain requirements. Currently, we do not have any outstanding borrowings.

62



MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

The interest rate we would pay if we had any borrowings under our line of credit will be dependent on the
ratio of funded debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA).

Borrowings under our line of credit are secured by a general lien on our consolidated assets. In addition, we
are subject to certain restrictions, and we are required to meet certain financial covenants.

F. OPERATING LEASES

We lease certain administrative facilities from related parties and others (See Note J). Operating leases
require monthly payments and expire at various dates through 2018. Additionally, renewal options for additional
terms of three to five years are included in most agreements. Total operating lease expense totaled $2,319,
$2,055 and $1,969 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Minimum annual rental payments under operating leases are as follows:

Year Ending

December 31,

2004 ... $ 2,103
2005 .o 1,616
2006 .. 1,057
2007 e 933
2008 e 904
Thereafter .......... ... ... ... ..... 3,692

G. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Other cash flow information for the year ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, is as follows:

December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Interest paid . ... ..ottt e $ — § 39 3§ 981
Federal, state and local income taxespaid ................... $6,250 $2,294 § 60
Amounts payable under earn-out agreements ................. $5,668 §$1,100 $ —
Acquisition price paid in shares of common stock ............. $2400 $ — $ —

H. PROFIT SHARING PLAN

We sponsor a defined contribution 401(k) profit sharing plan that covers all eligible fuil-time and part-time
employees. An eligible employee may make pre-tax contributions to the plan of up to 15% of his or her
compensation. We provide 50% matching funds for eligible participating employees, limited to the employee’s
participation of up to 10% of earnings. Our contributions to the plan totaled $1,877, $1,844 and $1,293 for the
years December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

-NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

I. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In anticipation of our initial public offering, we disposed of or discontinued substantially all of our
operations that were not related 1o our core business. Accordingly, effective December 31, 2001, we distributed
our wholly owned subsidiaries, MTC Manufacturing, Inc. (a manufacturer of steel and aluminum products with
sales of approximately $4 million in 2001) and Freund Laws, Inc. (a non-operating company whose sole function
was ownership :of a partnership interest in a dormant business), and our majority interest in a real estate
partnership, BC /Golf Limited Partnership, to our then sole stockholder. The distributions of these entities have
been recorded as discontinued operations. The operating results of these entities for the year ended December 31,
2001 were: Revenue of $5,831; Costs and expenses of $6,284; and Net loss of $(453).

In addition, at December 31, 2001, we distributed to our then sole stockholder certain other net assets, which
consisted primarily of advances to affiliates, land and related development costs, and various liabilities. The
carrying value of these distributed net assets at distribution was $10,106. Land and related development costs
were sold during 2001 for $722.

J. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We subcontract to, purchase services from, rent a portion of our facilities, and utilize aircraft from various
entities that are icontrolled by Mr. Rajesh K. Soin, a significant stockholder and Chairman of the Board of
Directors. The following is a summary of transactions with related parties:

Years ended
December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Included in general and administrative expenses:

Shared services paid to related parties (Soin International) .. ................ § — § 584 %2447
Shared services charged torelated parties .............. ... ... ... — 28y  (169)
Aircraft usage charges paid to Soin International ......... .. .............. 61 34 117
Rentpaid toelated parties . . ...... .o 449 473 379
$ 510 $1,063 $2,774
Other rent paid torelated parties .. ...t $ 132 $ 144 § 259
Interest income from related Parties . . . ...t $ — § — § 257
Sub-contracting services paid to related parties:
GTICINGIA . .. oo e e e e e e e $ 492 § 482 § 475
Aerospace Integration Corporation (AIC) .......... ... .. ... .....viii.. $ — $ 146 $ 515
International Consultants, Inc. ACI) .......... ... . $ 24 § — §$ —
Revenues from related parties:
Integrated Information Technology Company (IITC) ...................... $1,463 $1,730 $1,567
LT $ 177 $§ 402 § 457
ALC $ — $ — § 40
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Prior to March 31, 2002, we received administrative services from Soin International, LLC, which is wholly
owned by an entity related to Mr. Soin. The charges for these services generally reflected the marginal cost of the
service provided, plus a pro-rata share of the associated fixed costs. In addition, we lease one facility, and utilize
aircraft owned, or partially owned, by entities related to Mr. Soin.

In 2002 and 2003, we made the following purchases from a related party:

* In June 2002, we purchased, at fair value of approximately $431, a 90% ownership interest in an
airplane owned by Soin Aviation, LLC;

¢ In March 2003, we purchased, at fair value of approximately $42, a 10% ownership interest in an
airplane owned by Soin Aviation, LLC; and

* In December 2003, we made a commitment, at fair value of approximately $135 to purchase a 10%
ownership interest in an airplane owned by Soin Aviation, LLC.

We have also entered into a sharing arrangement with Soin Aviation, LLC under which we are responsible
for a pro-rata share of the fixed and marginal costs associated with aircraft owned by us and Soin Aviation, LLC.

Sub-contracting services paid to International Consultants Inc. (ICI) and revenues from related parties for
ICI were incurred prior to the date that we acquired ICT as discussed below in Note K, “Acquisitions”.

We believe that our subcontracting, lease, and other agreements with each of the related parties identified
above reflect prevailing market conditions at the time they were entered into and contain substantially similar
terms to those that might be negotiated by independent parties on an arm’s-length basis.

At December 31, 2003 and 2002, amounts due from related parties were $259 and $307, respectively. At
December 31, 2003 and 2002, there were amounts payable to related parties of $180 and $41, respectively. The
amount payable to related parties at December 31, 2003 includes our commitment for the 10% ownership interest
of in the airplane owned by us and Soin Aviation noted above.

K. ACQUISITIONS
AMCOMP Corporation

On October 18, 2002, we acquired all of the outstanding stock of AMCOMP Corporation (AMCOMP) from
AMCOMP’s shareholders. AMCOMP is a technology company providing engineering services, primarily in the
area of Space Systems, Global Positioning Systems (GPS) Engineering and Information Technology, to the
Department of Defense, and other government agencies.

We paid $8,570 to purchase 100% of the stock of AMCOMP and pay acquisition and other related costs.
The initial purchase price was $7,343. In April 2003, we paid additional consideration of $1,100 to the former
shareholders of AMCOMP as a result of the achievement of certain performance goals under an earn-out
provision in the stock purchase agreement, and also paid an additional $127 in tax payments. We accrued an
additional $1,100 of consideration in December 2003 for the achievement of certain performance goals under the
2003 earn-out provision in the stock purchase agreement. We have recorded this earn-out payment as an increase
in goodwill and as an amount due under earn-out agreement on our December 31, 2003 balance sheet. We expect
to make this payment in the second quarter of 2004. We could be required to pay the former shareholders of
AMCOMP up to an additional $1,100 in cash if certain other performance goals are achieved.
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The purchase price for the AMCOMP acquisition was allocated as follows:

Accounts receivable and other CUITENt aSSELs . ... ... ..overerierieinenrenn.s. $ 1,094
O her @SS0TS .« . . vttt e e e e e e e e e 14
Intangible assets—Purchase price allocated to contracts and non-compete agreement ... 3,025
Property and equipment . ........ ... .. e 3
GoodWill . ... 6,698
Current Habilities ... .. .o e (2,264)
Net assets acqUITEd .. ..o oottt e $ 8,570

Goodwill recognized under the agreement is deductible for income tax purposes.

The value -of the customer contract and non-compete covenant intangible assets was based on an
independent appraisal. The customer contract intangible asset is being amortized over 6.5 years, the estimated
remaining life of the contracts including renewals, and the non-compete covenant intangible asset is being
amortized over 2 years, the life of the agreement.

The acquisition is consistent with our growth strategies to acquire complementary businesses to reach new
customers and technologies. This acquisition will enable us to expand efforts in U.S. Air Force Space Systems
activities, and provides us access to new markets including GPS test, integration, and engineering as well as
adding the Space and Missile Command as a new customer. AMCOMP has key operating locations in Los
Angeles, California, Alamogordo, New Mexico and Colorado Springs, Colorado.

The revenue of AMCOMP reflected in our 2003 and 2002 consolidated statement of income was $13,770
and $3,212.

Pro Forma Information (unaudited)—Pro forma results of operations, as if the acquisition of AMCOMP
occurred as of January 1, 2001 is presented below. These pro forma results may not be indicative of the actual
results that would have occurred under our ownership and management.

2002 2001
Revenue ... .. . e $128,419 $103,059
NEtINCOME . .ottt e e e $ 8,626 $ 5,690
Earnings per common share:
BaSIC L\ e $ 076 § 058
Diluted . ... .. o $ 075 $ 038

Pro forma adjustments to 2002 and 2001 net income and earnings per common share include:

* Pro forma adjustment to give effect to a full year of amortization of intangibles recorded as a result of
the acquisition, which would have resulted in $356 and $474, respectively, of additional amortization
expense in 2002 and 2001.

*  Pro forma adjustment to reflect income taxes as if both MTCT and AMCOMP had been C corporations
for the periods presented, at an estimated combined effective income tax rate of 40%. The pro forma
income tax expense for 2002 and 2001 was $688 and $3,794, respectively.
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* Pro forma adjustment to reflect the elimination of interest income earned from July 2002 through
September 2002 on the $7,343 of funds from our initial public offering that were used to consummate
the acquisition. The interest rate is estimated at 2% per annum based on the applicable interest rate
being earned on the invested cash as of the date of the acquisition. The pro forma adjustment to 2002
reduced interest income by $37.

International Consultants, Inc.

On October 1, 2003, we signed a stock purchase agreement and acquired International Consultants, Inc.
(ICI) from ICT’s shareholders. Essentially all of ICI's work is in the defense industry where its main focus has
been to support the U.S. Army. ICI specializes in program management, information technology and logistics
services and operations.

The initial purchase price for 100% of the outstanding common stock of ICI was $10,206, which was paid
with $2,400 in MTCT common stock, $7,500 in assumption of ICI debt (of which approximately $3,000 arose in
connection with payments to ICI’s selling shareholders) and $306 for related acquisition costs, which was
immediately paid with cash on hand. In January 2004, we paid additional consideration of $3,541, which
consisted of shares of our common stock with a value of $2,762 and $779 in cash, to the former shareholders of
ICY as a result of the achievement of certain performance goals under an earn-out provision in the stock purchase
agreement. We accrued an additional $1,026 of purchase consideration in December 2003 for the achievement of
certain performance goals under the 2003 earn-out provision in the stock purchase agreement. This payment is
expected to be made in the first quarter of 2004 and the consideration will consist of shares of our common stock
with a value of $800 and $226 in cash. We could be required to pay the former shareholders of ICI up to an
additional $4,533 under such provisions, payable in a combination of our common stock and cash through 2003,
if certain other performance goals are achieved. If all contingent amounts are earned, the total acquisition price
could reach $19,000. Any future payments will also be paid in a combination of MTCT common stock and in
cash. If the maximum purchase price is paid, the total payments will have been made 50% in cash or debt
assumption and 50% in MTCT common stock.

ICT’s selling shareholders are family members of Mr. Rajesh K. Soin, MTCT’s Chairman of the Board and a
significant stockholder. As a result, Mr. Soin was not involved in the negotiation of the acquisition of ICI. The
directors other than Mr. Soin elected a special committee of independent, non-management directors who
evaluated and approved the acquisition of ICI, after engaging separate legal counsel to represent and advise them
and engaging Raymond James & Associates, Inc. as a financial advisor. Raymond James issued its opinion to the
special committee that the price being paid for the ICI shares was fair from a financial point of view to MTCT.

The purchase price for the ICI acquisition was allocated as follows:

Accounts receivable and other current assets . . ... ... ... $ 8,274
T AS5BES . ..ottt e 274
Intangible assets—Purchase price allocatedtocontracts .. .................... 3,500
Property and equipment . ... 143
GoodWill .. e 10,642
Current Habilities . ... .ot (6,644)
Non-current deferred tax liability ... ........ ... o (1,415)
Amounts due under earn-out liabilities ........... .. ... . . i (4,568)
Netassets acquired . .. ... ..ottt e $10,206
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The customer contract intangible asset value of $3,500 was based on an independent appraisal, and will be
amortized over an estimated useful life of 4.75 years.

This acquisition represents a significant step in our on-going strategy to acquire complementary businesses
to reach new customers and increase our technical footprint. This acquisition will enable us to expand our
support to the U.S. Army and provide access to new markets, such as the Army Forces Command (FORSCOM)
and the Tank-Automotive and Armaments Command (TACOM). ICI has key operating locations in Atlanta,
Georgia and Warren, Michigan.

The revenue of ICI reflected in our 2003 consolidated statement of income was $7,652.

Pro Forma Information (unaudited)—Pro forma results of operations, as if the acquisition of ICI occurred
as of January 31, 2002 is presented below. These pro forma results may not be indicative of the actual results that
would have occurred under our ownership and management.

2003 2002
REVENUE . . oo ottt e e e e e e e e $207,096 $137,506
NEtiNCOME . .ottt et e e $ 12266 § 8,181
Earnings per common share:
BaSIC © e e $ 093 $§ 071
Diluted ... $ 093 § 070

Pro forma adjustments to 2003 and 2002 net income and earnings per common share include:

» Pro forma adjustment to give effect to a full year of amortization of intangibles recorded as a result of
the acquisition, which would have resulted in $553 and $737, respectively, of additional amortization
expense in 2003 and 2002.

* Pro forma adjustment to reflect the elimination of interest income earned from July 2002 through
September 2003 on the $7,806 of funds from our initial public offering that were used to consummate
the acquisition. The interest rate is estimated at 1.5% per annum based on the applicable interest rate
being earned on the invested cash as of the date of the acquisition. The pro forma adjustment to 2003
and 2002 reduced interest income by $88 and $56.

¢ Pro forma adjustment to reflect income taxes as if both MTCT and ICI had been C corporations for the
periods presented, at an estimated combined effective income tax rate of approximately 40%. The pro
forma income tax expense for 2003 and 2002 was $8,042 and $1,046, respectively.

Vitronics Inc.

On October 24, 2003, we announced that we signed a stock purchase agreement to acquire Vitronics Inc.
(Vitronics) effective Qctober 24, 2003, from Vitronics’ current shareholders. All of Vitronics’ work is in the
defense industry where its main focus has been to support the U.S. Army. Vitronics specializes in research and
development, systems engineering, information technology, software development, and system integration services.

The initial purchase price for 100% of the common stock of Vitronics and related acquisition costs was
$8,964, which was paid from cash on hand at closing on October 31, 2003. Vitronics® former shareholders may
receive additional cash payments through 2007 if certain operating goals are achieved or contracts are awarded.
Based on our current estimates, we expect the total purchase price will be approximately $9,700.
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The purchase price for the Vitronics Inc. acquisition was allocated as follows:

Accounts receivable and other current assets . ..........o.vi it $ 3,096
10131 o YT O 10
Intangible assets—Purchase price allocated to contracts ...................... 2,500
Property and equipment .. ......... ... 153
GoodWill ... 4919
Current labilitles . ... ..ot e e (1,702)
Long-term Habilities . ... ... .. ..ot e (12)
Net assets acquired .. ... ...ttt $ 8,964

Goodwill recognized under the agreement is deductible for income tax purposes.

The customer contract intangible asset value of $2.5 million was based on an independent appraisal, and
will be amortized over an estimated useful life of 5 years.

The acquisition is another step in our on-going strategy to acquire complimentary businesses to reach new
customers and increase our technical footprint, enabling us to expand our support to the U.S. Army and, in
particular, to the Army’s Communications Electronics Command (CECOM) and the Defense Advanced Research
Projects Agency (DARPA). Vitronics key operating location is in Fort Monmouth, New Jersey.

The revenue of Vitronics included in our 2003 consolidated statement of income is $2,784.

L. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, which eliminated
the amortization of goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives. In the fourth quarter of 2003, we
performed an impairment test of goodwill and determined that no impairment of the recorded goodwill existed.
We based our assessment of possible impairment on the discounted present value of the operating cash flows of
our consolidated reporting unit. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill will be tested for impairment at
least annually and more frequently if an event occurs which indicates the goodwill may be impaired. On an
annual basis, our impairment testing will be performed during the fourth quarter.

The components of other intangibles at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Year Ending
December 31,
2003 2002
Purchase price allocated to customer contracts .. ..................... $9,000 $3,000
Non-compete COVENANts . ...........ciuitniuninetennininennaan.s 25 25
9,025 3,025
Accumulated amortization .. ....... .. ... 861) (119

88164 $2.006

Aggregate amortization expense for intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and
2001 were $742, $119, and $1,086, respectively. Purchased contracts are amortized on a straight-line basis.

69




MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

Estimated annual intangible amortization expense for the next 5 years:

Year Ending

December 31,
200d $1,708
2000 e e e 1,698
20006 . 1,699
200 e e 1,698
2008 e 1,247

$8,050

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Balance as of December 31, 2002 ... ... i e $ 7,029
Additional AMCOMP goodwill from 2003 earn-out and tax payments .......... 1,227
Goodwill arising from the ICI acquisition .......... ... .. . oo .. 10,642
Goodwill arising from the Vitronics acquisition ........ ... ... .. ... ... ..... 4919
Balance as of December 31, 2003 .. ... .. $23,817

The table below shows the effect on net income had SFAS No. 142 been adopted for the year ended
December 31, 2001:

2001
Nt INCOME & . ottt e e e e $7,764
Goodwill amOrtization ... ...ttt e 114
Adjusted NELINCOME .« . . . oottt e e et et e $7,878
Basic and diluted earnings per common share:
NETINCOME . ..ottt ettt e et e e $ 0.79
Goodwill amortization . .......... . it e $ 0.01
Adjusted NEtINCOME . . .. oottt e e 3 0.80

M. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

At December 31, 2001, Mr. Soin, our sole stockholder prior to the initial public offering, agreed to
contribute $2,000 to our wholly-owned subsidiary, Modern Technologies Corp. We recorded the amount due
from stockholder as a reduction in stockholders’ equity with a corresponding increase to additional paid-in
capital. Mr. Soin contributed the $2,000 during the first quarter of 2002. Upon payment we reduced the amount
due from stockholder.

In April, 2002, MTC Technologies, Inc. (MTCT or the Company) was incorporated in Delaware to hold all
of the capital stock of our principal subsidiary, Modern Technologies Corp., which was founded in 1984 (and
whose name was changed in 2003 to MTC Technologies, Inc.). On May 3, 2002, Mr. Soin contributed all of the
issued and outstanding shares of Modern Technologies Corp. to the Company in exchange for 9,887,482 shares
(post stock split as discussed below) of MTC Technologies, Inc., resulting in Mr. Soin owning all of the shares of
the Company. All shares, per share data and other equity amounts in the accompanying financial statements have
been adjusted to give retroactive effect to the transaction.
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On June 11, 2002, our Directors authorized and declared a 2,471.8707-for-1 stock split effected in the form of
a dividend of 2,470.8707 shares of the common stock, par value of $0.001 per share for each one share of common
stock. All shares and per share amounts in these consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect this
stock split. Our directors also increased the number of authorized shares of $0.001 par value common stock to 50
million and authorized 5 million shares of $0.001 par value preferred stock, of which none is outstanding.

On July 3, 2002, we successfully completed our initial public offering of common stock and received net
proceeds of approximately $43,835 from the offering, after deducting our portion of estimated expenses and the
underwriting discount. The proceeds were used to pay off approximately $21,000 of principal and accrued
interest outstanding under our term loan and revolving credit facility, with the balance invested in short-term
investment grade, interest-bearing securities and guaranteed obligations of the United States and its agencies.

In February 2004, we successfully completed a public offering of 2,250,000 shares of our common stock
and received net proceeds of approximately $59,193. See Note Q. Subsequent Events.

N. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

In March 2002, Mr. Soin, our sole stockholder prior to the initial public offering, made a binding
commitment to award $5,215 in stock-based compensation to three key members of our senior management,
Michael Solley, our then-President and Chief Executive Officer, David Gutridge, our then-Chief Financial
Officer, and Benjamin Crane, our then Chief Operating Officer, to reward the executives for their major
contributions to our past profitability, growth and financial strength. The award in March was to be settled either
by delivery to the recipients of a fixed number of fully vested shares or of a number of fully vested options with
an intrinsic value of approximately $5,215 (the difference between the exercise price and the estimated fair value
of the shares of $16.75 per share). We recorded the $5,215 expense associated with this stock compensation
award in March, 2002. The liability recorded in March was classified as a current liability.

In April 2002, to achieve certain tax benefits for the executives, Mr. Soin decided to issue stock options to
satisfy the $5,215 stock compensation award. Stock option agreements to purchase 415,273 shares of our
common stock at $4.19 per share were entered into with the executives. These options were formalized on May
3, 2002, when stock option agreements were signed by the grantees, which established the measurement date.
The options were immediately exercisable after that date. Mr. Solley was awarded an option to purchase up to
346,061 shares. Messrs. Gutridge and Crane each were awarded options to purchase up to 34,606 shares. These
options were to expire ten years from their date of grant. Once the liability for the stock compensation was settled
by the issuance of stock options the $5,215 liability was reclassified to paid-in capital on our balance sheet. As of
December 31, 2003, all 415,273 of these options were exercised.

In May 2002, our board of directors adopted our 2002 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan with the
approval of Mr. Soin. In April 2003, the 2002 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan was approved by our
stockholders at our Annual Meeting. The 2002 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan provides for the grant of
incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options and the grant or sale of restricted shares of common stock
to our directors, key employees and consultants. The board may provide for the payment of dividend equivalents,
on a current or deferred or contingent basis, on the options granted under the plan. The board may also authorize
participants in the plan to defer receipt of their common stock upon exercise of their stock options and may
further provide that such deferred issuances include the payment of dividend equivalents or interest on the
deferred amounts. The board may condition the grant of any award under the plan on a participant’s surrender or
deferral of his or her right to receive a cash bonus or other compensation payable by us. The board can delegate
its authority under the plan to any committee of the board.
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Shares Reserved: Plan Limits. We have reserved a total of 474,599 shares of our common stock for
issuance under the 2002 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan, subject to adjustment in the event of forfeitures,
transfers of common stock to us in payment of the exercise price or withholding amounts or changes in our
capital structure. The number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of incentive stock options will not
exceed 474,599 shares. No participant may be granted options for more than 24,718 shares during any calendar
year, and no non-employee director will be granted awards under the plan for more than 24,718 shares during
any fiscal year. The number of shares issued as restricted shares will not exceed 74,156 common shares. As of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, 165,160 and 74,720 options were awarded under this plan, respectively.

Stock options will be exercisable from time to time prior to the tenth anniversary of the Date of Grant to the
extent of: (i) thirty three and one-third percent (33 ¥3%) of the Optioned Shares on the Date of Grant; and (ii) an
additional thirty three and one-third percent (33Y3%) of the Optioned Shares on the first and second
anniversaries of the Date of Grant.

Prior to 2002, we did not have stock-based compensation plans. The following table summarizes activity in
our stock-based compensation plans for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002:

2003 2002

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of year ............. 344,720 $ 6.96 — $ —
Granted . ......... . ... . . 90,440 20.76 489,993 6.14
Exercised .......... ... .. ... ... .. .. .. .... (275,740) 4.49  (145,273) 4.19
Forfeited .......... .. ... . ... .. ... .. ... (10,500} 17.34 — —
Outstanding atendof year . ................. 148,920 $19.18 344,720 $6.96
Exercisable atendof year .................. 73,507 270,000

The following table summarizes certain information for options currently outstanding and exercisable at
December 31, 2003.

Options outstanding Options exercisable
Average Weighted Weighted
Remaining  Average Average
Contractual  Exercise Number Exercise
Shares Life Price Exercisable Price
$16-181 ....................... 114,753 8.8 years $17.15 62,118 $17.15
$25-27 34,167 9.8 years $26.01 11,389 $26.01
Total ......... ... . .. ... L 148,920 ' 73,507

Pro Forma Disclosures

We apply APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for our stock option plans. Accordingly, no
compensation cost has been recognized for the stock options issued under the 2002 Equity and Performance
Incentive Plan because the options were granted with an exercise price equal to the stock price on the date of
grant. Compensation expense was recognized on the options that were granted in May, 2002, to the extent that
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the estimated fair value of the options exceeded the option price. Had compensation costs been determined based
on the fair value of the options on the grant dates consistent with the methodology prescribed by SFAS No. 123,
our net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below.
Because future stock option awards may be granted and because it is unlikely that actual events will ever exactly
match the assumptions used in making these calculations, the pro forma impacts shown below are not necessarily
indicative of the impact in future years.

Year Ended
December 31,
T2003 2002
NELINCOME . .o oot i, Asreported $12,489 $7,686
Pro forma  $12,083 $7,379
Diluted earnings per common share .. ................. Asrteported § 095 § 0.67

Proforma $ 092 $ 0.64

The fair value of the options granted (which is amortized over the option vesting period in determining the
pro forma impact), is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes multiple option-pricing model with
the following weighted average assumptions:

Year Ended

December 31,
2003 2002
Expected lifeof options .......... ... i 5 years 3 years
Risk-free interestrate .... ...t 35% 4.03%
Expected volatility of stock ........... . .. oo 444% 43.0%
Expected dividend yield .. ...... ... ... 00% 0.0%

The fair value of options outstanding at December 31, 2003 was $1,242. For purposes of determining the
pro forma amounts presented in that section, the weighted-average per-share fair value of stock options granted
during 2003 and 2002 was $9.27, and $12.23, respectively.

0. INCOME TAXES

On June 28, 2002, we changed our S corporation status to C corporation status under Internal Revenue
Service regulations. As a result of this change, we were required under SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income
Taxes, 10 establish deferred tax balances. In June, 2002, we recognized a deferred income tax benefit of $2,644
on our income statement and a current deferred income tax asset of $610, included in prepaid expenses and other
current assets on our balance sheet, and a non-current deferred income tax asset of $2,034, included in other
assets on our balance sheet, primarily for timing differences between book and tax reporting associated with
accrued compensation items. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 and the six months ended
December 31, 2002, we recorded a provision for domestic federal and state income taxes.

Prior to June 28, 2002, under our S corporation election, all items of income and expense were “passed

through” and taxed at the stockholder level. Therefore, we were not required to record a provision for federal and
state income taxes.
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002
Deferred tax assets related to:
Stock option compensation . ........... ... $ — $1,322
Baddebtreserves ...... ... ... ... ... 66 40
[ntangible amortization ............ ... — 26
Otheraccruals ............ 0o i 956 498
Other ... e 109 78
Total deferred tax assets ..............ccvvnivnin.n. 1,131 1,964
Deferred tax liabilities related to:
Depreciation .. .....c.vtine i e $ (327) $(126)
Earnings recognized under percentage of completion ........ (346) (314)
Goodwill . ... . e (288) (7D)
Intangible amortization . ............ ... ... ... .. (1,208) —
Total deferred tax liabilities ........................ (2,169) (511)
Total net deferred tax asset . .......... ..., (1,038) 1,453
Current portion included in prepaid expenses and other .. ......... 785 301
Long-term portion included in other assets/(deferred income tax
Habilities) . ... o $(1,823) $1,152
Income tax expense included in the income statement is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002
Current income tax expense:
U.S.Federal ........... .. . i, $5,453 $ 1,708
Stateandlocal ...... ... 1,384 402
Total current income tax €Xpense .................... 6,837 2,110
Deferred income tax expense:
U S . Federal .......... ... . 1,154 911
Stateandlocal ........ ... . 190 279
Conversion from S to C corporation . ..................... —_ (2,644)
Total deferred income tax expense ................... 1,344 (1,454)
Total inCome taX eXPense .. ........cuiiineeeiinnennneennn.. $8,181 $ 656

The effective tax rates differ from the U.S. Federal income tax rate for the following reasons:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002
Income tax expense at the U.S. statutoryrate . .................. $7,024 $ 2,836
Conversion from S to C corporation . ...............couuenar.. — (2,644)
State and local taxes ............... il 1,039 405
Other .o e e 118 59
Income tax @XPeNsSe . . ...ttt $8,181 $ 656




MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Concluded)
(dollar amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

P. CONTINGENCIES

We are a defendant in a lawsuit filed by Bear Stearns Merchant Fund Corp. for breach of contract and other
matters in connection with their 2002 proposal to purchase Modern Technologies Corp. The suit asks for
damages in an amount of at least $2,000. Our outside counsel has advised us that at this stage in the proceedings
he cannot offer an opinion as to the probable outcome. We believe that the suit is completely without merit and
intend to vigorously defend our position.

Q. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In February 2004, we completed a public offering of 2,250,000 shares of common stock. The Company’s
net proceeds from the sale of the shares, after the underwriting discount and other expenses, were approximately
$59,200. We intend to use the net proceeds from the offering (together with cash on hand and additional
borrowings) for working capital and general corporate purposes, including all or a portion of the costs of any
complementary businesses we selectively decide to acquire in the future.

R. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Unaudited quarterly financial data for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Mar. 31, June30, Sept.30, Dec.31, Mar.31, June30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,

For the quarter ended 2002 2002 2002 2002 2003 2003 2003 2003
Income statement data: .........
Revenue ..................... $23,857 $27,134 330,939 $36,610 $36,109 $42,565 $50,422  $59,611
Grossprofit .................. 4,075 5,365 5,857 6,887 6,343 7,184 7,847 9,275
Operating income (loss) ........ (3,236) 3,536 3,834 4,425 3,820 4,613 5,468 6,481

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income

BAXES . v (3,404) 3,287 3,942 4,517 3,895 4,689 5,542 6,544
Income tax expense (benefit) . ... — (2,644) 1,577 1,723 1,540 1,850 2,218 2,573
Netincome (loss) . ............. $(3,404) $ 5931 $ 2365 $2,794 32355 $ 2,839 $ 3,324 $ 3,971
Basic earnings (loss) pershare ... $ (034) $§ 059 $ 018 $ 022 $ 0.18 $ 022 $ 025 $ 030
Diluted earnings (loss) per

share ...................... $ (034) %3 058 $ 018 § 021 $ 018 $ 022 $ 025 $ 030

The principal unusual items which affected the quarterly results for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002 include the following pre-tax items:

*  Quarter ended March 31, 2002
Operating loss includes $5,215 of non-cash stock compensation expense. Additionally, the Company was not
required to pay federal or most state income taxes, by virtue of its S corporation status.

*  Quarter ended June 30, 2002
Income tax benefit of $2,644 was recognized upon conversion from an S corporation to a C corporation
under Internal Revenue Service regulations; however, no other federal and minimal state income tax
expenses were recognized by the Company due to the Company’s status as an S corporation prior to June 28,
2002.

Sokok ok Kk
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

This information was previously reported on a Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 24, 2003 and
there has been no change in the included information.

Item 9A. Controls And Procedures

We maintain a set of disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange
Commission rules and forms. Our management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
(“CEQ”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFQO”), has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures and any change in our internal control over financial reporting that has materially affected or is
reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting. Based on that evaluation, the
CEO and CFO have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of the end
of the period covered by this report.

In connection with management’s evaluation, no changes during the quarter ended December 31, 2003 were
identified that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting,

PART IIL
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Information regarding Directors of the Company, as required by Part III, Item 10, is incorporated herein by
reference to information that will be contained in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for its 2004 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders under the headings “Election of Directors (Proposal No. 1)” and “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” Information regarding the executive officers of the Company is
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K in Part I, Item 1, under the heading “Executive Officers of the
Registrant.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information regarding Executive Compensation, as required by Part III, Item 11, is incorporated herein by
reference to informhation that will be contained in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for its 2004 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders under the headings “Director Compensation,” “Compensation of Executive Officers”
and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

Information regarding Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters, as required by Part III, Item 12, is incorporated herein by reference to information that will
be contained in the Company’s definitive proxy statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the
headings “Security, Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners” and “Compensation of Executive
Officers—Equity Compensation Plan Information Table.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information regarding Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, as required by Part III, Item 13, is
incorporated herein by reference to information that will be contained in the Company’s definitive proxy
statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related
Party Transactions.”
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MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information regarding Principal Accountant Fees and Services, as required by Part III, Item 14, is
incorporated herein by reference to information that will be contained in the Company’s definitive proxy
statement for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders under the heading “Ratify Selection of Independent
Accountants (Proposal No. 2)”.

PARTIV.
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K

1. Financial Statements:

Page
Reports of Independent Auditors .. ... .t e 51
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2003 and 2002 .. ... ... ... . i, 53
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 ............ 54
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002
and 2000 ... 55
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 .. ....... 56
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements . ...........c..ouiiiiiiiiin i, 57

2. Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the
financial statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed as part of this Report.

4. Reports on Form 8-K

On October 1, 2003, a Current Report on Form 8-K was filed under Items 2 and 7 to announce that the
Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Modern Technologies Corp., had signed a stock purchase agreement
to acquire International Consultants, Inc. (ICI) from ICI’s current shareholders, effective October 1, 2003,

On October 29, 2003, a Current Report on Form 8-K was filed under Items 2 and 7 to announce that the
Company had signed a stock purchase agreement to acquire Vitronics Inc. (Vitronics) from Vitronics® current
shareholders, effective October 24, 2003.

On November 4, 2003, a Current Report on Form 8-K was furnished under Items 7 and 12 to announce the
Company’s financial results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2003.

On December 15, 2003, a Current Report on Form 8-K/A was filed under {tem 7. This Form §-K/A amends
and restates Item 7, Financial Statements, Pro Forma Financial Information and Exhibits, of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on October 1, 2003 to include
the historical financial statements of ICI and the pro forma financial information required by Item 7 of Form §8-K
with respect to MTCT’s acquisition of ICL
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused!this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: March 2,.2004

MTC TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By: s/ MiCHAEL I. GEARHARDT

Michael I. Gearhardt
Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by

the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signatures

*

Rajesh K. Soin

/s/ DaviD S. GUTRIDGE

‘David S. Gutridge

/s/  MiICHAEL I. GEARHARDT

Michael 1. Gearhardt

/s/ ROBERT S. ZANGRI

'Robert S. Zangri

*

Don R. Graber

*

William E. MacDonald, 111

#

Lawrence A. Skantze

*

Kgnneth A. Minihan

%k

Lester L. Lyles

Title

Chairman of the Board

Chief Executive Officer, Secretary
and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer, Senior Vice
President and Treasurer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

March 2, 2004

* The undersigned, by signing his name hereto, does sign and execute this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
above-named directors of the registrant as indicated pursuant to the powers of attorney executed by such
directors that are filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on behalf of such directors as Exhibit

24.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

By: /s/ MIiCHAEL . GEARHARDT

Michael §. Gearhardt
Attorney-in-Fact

March 2, 2004
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Exhibit
No.

2.1

22

2.3

3.1

3.2

4.1

4.2%

4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3*

EXHIBIT INDEX
Description

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 17, 2002, by and among Modern Technologies Corp.,
MTC Technologies, Inc. and the Shareholders of AMCOMP Corporation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission
No. 000-49890), filed on October 18, 2002).

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2003, by and among MTC Technologies, Inc.,
Modern Technologies Corp., Vishal Soin, Amol Soin and Indu Soin (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-
49890), filed on October 1, 2003).

Stock Purchase Agreement dated as of October 24, 2003, by and among MTC Technologies, Inc.,
William B. Farmer, Michael A. Cinque and Frank C. Muzzi (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission
No. 000-49890), filed on October 29, 2003).

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Amendment No. 1 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission
No. 333-87590), filed on June 12, 2002).

Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Amendment No. 1 to
MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission No. 333-87590), filed
on June 12, 2002).

Specimen certificate for shares of common stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to
Amendment No. 2 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission
No. 333-87590), filed on June 24, 2002).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2002, by and between MTC Technologies, Inc.
and Rajesh K. Soin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Amendment No. 1 to MTC
Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission No. 333-87590), filed on
June 12, 2002).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2003, by and among MTC Technologies, Inc.,
Vishal Soin, Amol Soin and Indu Soin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to MTC
Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Commission No. 333-112056), filed on
January 21, 2004).

Credit and Security Agreement, dated January 31, 2003, by and among MTC Technologies, Inc.,
Modern Technologies Corp., National City Bank, for itself and as Agent, Keybank National
Association, Fifth Third Bank, and Branch Banking and Trust Company (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission
No. 000-49890), filed on March 20, 2003).

First Amendment to Credit Agreement and Revolving Credit Notes, dated as of December 31, 2003,
by and among MTC Technologies. Inc., a Delaware corporation, MTC Technologies, Inc.
(formerly known as Modern Technologies Corp.), an Ohio corporation, National City Bank, for
itself and as lead arranger and administrative agent, KeyBank National Association, Fifth Third
Bank, and Branch Banking and Trust Company.

MTC Technologies, Inc. 2002 Equity and Performance Incentive Plan (amended and restated as of
February 25, 2004).
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Exhibit
No.

10.4%*

10.5%

10.6*

10.7*

16.1

21.1
231
232
24.1
311

31.2

321

* Indicates management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.

Description

Modern Technologies Corporation Master Savings Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to
MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Commission No. 333-111537)
filed on December 24, 2003).

Form of Directors and Officers Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4

to Amendment No. 1 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Commission No. 333-87590), filed on June 12, 2002).

Tax Indemnification Agreement, dated as of June 10, 2002, by and between MTC Technologies, Inc.
and Rajesh K. Soin (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Amendment No. 1 to MTC
Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission No. 333-87590), filed on
June 12, 2002).

Retention Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2002, by and among Modern Technologies Corp., MTC
Technologies, Inc. and Michael W. Solley (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to
Amendment No. 1 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Commission
No. 333-87590), filed on June 12, 2002).

Letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP regarding change in certifying accountant, dated January 24,
2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16 to MTC Technologies, Inc.’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (Commission No. 000-49890) filed on January 24, 2003).

Subsidiaries of MTC Technologies, Inc.
Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Powers of Attorney.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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